
AGENDA

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING
Date: Thursday, 10 March 2016
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Bobbin, Andy Booth, Roger Clark, 
Richard Darby, Mike Dendor, Mark Ellen, Sue Gent, James Hall, Mike Henderson, 
James Hunt, Lesley Ingham, Peter Marchington, Bryan Mulhern (Chairman), Prescott (Vice-
Chairman) and Ben Stokes.

Quorum = 6 

Pages
1. Fire Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting that: 

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park; and 

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation. 

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation. 

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 

2. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 11 February 2016 (Minute 
Nos. 492 - 498) as a correct record.

4. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of 
Corporate Services as Monitoring Officer, the Head of Legal or from other 
Solicitors in Legal Services as early as possible, and in advance of the 
Meeting.

Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide

5. Planning Working Group

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 29 February 2016 (Minute 
Nos. 536 - 537).

15/503342/FULL – 16 Stiles Close, Minster-on-Sea, Kent, ME12 2TQ

6. Deferred Items

To consider the following applications:

15/503580/FULL – Land North of Homestall Road, Doddington, Kent, 
ME9 0LB
15/508025/REM – Former HBC Engineering Site Power Station Road, 
Minster-on-Sea, Kent, ME12 3AB

Members of the public are advised to confirm with Planning Services prior 
to the meeting that the applications will be considered at this meeting.

1 - 63



Requests to speak on these items must be registered with Democratic 
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328) 
by noon on Wednesday 9 March 2016.

7. Report of the Head of Planning

To consider the attached report (Parts 1, 2, 3 and 5).

The Council operates a scheme of public speaking at meetings of the 
Planning Committee.  All applications on which the public has registered 
to speak will be taken first.  Requests to speak at the meeting must be 
registered with Democratic Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk 
or call 01795 417328) by noon on Wednesday 9 March 2016.

64 - 275

8. Exclusion of Press and Public

To decide whether to pass the resolution set out below in respect of the 
following items:

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.

1. Information relating to any individual.
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
See note below.

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of 
the Crown and any employees of, or office holders under, the 
authority.

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings.

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes
(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment.

7. Information relation to any action in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime.

9. Report of the Head of Planning

To consider the attached report (Part 6).

276 - 
278

Issued on Wednesday, 2 March 2016

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in alternative formats. 
For further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Corporate Services Director, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

PLANNING SERVICES 

 
 
 

Planning Items to be submitted to the Planning Committee 
 

10 March 2016 
 
 
Standard Index to Contents 
 
DEFERRED ITEMS Items shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that 

meeting may be considered at this meeting 
 
PART 1  Reports to be considered in public session not included 

elsewhere on this Agenda 
 
PART 2  Applications for which permission is recommended 
 
PART 3  Applications for which refusal is recommended 
 
PART 4 Swale Borough Council’s own development; observation on 

County Council’s development; observations on development in 
other districts or by Statutory Undertakers and by Government 
Departments; and recommendations to the County Council on 
‘County Matter’ applications. 

 
PART 5  Decisions by County Council and the Secretary of State on 

appeal, reported for information 
 
PART 6  Reports containing “Exempt Information” during the consideration 

of which it is anticipated that the press and public will be 
excluded 

      
 

 
ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda 
 
CDA  Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 
GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 

1995 
 
HRA Human Rights Act 1998 
 
K&MSP Kent and Medway Structure Plan 2006 
 
SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 
 
 Page 1

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 INDEX OF ITEMS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE – 11 MARCH 2016 
 

 Minutes of last Planning Committee Meeting 

 Deferred Items 

 Minutes of any Working Party Meetings 
 
Deferred Items 
 
Def Item 1 15/503580/FULL  DODDINGTON  Land north of Homestall Road 
Pg 1 – 29  
 
Def Item 2 15/508025/REM MINSTER  Former HBC Engineering Site, Power  
Pg 30 – 63     Station Road 
 
Part 1 
 
1.1 14/505440/FULL SITTINGBOURNE Spirit of Sittingbourne Regeneration  
Pg 64 – 147    Site 
 
Part 2 
 
2.1 15/507023/FULL BREDGAR Dukes Shaw, Bexon Lane 
Pg 148 – 153     
 
2.2 15/510505/FULL SITTINGBOURNE Land north east of Barley House,  
Pg 154 – 162    Great Easthall Way 
 
2.3 16/501079/FULL FAVERSHAM 17 Orchard Place 
Pg 163 – 168  
 
2.4 16/500288/FULL DUNKIRK Aylesbury Cottage, 41A Horselees Rd 
Pg 169 – 172  
 
2.5 15/506115/FULL WARDEN The Chimes, Beach Approach  
Pg 173 – 182  
 
2.6 15/503652/FULL FAVERSHAM 5 Market Street  
Pg 183 – 194  15/503656/LBC and 15/503659/ADV 
 
2.7 15/510564/FULL IWADE 6 Meadow Rise  
Pg 195 – 198  
 
2.8 SW/14/0530 Minster The Barn Yard, land adj Blackthorne 
Pg 199 - 217    Lodge, Greyhound Road 
  
Part 3 
 
3.1  15/509814/FULL FAVERSHAM 19 South Road 
Pg 218 – 227  
 
Part 5 - Index 
Pg 228 – 230  
 
5.1  MINSTER   24 Admirals Walk  
Pg 231 – 232  
 
5.2  EASTCHURCH  11 Range Road 
Pg 233 – 236  
 
5.3  BOBBING   Howt Green Farm, Sheppey Way   
Pg 237 – 243  Page 3



 
5.4  DUNKIRK Moth’s Field, Denstroude Lane   
Pg 244 – 246  
 
5.5  BOBBING The Ponderosa, 48 Keycol Lane 
Pg 247 – 249  
 
5.6  MINSTER Land at Cedar Lodge, Whybornes Chase 
Pg 250 – 253  
 
5.7  THROWLEY The Old Bindery, Butchers Field 
Pg 254 – 265  
 
5.8  UPCHURCH Greenacres, Holywell Lane 
Pg 266 – 267  
 
5.9  OSPRINGE Land at Vicarage Lane 
Pg 268 – 275  
 

Page 4



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

1

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 MARCH 2016 DEFERRED ITEM

Report of the Head of Planning

DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

DEF ITEM I REFERENCE NO - 15/503580/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Stationing of one residential caravan, as amended by revised site location plan received 11 June 
2015, and by details contained in revised Noise Impact Assessment by Acoustics Plus ref: 
103005.ad.Issue 2 dated 18 November 2015 including revised site layout drawing PBA2 
REV.A).

ADDRESS Land North Of Homestall Road Doddington Kent ME9 0LB  

RECOMMENDATION – Refusal - SUBJECT TO: Expiry of public consultation period 
(closing date 15 March 2016) 
WARD 
Teynham & Lynsted

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Norton And Buckland

APPLICANT Mr Patrick Nolan
AGENT Philip Brown 
Associates

DECISION DUE DATE
18/12/15

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
15/03/15

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
NK/9/69/99/9795 Stationing of caravan Approved by KCC on a personal 

basis until 31/8/1969
29/9/1968

NK/9/68/99A/9795 Renewal of temporary 
permission for one 
further year

Refused on rural policy grounds 28/1/1970

Enforcement 
Notice served 
3/4/1970

Stationing of residential 
caravan

Appeal allowed on technical 
grounds

10/11/1970

NK/9/69/99B/9795 Renewal of permission Granted for three years 8/5/1972

SW/75/388 Renewal of permission Granted on personal basis for 
three years

20/6/1975

SW/78/415 Renewal of permission Granted on personal basis for 
three years

31/5/1978

SW/81/623 Renewal of permission Granted on personal basis for 
three years

11/6/1981

SW/84/605 Renewal of permission Granted on personal basis for 
three years

30/8/1984

Page 5



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

2

SW/87/1677 Renewal of permission Granted on lifetime personal 
basis

10/2/1988

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 This application relates to a small triangular site measuring 0.15ha alongside the 
southern boundary of the M2 motorway between Sittingbourne and Faversham. The 
site thus lies just within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty but well 
away from any local services or amenities.

1.02 The longest, northern, boundary of the site is with the M2 (approximately 100m) with 
other boundaries to deciduous woodland, one area of which includes a large highway 
drainage pond. Access to the site is via a narrow but well constructed short spur road 
off Homestall Road, at the point where the road itself has been re-built to pass under 
the motorway, and where it is unusually wide.

1.03 The site was comprehensively cleared of all above ground structures, vegetation or 
signs of previous occupation by the current applicant in late 2014, and some hardcore 
was laid over part of the site. This laying of hardcore triggered the service of a 
Temporary Stop Notice in October 2014 since when no further work has taken place. 
The site now appears as a largely flat, barren, empty piece of land with only a variety 
of drain covers, cesspit holes and a water tap visible. The site is thus unoccupied and 
the application is not retrospective.

1.04 The site lies at a level below that of the motorway at a point where the motorway is 
climbing steeply westwards out of the Newnham Valley. However, the site is not 
prominent from the motorway and can only be seen when travelling westwards as a 
fleeting glance due to intervening vegetation. Due to the woodland on other sides, the 
site is not prominent from Homestall Road either, although the spur road provides a 
clue to the fact that access is provided to some unseen premises. 

1.05 The remnants of occupation still visible on site stem from its peculiar planning history 
which is itemised above. Essentially this relates to occupation of the site by a man 
who appears to have lived generally in caravans, was described in 1970 as somewhat 
nomadic, and who had been employed by the Forestry Commission, then by the 
District Council as a refuse collector until 1967, and then by the County Council in a 
highway related capacity. He also dealt in scrap metal in a small way. It also appears 
that the man had previously been involved in the construction of the motorway and, in 
or around 1962, he stationed a caravan on this left over patch of land during 
motorway construction. He managed to acquire the land from the Ministry of 
Transport in 1969. 

1.06 When occupation of the site came to light, the County Council granted temporary 
personal planning permission in 1968 for stationing of a caravan on the site to allow 
time for the occupant to find another site. This permission included a planning 
condition specifically requiring the use to cease and the site to be cleared by 31 
August 1969. When the site was not cleared, the County Council took enforcement 
action in 1970. An appeal was lodged and the Inspector recommended that, however 
well screened the site was “the stationing of a residential caravan on the appeal site 
comparatively isolated from existing development and from health and other 
necessary services is undesirable”. The Minister of Housing and Local Government 
determining the appeal considered evidence on how long the caravan had been 
stationed there and concluded that, having stationing the caravan on the site in 1962 
the site has already acquired existing use rights, and that planning permission was 

Page 6



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

3

not in fact required by virtue of immunity from enforcement action. However, because 
at that time a site licence required a grant of planning permission, the 1968 planning 
application had been necessary. He ruled that although KCC had been entitled to 
impose planning conditions, it had been wrong for KCC to impose a condition 
requiring the existing immune use to cease in 1969, as that took away existing use 
rights; and that that planning permission had been invalid. 

1.07 Notwithstanding acceptance of the Inspector’s conclusions on planning merits, a new 
temporary planning permission was granted by the Minister in 1970, running until 30 
April 1971. According to the above arguments, the temporary permission did not then 
require cessation of the use, it merely authorised it for a temporary period sufficient to 
allow a site licence to be granted

1.08 Following this decision, and in explicit recognition of the existing use rights of the land 
and of the occupant’s personal circumstances, a series of subsequent decisions by 
the former District Council, and then by this Council, allowed that individual to 
continue to stay on the site in recognition of his personal circumstances. Importantly, 
these permissions did not require cessation of the use at the end of the periods 
involved. By 1988, the site had become known locally as the site where the hermit 
lived, as the occupant was very quiet and solitary after the death of his wife, and few 
knew that the site was occupied. In 1988 the Council finally granted a lifetime 
personal permission on compassionate grounds, but with a condition requiring the site 
to be cleared and the use to cease when the original occupant no longer lived there. A 
full review of the site history for this application now suggests that this restriction 
appears to have been an error, but one that has never so far been challenged.

1.09 The site was at that time partly wooded and occupied by the occupant’s caravan and 
a series of small shed type buildings that he had erected over time. The individual 
concerned eventually left the site, I understand initially to be cared for in a nursing 
home, before dying a few years ago. The current site owners and applicant are not 
related to the original occupant but the site is now owned by the applicant’s 
grandmother, and after a false start the correct application papers have now been 
served on her by the applicant.

1.11 Members will recall that this application was extensively debated at the meetings on 5 
November 2015 and 14 January 2016. After a long debate at the 5 November meeting 
involving votes both to approve and to refuse the application, both of which were lost, 
the Committee resolved: 

“That application 15/503580/FULL be deferred to allow officers to liaise with the 
applicants about the suitability of the proposed bunding and acoustic fencing and on 
whether the number of caravans proposed could be lowered. “

1.12 After that meeting, I discussed Members’ concerns with the applicant and sought 
further information regarding the proposal. The application was formally amended to 
just one caravan, and more details of the specification for acoustic fencing to address 
noise from the M2 motorway were submitted. Local Parish Councils and residents 
were notified of the changes to the application. It was on this amended basis that the 
application was re-presented for Members’ consideration in January this year.

1.13 By the January meeting the application description read as;

“Stationing of one residential caravan, as amended by revised site location plan 
received 11 June 2015, and by details contained in revised Noise Impact Assessment 

Page 7



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

4

by Acoustics Plus ref: 103005.ad.Issue 2 dated 18 November 2015 including revised 
site layout drawing PBA2 REV.A).” 

1.14 At that January meeting my recommendation was informed by further information 
about the history of the site, including that from the previous owner, and from Council 
Tax and aerial photograph records. My recommendation was that planning permission 
should be granted based on my view that the established use of the site had not been 
abandoned. I recommended that Members noted that this recommendation was 
based on the continuation of the established use of the site, without reference to 
supporting evidence of the applicant’s personal circumstances or gypsy status. 
However, I made it clear that these factors could still be important in the situation 
where a refusal of planning permission was being contemplated. Accordingly, whilst I 
saw no need to dwell on those matters in recommending approval of the application 
for reasons relating to the established use of the site. I said that if Members were of a 
mind to refuse planning permission based on those factors it will still be necessary to 
consider whether the applicant has gypsy status or other personal circumstances, and 
to what degree these might override other material considerations sufficient to 
indicate that a permanent or temporary planning permission should be granted. I said 
that it would also be necessary to consider whether the grant planning permission 
without the proposed acoustic fence.

1.15 Accordingly, in the event that Members did not accept my then recommendation, I 
recommended that the application be deferred to enable me to report the application 
back to Members for a decision to be made in the light of these other issues. Members 
voted not to accept the recommendation to approve the application, and consideration 
of the application was deferred so that gypsy status and personal considerations 
could be considered. I then sought further information for the agent so that the Council 
had a full picture of the issues involved when determining the application. This 
information is reported below.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 This application has been amended or added to since its submission as follows.
 

 Firstly, the correct ownership certificate has been served on the applicant‘s 
grandmother

 Secondly, it has been confirmed that neither the applicant nor his grandmother 
own the small piece of woodland adjacent to the site, as originally shown 
edged blue on the site location plan. A new site location plan has been 
submitted

 Thirdly, the proposal to erect a permanent amenity building measuring 7m x 
5m built of brick, tile and uPVC windows has been deleted from the application

 Fourthly, a Noise Impact Assessment report has been submitted (and 
amended)

 Fifthly, a quotation for noise reduction fencing has been submitted
 Sixthly, details of the applicant’s and his grandmother’s personal and health 

circumstances have been submitted. 
 The application has been amended to propose just one caravan, and the 

erection of a 4m high acoustic fence alongside the motorway.
 Further details of the applicant’s gypsy status and personal circumstances 

have also since been received

2.02 The application as initially submitted is supported by a number of documents from 
which I draw the following information;

Page 8



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

5

 No alteration to access are proposed
 Drainage will be provided by an on-site treatment plant
 Parking for 2 cars and one light goods vehicle will be provided
 New planting is envisaged
 There remains a need for 35 gypsy or traveller pitches in Swale
 The site would not individually or cumulatively be of a scale out of keeping with 

Painters Forstal
 No business use is proposed
 The site is not at risk from flooding
 Whilst the site is within the AONB it is of a small scale and set against the 

motorway which itself is not sympathetic to the AONB
 The site has been used as a caravan site for many years, and occupied until at 

least 2007
 The site would be occupied by the applicant, his wife and infant son, and by his 

grandmother
 The proposed site occupants currently have no lawful site to stay on, but have 

received numerous notices requiring them to move on. Two example notices 
have been provided to me

 The applicant works by building, landscaping and by distributing leaflets door 
to door and moves from one place to another.

 The applicant and his wife have never had a settled base. They now have a 
one year old child who has missed some inoculations due to moving around, 
and is unable to register with a GP

 The applicant’s grandmother has significant health issues and was recently in 
hospital. She depends on the applicant and is in need of a settled base where 
she can have access to appropriate healthcare and facilities for bathing and 
washing clothes. Living on the roadside is compounding her health problems

2.03 New material in support of this application was contained in an updated Noise Impact 
Assessment report which includes the revised site layout drawing. From this report I 
draw the following key points;

 Only one caravan (mobile home) is now proposed, rather than three caravans 
as previously proposed

 The site will be levelled to approximately 2.5m below the level of the motorway 
and a 4m high acoustic fence installed

 It is NOT now proposed that the site will be lowered and the fence erected 
upon an earth bund

 The acoustic fencing will only be on the motorway side of the site and will 
return into the site at either end to form noise “wings” to prevent a line of sight 
to traffic on the motorway

 Planting will be carried out around the site boundaries and beyond the fence’s 
“wings” 

 The fabric of the caravan to be installed should be capable of noise reduction 
of 35dB (according to the relevant British Standard for Park Homes) but 
suitably insulated glazing/ventilators will also be required to ensure that this 
level of noise reduction is achieved

 The caravan likely to meet these noise reduction levels will be an attractive 
mobile home style caravan with a pitched roof, a high standard of appearance 
and sufficient insulation to be suitable for all year round occupation. 

Page 9



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

6

 Such caravans are commonly known as chalets or park homes but they are 
caravans (or mobile homes) in planning law terms i.e. they are transported in 
not more than two halves and meet the dimensions of the caravan regulations

2.04 In its current form the application proposes the stationing of one caravan on this 
remote rural site beside the M2. This caravan would be specified as insulated against 
external noise. The application also proposes hardsurfacing of the site, the erection of 
a 4m high acoustic fence, and landscape planting around the site boundaries.

2.05 The latest information about the gypsy status and personal circumstances of the 
applicant and his family is;

 The applicant’s grandmother is dependent upon him and his wife for help and 
support

 The applicant and his wife have a son who is 18 months old
 The appellant’s grandmother is over 70 years of age and has numerous 

medical issues dating back to 2002, is not able to eat properly, and was 
recently in hospital

 The applicant and his wife, and his grandmother, are Irish Travellers by 
descent

 They have travelled all their lives and do not intend to give up their travelling 
lifestyle. However, they wish to have as settled base to return to with adequate 
facilities and access to health care

 The applicant makes his living from gardening work and has to move from 
area to area to find work, normally in Kent, around Faversham, Canterbury and 
Maidstone

 The applicant and his dependants currently live in two caravans stationed in a 
lay-by near to Faversham but they move every few days, from one roadside 
location to another; Previously they lived in Tesco’s car park and on an 
industrial estate

 They cannot register with a GP without a settled site
 They survive by having a generator for electricity and by collecting water from 

the nearest garage

2.06 The public consultation on the latest gypsy status information extends until 15 March 
and any decision on the application should await the expiry of this period.

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty KENT DOWNS

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Maidstone AONB directive

MOD Thurnham MOD Safeguarding Directive  Thurnham

MOD Thurnham MOD Safeguarding Directive  Thurnham

Thurnham Exclusion Zone Thurnham, Kent

Thurnham Exclusion Zone Thurnham, Kent

Thurnham Wind Station Thurnham WIND SAFEGUARDING

Page 10



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

7

4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites (PPTS) (Re-issued)

4.01 The national policy position comprises the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS). Both documents were 
released in 2012 but the PPTS was re-issued in August 2015 with amendments. 
Together they provide national guidance for Local Planning Authorities on plan 
making and determining planning applications for Gypsy and Traveller sites.  A 
presumption in favour of sustainable development runs throughout both documents 
and this presumption is an important part of both the plan-making process and in 
determining planning applications. In addition there is a requirement in both 
documents that makes clear that Councils should set pitch targets which address the 
likely need for pitches over the plan period and maintain a rolling five year supply of 
sites which are in suitable locations and available immediately.

4.02 Whilst regard has been paid to all of the guidance as set out within the NPPF, 
consider that the following extracts from paragraph 7 are particularly pertinent:

“There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental. These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to 
perform a number of roles:

● an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure;
● a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and
● an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to 
climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.” 

4.03 In relation to rural housing the NPPF (at paragraph 55) states;

 To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. For example, 
where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may 
support services in a village nearby. Local planning authorities should avoid new 
isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as:

- the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their 
place of work in the countryside; or

- where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a 
heritage asset or would be appropriate enabling development to secure 
the future of heritage assets; or

- where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and 
lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting; or

- the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling. 
Such a design should:

Page 11



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

8

- be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of 
design more generally in rural areas;

- reflect the highest standards in architecture;
- significantly enhance its immediate setting; and
- be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area. 

4.04 In relation to conserving and enhancing the natural environment the NPPF, at 
paragraph 109, states;

The planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by:

- protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation 
interests and soils;

- recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services;
- minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity 

where possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the 
overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures;

- preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being 
put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable 
levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability; and

- remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate. 

4.05 The NPPF prioritises the safeguarding of AONBs at paragraph 115.

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS)

4.06 The PPTS was originally published in March 2012 but it was re-issued in August 2015 
with minor changes. Whilst regard has been paid to all of the guidance as set out 
within the PPTS, its main aims now are:

“The Government’s overarching aim is to ensure fair and equal treatment for 
travellers, in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers 
while respecting the interests of the settled community.” (para 3 PPTS)

To help achieve this, Government’s aims in respect of traveller sites are: 

a. that local planning authorities should make their own assessment of need for the 
purposes of planning 

b. to ensure that local planning authorities, working collaboratively, develop fair and 
effective strategies to meet need through the identification of land for sites 

c. to encourage local planning authorities to plan for sites over a reasonable 
timescale 

d. that plan-making and decision-taking should protect Green Belt from inappropriate 
development 

e. to promote more private traveller site provision while recognising that there will 
always be those travellers who cannot provide their own sites 

f. that plan-making and decision-taking should aim to reduce the number of 
unauthorised developments and encampments and make enforcement more 
effective 

g. for local planning authorities to ensure that their Local Plan includes fair, realistic 
and inclusive policies 

Page 12



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

9

h. to increase the number of traveller sites in appropriate locations with planning 
permission, to address under provision and maintain an appropriate level of 
supply 

i. to reduce tensions between settled and traveller communities in plan-making and 
planning decisions 

j. to enable provision of suitable accommodation from which travellers can access 
education, health, welfare and employment infrastructure 

k. for local planning authorities to have due regard to the protection of local amenity 
and local environment.” (para 4 PPTS)

4.07 In terms of plan making the PPTS advice is that;

“Local planning authorities should ensure that traveller sites are sustainable 
economically, socially and environmentally. Local planning authorities should, 
therefore, ensure that their policies: 

a) promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the local 
community 

b) promote, in collaboration with commissioners of health services, access to 
appropriate health services 

c) ensure that children can attend school on a regular basis 
d) provide a settled base that reduces the need for long-distance travelling and 

possible environmental damage caused by unauthorised encampment 
e) provide for proper consideration of the effect of local environmental quality (such 

as noise and air quality) on the health and well-being of any travellers that may 
locate there or on others as a result of new development 

f) avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services 
g) do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional floodplains, 

given the particular vulnerability of caravans 
h) reflect the extent to which traditional lifestyles (whereby some travellers live and 

work from the same location thereby omitting many travel to work journeys) can 
contribute to sustainability.” (para 13 PPTS)

4.08 For sites in rural areas and the countryside the PPTS advice is that;

 “When assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-rural settings, local planning 
authorities should ensure that the scale of such sites does not dominate the nearest 
settled community.” (para 14 PPTS)

4.09 In relation to the determination of planning applications the PPTS says that; 

“Applications should be assessed and determined in accordance with the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development and the application of specific policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and this planning policy for traveller sites.” (para 
23 PPTS)

“Local planning authorities should consider the following issues amongst other 
relevant matters when considering planning applications for traveller sites: 

a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites 
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants 
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant 
d) hat the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or 

which form the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be 
used to assess applications that may come forward on unallocated sites 

Page 13



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

10

e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just 
those with local connections”  

“However, as paragraph 16 [relating to Green Belts] makes clear, subject to the best 
interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet need are unlikely to clearly 
outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm so as to establish very special 
circumstances.” (para 24 PPTS). Members might like to note that the mini paragraph 
above was added in the 2015 re-issue of PPTS

“Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller site development in 
open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in 
the development plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural 
areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate the nearest settled community, and 
avoid placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure.” (para 25 PPTS). 
Members might like to note that the word “very” was added to this paragraph in the 
2015 re-issue of PPTS.

“If a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up-to-date 5year supply of 
deliverable sites, this should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent 
planning decision when considering applications for the grant of temporary 
permission. The exception to this is where the proposal is on land designated as 
Green Belt; sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and / or sites 
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Local Green Space, an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, or within a National Park (or the Broads).” (para 27 
PPTS). Members might like to note that the last sentence above was added to this 
paragraph in the 2015 re-issue of PPTS.

Finally, the definition of gypsies and travellers has been amended in the re-issued 
PPTS to remove the words “or permanently” from after the word “temporarily” in the 
following definition;

“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons 
who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health 
needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an 
organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as as 
such.”

The implications for this change in definition has clouded the issue with regard to 
defining need.  At this stage, given that the application relates to a single pitch, it is 
advised that the Council should consider the application in the context of the existing 
GTAA as set out below.

4.10 The Council has responded positively and quickly to the changes in the national policy 
position in respect of Gypsy and Traveller accommodation. The Local Development 
Framework Panel quickly supported the commissioning of a new Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA), which was completed in June 2013 and 
identified a need for 82 pitches to be provided during the plan period (adjusted down 
from 85 pitches in reflection of those sites granted permanent permission whilst the 
document was under preparation).  This need figure is incorporated within the draft 
Bearing Fruits Swale Borough Local Plan: Part 1 alongside a policy introducing 
provision for pitches on certain major development sites. An additional net 47 
permanent pitches (some with personal use conditions) have also been approved up 
to March 2015, reducing the outstanding need to 35 pitches over the Plan period. A 
further number of pitches enjoy temporary permissions.

Page 14



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

11

4.11 Shortly after publication of the GTAA in 2013 the Council began work on Part 2 of the 
Swale Borough Local Plan which will deal with site allocations for Gypsy and Traveller 
pitch provision only. This process began with a call for sites between September and 
December 2013, and the publication of an issues and options paper which was 
subject to public consultation (this finished on 25th April 2014). 

Saved Policies of Swale Borough Local Plan 2008

4.12 Policy E1 (General Development Control Criteria) sets out standards applicable to all 
development, saying that it should be well sited appropriate in scale, design and 
appearance with a high standard of landscaping, and have safe pedestrian and 
vehicular access whilst avoiding unacceptable consequences in highway terms.

4.13 This site lies in an isolated position within the countryside where policy E6 (The 
Countryside) seeks to protect the quality, character and amenity of the countryside, 
and states that development will not be permitted outside rural settlements in the 
interests of countryside conservation, unless related to an exceptional need for a rural 
location. 

4.14 Within Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty policy E9 (Protecting the Quality and 
Character of the Borough’s Landscape) gives priority to the long term protection and 
enhancement of the quality of the landscape, whilst having regard to the economic 
and social well being of their communities. Policy E9 seeks to protect the quality, 
character and amenity value of the wider landscape of the Borough. Within the 
countryside it expects development to be informed by local landscape character and 
quality, consider guidelines in the Council’s landscape character and assessment, 
safeguard distinctive landscape elements, remove detracting features and minimise 
adverse impacts on landscape character. Protection of AONBs is a high priority in the 
NPPF and they are now afforded recognition in the PPTS, see below.

4.15 Policy E19 (Achieving High Quality Design and Distinctiveness) requires development 
proposals to be well designed. 

4.16 Policy RC7 (Rural Lanes) seeks to protect the physical features and character of rural 
lanes, of which Homestall Road is one.

4.17 Policy H4 explains the Borough Council will only grant planning permission for the use 
of land for the stationing of homes for persons who can clearly demonstrate that they 
are gypsies or travelling showpersons with a genuine connection with the locality of 
the proposed site, in accordance with 1 and 2 below. 

1. For proposals involving the establishment of public or privately owned 
residential gypsy or travelling showpersons sites:

a) there will be a proven need in the Borough for the site and for the size 
proposed;

b) the site will be located close to local services and facilities;
c) there will be no more than four caravans;
d) the site will be located close to the primary or secondary road networks
e) in the case of a greenfield site there is no suitable site available on previously 

developed land in the locality;
f) the site is not designated for its wildlife, historic or landscape importance;
g) the site should be served, or capable of being served, by mains water supply 

and a satisfactory means of sewage disposal and refuse collection;
h) there is no conflict with pedestrian or highway safety;
i) screening and landscaping will be provided to minimise adverse impacts;

Page 15



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

12

j) no industrial, retail, commercial, or storage activities will take place on the site.
k) use of the site will not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon residential 

amenity, or agricultural or commercial use, of surrounding areas; and 
l) the land will not be in a designated flood risk area.

2. Additionally to 1, for proposals for short term stopping places:

m) there will be a planning condition to ensure that the length of stay for each 
caravan will be no longer than 28 days with no return to the site within 3 
months.” 

4.18 This policy was criticised by the Local Plan Inspector who saw it, as a criteria based 
rather than site allocations policy, as inconsistent with the then Circular 01/2006 - 
which itself has since been superseded by PPTS and its emphasis of a five year 
supply of sites - and the policy can only be of limited significance to this application.

Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD 2011

4.19 This site is within the Doddington and Newnham Dry Valleys landscape character 
areas as defined in the March 2011 Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity 
Appraisal, areas which are seen as of high and moderate sensitivity respectively and 
in good condition.

Bearing Fruits 2031: 2014 Publication version of the Swale Borough Local Plan: 
Part 1

4.20 The Council’s Publication version of the draft Local Plan, entitled Bearing Fruits 2031, 
was published in December 2014 and is shortly due for examination.

4.21 Policy CP 3 of the draft Local Plan aims to provide pitches for gypsies and travellers 
as part of new residential developments. Policy DM10 sets out criteria for assessing 
windfall gypsy site applications

Site Assessment 

4.22 The Council’s February 2014 Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocations: Issues and 
Options consultations document recommends a new methodology for how to assess 
site suitability for determining whether or not to allocate a site. Although this was 
primarily intended to rank potential site allocations, it was agreed by Members of the 
LDF Panel in June 2014 to be used as a material consideration in planning 
applications. Even though this is normally done in relation to the potential suitability of  
a fresh site I have considered this in formulating this recommendation to be sure that 
the recommendation is up-to-date. This assessment is a Red/Amber/Green staged 
approach to site suitability, with any site scoring Red in any stage not being 
progressed to the next stage.

4.23 The assessment starts with Stage 1: Availabliity. The site owner is in occupation of the 
site. Here the site scores green. This means that the site should proceed to Stage 2.

4.24 Stage 2: Suitability/Constraints. The site is not in a flood risk zone (assessment 
green); it is in an AONB but is very well concealed, hard by the M2 embankment and 
landscaping is possible (amber); it has very limited landscape impact (amber); it has 
no unacceptable impact on biodiversity (green); no dominating effect on settlements 
(green); no adverse impacts on heritage/archaeology (green); is not known to be  
contaminated (green); will not be subject to unacceptable noise or disturbance if 

Page 16



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

13

properly planned (amber); has adequate access (green); but is remote and not within 
walking distance to any significant facilities (red). The red score means that the site 
should not proceed to Stage 3 and will not be a candidate site for a future allocations 
policy. It is not a site considered to be suitable for allocation as a permanent site. I 
have attached the site assessment scoring sheet as an appendix to this item.

4.25 The proposed timetable for Part 2 of the new Local Plan included production and 
consultation upon a preferred options document in Summer 2014 (now completed). 
The adoption of Part 2 of the Local Plan is currently dependent upon the successful 
adoption of Part 1 of the Local Plan.  Should the Local Plan Inspector find problems 
with Part 1 of the Local Plan, Officers are likely to suggest that all pitch provision 
matters be deferred to Part 2 to enable Part 2 of the Local Plan to progress 
independently of Part 1.   

Five year supply position

4.26 The PPTS has since 2012 introduced a need for Council’s to maintain a rolling five 
year supply of sites which are in suitable locations and available immediately. This is a 
relatively new requirement for Council’s and the Council could only start attempting to 
meet this requirement following the commissioning and publication of the GTAA which 
provided the need figure and a base date.  As such, the Council put measures into 
place to deal with the PPTS requirements very quickly, but have only recently started 
down the route of trying to maintain a rolling five year supply.

4.27 The GTAA sets out a target of 85 pitches to be provided by the year 2031, with a 
suggested provision of 35 pitches in the first five years (to 2018). Three pitches were 
approved during the course of the GTAA’s production so the final target was in fact 82 
pitches. Since the publication of the GTAA and up to the end of March 2015 a total of 
47 permanent pitches were approved in Swale almost exclusively without an appeal, 
of which 33 pitches had been implemented. Evidence presented to the recent Local 
Plan examination shows that at the end of March 2015 the need for pitches identified 
from the GTAA thus stood at 82 pitches minus the 33 permanent pitches approved 
and implemented, including the personal permissions granted in the interim. This 
reduced the need to 49 pitches which, at an annualised rate of 4.6 pitches per year 
(23 pitches over five years) indicated that the Council has already provided a surplus 
of supply of 0.8 pitches over the full five year requirement. This is calculated by taking 
the two year annualised requirement of 9.2 pitches from the completions so far to 
show a current surplus of 23.8 implemented pitches over the two year requirement 
and already a surplus of 0.8 approved permanent pitches over the five year need after 
just two years. In addition to this there are a further 13 approved but unimplemented 
permanent pitches as at the end of March 2015, an overall surplus of 14 pitches. 
These mostly comprise extensions to, or more intensive use of, existing sites and are 
awaiting occupation. Since then six more wholly new permanent sites have been 
approved including two fresh pitches on a large mixed use development site at 
Faversham. This is a very considerable achievement and indicates the Council’s 
positive attitude to such development in the right location. 

The latest position of site provision

4.28 Evidence to the recent Local Plan examination was that the Council has re-
interrogated the GTAA data to determine the appropriate level of pitch provision 
based on the new 2015 PPTS revised definition of gypsies and travellers. The data 
reveals that for all but unauthorised sites some two-thirds of households surveyed for 
the GTAA either never travel or travel not more than once a year. Overall, only 31% of 
respondents travel a few times a year, and 55% never travel, meaning that in Swale 

Page 17



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

14

the gypsy and traveller population is quite settled, slightly more so than elsewhere in 
the country. Many current site occupants no longer meet the new PPTS definition of 
having a nomadic habit of life

Page 18



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

15

4.28 Accordingly, the need for pitches in Swale has been re-evaluated, resulting in a 
reduced estimate of pitch need of 61 pitches over the Plan period to 2031. Of these 
over 51 have already been granted permanent planning permission meaning that the 
outstanding need is less than 10 pitches to 2031. The Council considers that on the 
basis of past trends this need could easily be met from windfall proposals. 

4.30 As a result of this analysis, the Council is suggesting through main modifications to its 
draft Local Plan that the future need be based on a figure of 61 pitches, leaving a 
need per year of less than one pitch and, that no formal pitch allocations will be 
needed. Policy DM10 would be revised to deal with these windfall applications and 
policy CP3 would be removed from the Plan. Accordingly, a Part 2 Local Plan would 
not be required. We await the Local Plan Inspector’s endorsement of its approach.

4.31 However, irrespective of the question of the five year supply, the question of whether 
any approved and unoccupied sites are available to individual appellants is also 
normally taken in to account by Inspectors. Here, the evidence suggest that they may 
consider that sites approved as expansions of existing site are not readily available to 
appellants facing loss of their existing temporary site. This appears to confirm their 
decisions where the question of availability of alternative sites is crucial to their 
decision.

4.32 To conclude on this subject, it seems that there is no reason to see approved but 
unimplemented pitches as other than as part of a five year supply. Nor should 
potential ethnic grouping issues rule them out of consideration where this applies. 
However, there appears to be a question in Inspector’s minds regarding whether such 
sites should be afforded full weight in relation to the prospects of them being suitable 
for a particular appellant, and whether they will wish to, or be able to, occupy such a 
site for reasons of ethnicity, or availability for other than families of the current site 
owners. 

4.33 The revised PPTS (2015) has resulted in considerable uncertainty as it changes the 
planning definition of a traveller and gypsy, and therefore what number of required 
pitches need to be identified. The Council has addressed this by re-interrogating the 
GTAA data and presenting a number of options for the way forward to the Inspector at 
the recent Bearing Fruits Local Plan Examination. At the time of writing the Inspector 
has yet to confirm which option is appropriate and in the mean time it is considered 
appropriate to continue to consider applications in the context of the GTAA as 
originally drafted.

4.30 At a more local level the Council is a contributor to the Kent Downs AONB 
management unit which has recently published its second revision to the Kent Downs 
AONB Management Plan (2014 – 2019). This included policies SD1, SD2, SD3, SD8 
and LLC1 of the Plan, which refer to the need to conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty of the AONB being the prime purpose of the designation, with new 
development respecting the area’s character, quality and distinctiveness, with 
development that runs counter to the primary purpose of the AONB, or its distinctive 
landform, special characteristics or qualities being opposed.

4.31 The other significant issue here is the suitability of the site in terms of noise impact. 
The NPPG gives the following advice;
When is noise relevant to planning?

 Noise needs to be considered when new developments may create additional noise 
and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic 

Page 19



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

16

environment. When preparing local or neighbourhood plans, or taking decisions about 
new development, there may also be opportunities to consider improvements to the 
acoustic environment.

How to determine the noise impact?

Local planning authorities’ plan-making and decision taking should take account of 
the acoustic environment and in doing so consider:

 whether or not a significant adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur;
 whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur; and
 whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved.

In line with the Explanatory Note of the Noise Policy Statement for England, this would 
include identifying whether the overall effect of the noise exposure (including the 
impact during the construction phase wherever applicable) is, or would be, above or 
below the significant observed adverse effect level and the lowest observed adverse 
effect level for the given situation. As noise is a complex technical issue, it may be 
appropriate to seek experienced specialist assistance when applying this policy.

Observed Effect Levels

 Significant observed adverse effect level: This is the level of noise exposure above 
which significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur.

 Lowest observed adverse effect level: this is the level of noise exposure above which 
adverse effects on health and quality of life can be detected.

 No observed effect level: this is the level of noise exposure below which no effect at 
all on health or quality of life can be detected.

How to recognise when noise could be a concern?

 At the lowest extreme, when noise is not noticeable, there is by definition no effect.  
As the noise exposure increases, it will cross the no observed effect level as it 
becomes noticeable. However, the noise has no adverse effect so long as the 
exposure is such that it does not cause any change in behaviour or attitude. The noise 
can slightly affect the acoustic character of an area but not to the extent there is a 
perceived change in quality of life. If the noise exposure is at this level no specific 
measures are required to manage the acoustic environment.

 As the exposure increases further, it crosses the lowest observed adverse effect level 
boundary above which the noise starts to cause small changes in behaviour and 
attitude, for example, having to turn up the volume on the television or needing to 
speak more loudly to be heard. The noise therefore starts to have an adverse effect 
and consideration needs to be given to mitigating and minimising those effects (taking 
account of the economic and social benefits being derived from the activity causing 
the noise).

 Increasing noise exposure will at some point cause the significant observed adverse 
effect level boundary to be crossed. Above this level the noise causes a material 
change in behaviour such as keeping windows closed for most of the time or 
avoiding certain activities during periods when the noise is present. If the exposure is 
above this level the planning process should be used to avoid this effect occurring, 
by use of appropriate mitigation such as by altering the design and layout. Such 

Page 20

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/noise/noise-guidance/#paragraph_004


Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

17

decisions must be made taking account of the economic and social benefit of the 
activity causing the noise, but it is undesirable for such exposure to be caused.

 At the highest extreme, noise exposure would cause extensive and sustained 
changes in behaviour without an ability to mitigate the effect of noise. The impacts 
on health and quality of life are such that regardless of the benefits of the activity 
causing the noise, this situation should be prevented from occurring.

 This table summarises the noise exposure hierarchy, based on the likely average 
response.

Perception Examples of Outcomes Increasing 
Effect Level

Action

Not 
noticeable No Effect No Observed 

Effect

No specific 
measures 
required

Noticeable 
and
not 
intrusive

Noise can be heard, but does not cause any 
change in behaviour or attitude. Can slightly affect 
the acoustic character of the area but not such that 
there is a perceived change in the quality of life.

No Observed 
Adverse 
Effect

No specific 
measures 
required

 

Lowest 
Observed 
Adverse 
Effect Level

 

Noticeable 
and
intrusive

Noise can be heard and causes small changes in 
behaviour and/or attitude, e.g. turning up volume of 
television; speaking more loudly; where there is no 
alternative ventilation, having to close windows for 
some of the time because of the noise. Potential for 
some reported sleep disturbance. Affects the 
acoustic character of the area such that there is a 
perceived change in the quality of life.

Observed 
Adverse 
Effect

Mitigate and 
reduce to a 
minimum

 

Significant 
Observed 
Adverse 
Effect Level

 

Noticeable 
and
disruptive

The noise causes a material change in behaviour 
and/or attitude, e.g. avoiding certain activities 
during periods of intrusion; where there is no 
alternative ventilation, having to keep windows 
closed most of the time because of the noise. 
 Potential for sleep disturbance resulting in difficulty 
in getting to sleep, premature awakening and 
difficulty in getting back to sleep. Quality of life 
diminished due to change in acoustic character of 
the area.

Significant 
Observed 
Adverse 
Effect

Avoid

Page 21



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

18

Noticeable 
and
very 
disruptive

Extensive and regular changes in behaviour and/or an 
inability to mitigate effect of noise leading to 
psychological stress or physiological effects, e.g. 
regular sleep deprivation/awakening; loss of appetite, 
significant, medically definable harm, e.g. auditory and 
non-auditory

Unacceptable 
Adverse Effect Prevent

How can the adverse effects of noise be mitigated?

This will depend on the type of development being considered and the character of the 
proposed location. In general, for noise making developments, there are four broad 
types of mitigation:

 engineering: reducing the noise generated at source and/or containing the noise 
generated;

 layout: where possible, optimising the distance between the source and noise-sensitive 
receptors and/or incorporating good design to minimise noise transmission through the 
use of screening by natural or purpose built barriers, or other buildings;

 using planning conditions/obligations to restrict activities allowed on the site at certain 
times and/or specifying permissible noise levels differentiating as appropriate between 
different times of day, such as evenings and late at night, and;

 mitigating the impact on areas likely to be affected by noise including through noise 
insulation when the impact is on a building.

For noise sensitive developments mitigation measures can include avoiding noisy 
locations; designing the development to reduce the impact of noise from the local 
environment; including noise barriers; and, optimising the sound insulation provided by 
the building envelope. Care should be taken when considering mitigation to ensure the 
envisaged measures do not make for an unsatisfactory development (see the guidance 
on design for more information).

Are there further considerations relating to mitigating the impact of noise on residential 
developments?

Yes – the noise impact may be partially off-set if the residents of those dwellings have 
access to:

 a relatively quiet facade (containing windows to habitable rooms) as part of their 
dwelling, and/or;

 a relatively quiet external amenity space for their sole use, (e.g. a garden or balcony). 
Although the existence of a garden or balcony is generally desirable, the intended 
benefits will be reduced with increasing noise exposure and could be such that 
significant adverse effects occur, and/or;

 a relatively quiet, protected, nearby external amenity space for sole use by a limited 
group of residents as part of the amenity of their dwellings, and/or;

 a relatively quiet, protected, external publically accessible amenity space (e.g. a 
public park or a local green space designated because of its tranquillity) that is nearby 
(e.g. within a 5 minutes walking distance).

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.01 Swale Footpaths Group notes that there is no footpath issue but that the site is close 
to the M2 and ask if the site is suitable for occupation.

Page 22

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/design/


Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

19

5.02 I have received several local representations, seven from individual addresses plus a 
set of five similar representations sent in together all with the same format. These 
make the following summarised points;

 The site lies in the Kent Downs AONB which the Council has a duty to protect; 
caravans do not protect this nature

 The site is high on the side of the valley, and whilst currently screened, the woods are 
deciduous and the woodland may be subject to coppicing

 The Council has refused permission for stables nearby due to adverse impact on the 
AONB – this will have more impact

 The applicants have shown complete disregard for the AONB by clearing the site with 
bulldozers

 Trees have been illegally cleared and badgers may have been disturbed
 The site is not in a sustainable location with no nearby amenities, schools or public 

transport, and close to other sites that have been found to be unsuitably located
 No proper access, the junction is unsafe
 Would affect views from the footpath
 The site is alongside the M2 and extremely noisy, with a risk of air pollution
 With only a low fence in place, children could get onto the motorway and possibly 

cause a fatal accident
 Would put other land at risk from urbanisation
 Nearby houses are historic and listed
 No site notice was displayed for the required period (NOTE: A site notice was in fact 

displayed for the required period close to the site)
 The application is contrary to Government guidance
 The site is not agricultural land, but a woodland with nature conservation significance
 We do not want to have more bad behaviour

5.03 On receipt of the amended Noise Impact Assessment I re-notified local Parish 
Councils (Norton and Newnham) and local residents about the amendments to the 
application. I received the following further representations;

 Three jointly sent comments from a number of local residents suggesting that;

 The water tap on the site is not connected to the mains
 Foul drainage proposals are unclear
 The submitted application form, application description, Design and 

Access Statement, and drawings are ambiguous or inadequate and should 
be revised

 That the site is separated from the highway by a 1m wide margin
 That cross-sectional drawings should be provided
 The Kent Downs AONB Management Unit should be consulted
 Parking on site should be the subject of a fresh planning application
 Documents relating to other matters should be shown on this application 

file

Members received a lengthy statement covering these points shortly before the 
previous meeting.

 One letter querying what the reduction in the number of caravans from three to 
one means for the determination of the application

Page 23



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

20

 A letter arguing that the proposal will be harmful to the AONB and contrary to 
planning policies, and arguing that the development is not justified and should not 
be approved. The letter also suggests that the long term use of the site has been 
abandoned with the caravan removed from the site many years ago

 Two letters suggesting that the writer would have expected to be consulted on the 
application. 

 One letter suggesting that no-one has lived on the site for many years, that there 
has been a recent increase in permanent and non-permanent homes in this area, 
including a very recent unauthorised caravan encampment nearby

5.04 Local re-consultations on the appellant’s most recent gypsy status and personal data, 
allied to anonymous local action to raise awareness of this and other applications for 
private gypsy sites close to this site, have resulted in a number of further 
representations from a wide area. These representations (twenty one in number) 
relate mainly to issues already reported above with emphasis on the impact of the 
development on the AONB. They also include comments relating to no functional 
need to live on the site having been demonstrated, confusion over what is being 
proposed, concern over water and sewerage provision, recent fly-tipping close to the 
site, effect on the conservation area at Newnham, precedent for others nearby sites to 
be approved. One writer objects to the proposed acoustic fence as being completely 
out of keeping with the locality.

5.05 As the publicity period regarding new gypsy status information extends until 15 March 
I will update members at the meeting and seeking authority for issuing the decision 
notice once the publicity period has expired.

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

6.01 Newnham Parish Council opposes the application on grounds similar to those raised 
in local representations above. They add that the site fails the current site assessment 
test; that there is no vehicular access to the site; that there are no 2m fences or 
sewage treatment on the site; and that the site does not meet policy criteria for such a 
site.

6.02 Norton Parish Council did not initially comment on the application. However, very 
shortly before the January meeting they held a meeting (on 6 January) and have 
written expressing serious reservations about the application in relation to the prosed 
4m high acoustic fence which they consider intrusive, and with concern about how 
any further development of the site could or would be monitored.

6.03 Kent Highway Services do not comment on the application

6.04 The Environmental Health Manager originally requested a noise report and has 
considered the applicant’s Noise Impact Assessment report. He notes that noise 
levels across the site exceed recommended levels so that mitigation is required. He 
notes the recommendations of the report for acoustic fencing and extra sound 
insulation and accepts that these measures could be effective if carried out as 
suggested. His one concern is whether the mitigation measures will be effective if the 
caravans are not permanently sited.

7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.01 Papers for application 15/503580/FULL and other applications mentioned above.

Page 24



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

21

8.0 APPRAISAL

8.01  This application has brought to light the very peculiar planning status of this land. It 
was established in 1970 that the land had an existing right for stationing of a caravan. 
Planning permission was not needed other than as a vehicle for obtaining a necessary 
site licence. This situation seems to have then persisted right up until the latest 
planning permission granted in 1988. That personal permission has now run its 
course and new owners seek a new permission.

8.02 Without doubt it would be highly unusual to grant planning permission for this use at 
this rural location in the current policy context and I would not normally expect to 
recommend so. However, I had made it clear to Members that a benefit of granting 
planning permission is the ability of the Council to regulate the use of the site in the 
public interest, including a condition to require acoustic screening and to require 
adequate drainage and landscaping arrangements, as well as limiting the number of 
caravans on the site.

8.03 Members did not accept that recommendation, and the clear implication is that the 
Council will instead determine this application purely in relation to policies that apply 
to the site at this time. As such, my starting point for consideration of this application is 
the provisions of the saved policies of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 and the 
Council’s published site assessment criteria for gypsy and traveller sites. Policies E6, 
E9 and RC7 seek to resist development in the countryside and to protect valued 
landscapes and rural lanes. There is no doubt that the site is not generally suitable for 
residential development or use as a caravan site as it is located in open countryside, 
well outside any defined settlement designated as suitable for residential 
development, and that saved policy E6 seeks to protect the wider countryside from 
development except in specific exceptional circumstances. It follows that the granting 
of planning permission for the proposal would seriously undermine the effectiveness 
of local rural settlement policy and thus have adverse implications for the character of 
the countryside, unless they satisfy at least one of the exceptions that justify a 
departure from the development plan.

8.04 Homestall Road is classified as a rural lane but given the way in which this site is set 
back away from the lane with intervening trees, its prominence in relation to users of 
the road is limited, and the site is really only noticeable if one is looking for it. Despite 
the aims of the policy being clear, I do not consider that the proposal to use this site 
for one caravan would so significantly harm its character that a refusal of planning 
permission on grounds of being contrary to saved policy RC7 is sustainable. Nor do I 
consider that the 4m tall acoustic fence will, in reality, be particularly prominent in 
views from the road.

8.05 The weight to be given to AONB landscape protection remains a strong national 
policy. Were this site to have a significant landscape impact that would be a clear 
reason for refusal of planning permission as supported by saved policy E9. However, 
for the reasons set out above, the site is not particularly prominent, being set down 
below motorway level and screened by a copse of trees in separate ownership. The 
site could be further landscaped but this would not reduce its impact significantly, 
unless it were to be hidden completely. 

8.06 That is the normal background to a decision here, but on the basis of the applicant’s 
evidence it is clear to me that he and his dependents do have gypsy status, and 
therefore that this application carries with it the need to consider other advice relating 
to policy for gypsy and traveller sites. The Council’s own 2008 policy H4 seeks to 

Page 25



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

22

exclude sites that are not well related to services and amenities, or are designated for 
landscape value, both of which apply here. However, that policy is of little weight 
having been left in the Local Plan almost by default, and when Circular 1/2006 was to 
be preferred. That Circular has now been superseded by PPTS (it too having since 
been revised) and it is this that will be the principal policy that should be looked to, 
along with the wider NPPF and the Council’s own published site assessment criteria.

8.07 The NPPF seeks to protect Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and PPTS states 
that sites in open countryside away from settlements should be very* strictly controlled 
(* very was introduced into this sentence in August 2015). In my view this policy has 
three purposes which are to minimise visual harm to the countryside, ensure sites are 
not isolated from the settled community and, to ensure sites are sustainably located. 

8.08 The idea that conserving the landscape and natural beauty of the AONB by 
introducing incompatible development and then attempting to screen it is the wrong 
approach. Furthermore, this approach is directly contrary to PPTS guidance which 
seeks greater openness and can only serve to raise the sense of social exclusion of 
the site occupants; hiding them away from the world. It is also true that in this case the 
PPTS demand for greater openness is in direct conflict with preserving the natural 
beauty of the AONB. However, in this case the site is not especially prominent in the 
landscape and further landscaping may not be critical to its impact. 

8.09 The proposed acoustic fence has drawn sharp criticism. I have already said that I do 
not consider it unacceptably prominent on this site. However, without it, the noise 
climate on the site would arguably be unacceptable for long tem habitation. As such, I 
do not consider that refusal on grounds of intrusion of the fence is the right reaction to 
this proposal, but the need for the fence adds weight to the impact of the site on the 
AONB, which overall I suggest is limited rather than severe.

8.10 Overall, I do not believe that the landscape impact of this site, with or without the 
acoustic fence, is overriding or that further landscaping is the solution to any objection 
on landscape grounds. I do not believe that this aspect of the site is sufficient, on its 
own, to warrant a refusal of planning permission, but in such a location where 
development is restricted to protect the natural beauty of the area at a national level, I 
can accept that any harm however small can be seen as a contributory factor to a 
refusal of planning permission.

8.11 Notwithstanding this matter, the site seems to me to be poorly located both for 
integration with any local community, or for a sustainable form of development. There 
are few facilities close to the site and any access to amenities will involve the use of 
private transport. Saved policy SH1 of the Local Plan identifies a settlement hierarchy 
for the Borough where various levels of development might be appropriate. This 
isolated location is not one where there is ready access to amenities. It thus fails to 
meet the second stage of the Council’s published site assessment criteria.

8.12 In this regard the nature of the site is far more remotely located than one at Spade 
Lane close to the Medway conurbation that was subject of an appeal decision 
regarding a proposed gypsy or traveller site in October 2014. In that case 
(APP/V/2255/C/14/2220447) the Inspector considered whether the use of that site 
close to a major population centre with a wide range of facilities as a gypsy or traveller 
site constituted sustainable development. He noted that locational sustainability 
depends on a range of factors which are neither constant nor easy to measure with 
confidence. Nevertheless, he concluded that the site was “in a location where the 
overwhelming majority of journeys to shops, to school, to the doctor or to most other 
facilities and services would be undertaken by car.” He added that “The distances 

Page 26



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

23

involved, the absence of any public transport in easy reach, the character of the lanes 
along which people would travel, and the unattractiveness at night, in winter or in bad 
weather of any short cuts provided by local PROWs, would obviate journeys on foot 
other than for the fittest and/or most enthusiastic of walkers. His conclusion was that 
the sustainability benefits of the proposed development were minimal and more than 
outweighed by significant and demonstrable disadvantages. I consider that similar 
conclusion apply with even greater force here where the site is far further from 
amenities and where the roads and lanes in question are also without footpaths or 
street lighting.

8.13 If further evidence were needed, there have been three recent appeal decisions 
relating to private gypsy and traveller sites in Elverland Lane close to the current 
application site in 2007, 2011 and 2012. In the 2007 appeal decision as the site then 
known as Tootsie Farm the Inspector commented that;

“I am also not convinced that this is a particularly sustainable location for a Gypsy site. 
I appreciate that Billy seems to have coped with school in
Faversham on his bike and proposes to use bike and train to go to college in 
Canterbury. While it meets the current needs of the family it is in a relatively remote 
and sparsely populated location some distance from services which in the main are to 
be found in Faversham. However, I do not consider it so unsuitable a location as to 
rule it out were that the only area of concern.”

Nevertheless in January 2012 (pre PPTS), a different Inspector commenting on the 
same site said that;

“As to sustainability the evidence strongly suggests that there are more
sustainable locations for G&T development than the appeal site, which in effect adds 
to the scatter of residential development in the open countryside. There is no reason 
to doubt that the eventual allocation of sites to meet G&T pitch needs, whether within 
the Borough or within this area of Kent as part of a joint effort by a group of local 
authorities complying with their duty to cooperate, will be in more sustainable 
locations and circumstances than the appeal site. This has considerable weight as an 
objection to the grant of a permanent permission for the appeal use. On the other 
hand, until adequate pitch provision is made elsewhere account should be taken of 
the advantages of providing, even on a temporary basis, for those who lack alternative 
accommodation and would therefore otherwise be moving between potentially more 
unsatisfactory temporary locations. This point is referred to in paragraph64 of ODPM 
Circular 1/2006, and in this case I consider it to balance harm to sustainability 
objectives in the short term.”

Finally, at Horseshoe Farm, Elverland Lane (opposite Tootsie Farm) an Inspector in 
May 2012 (post original PPTS) stated that;

“19. Paragraph 11 of the PPTS requires traveller sites to be sustainable economically, 
socially and environmentally. The appeal site is remote from all services and facilities 
and is not well located in relation to any settlement so as to foster social inclusion. It is 
isolated, in a sparsely populated area and there is environmental harm as identified 
above. Although there are two other gypsy sites nearby, they are not lawful.

20. A positive factor is that the Appellant has his horse keeping and breeding business 
based on the land on which he lives which reduces daily travel. There are also the 
recognised benefits arising from having a permanent base, such as being able to 
access health services more readily and reducing any need to move around on 
unauthorised sites. But those are benefits which arise in the provision of any 

Page 27



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

24

permanent site and do not outweigh the disbenefits arising from the isolated location 
in this case.”

8.14 On the basis of this consistent view from recent Planning Inspectors, and bearing in 
mind the results of the Council’s own site assessment criteria (see above) I consider 
that this location is too remote from services and amenities to be acceptable as a 
permanent gypsy or traveller site. I suggest that the limited remaining need for sites 
can more properly be met in far more suitable locations. I consider that the proposal 
fails to meet the environmental role necessary to be considered sustainable 
development in terms of the NPPF definition.

8.15 The extent of need for gypsy sites locally and the 5 year site supply issue

8.16 The key issue in this respect is the Council’s need to demonstrate a five year supply of 
available and appropriate sites sufficient to meet the need within the Borough. The 
PPTS sets out very clearly that Local Planning Authorities should have regard to, 
amongst other things, the existing level of local provision and need for sites, and the 
availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicant. 

8.17 The current position with site supply is that the Council has commissioned a GTAA 
which now provides an up-to-date assessment of the need for pitches up until the year 
2031. This has quantified local future need, but a very significant number of sites have 
since been approved. In fact over 5 years supply of sites have been approved within 
the first two years with more approved subsequently. The Council’s supply of sites is 
now running above trend meaning that the release of sites such as this one is 
completely unnecessary. More significantly, the remaining need for sites is small, and 
subject to the Local Plan Inspector accepting the Council’s re-assessment of site need 
on the light of the revised PPTS very small, such that the need to see this site 
developed in minimal.

8.18 The applicant’s own circumstances

8.19 The applicant has a child, and an elderly relative in poor health, both of whom would 
benefit from a settled base. The health information submitted does not indicate any 
unusual or critical health issues with the child or the grandmother. The applicant has 
been asked to explain his personal need and he has done so. However, the 
information provided is not sufficient to show any particular reason to live on this 
isolated site. On the contrary, a more accessible site would no doubt benefit them in 
terms of access to health and other services.

8.20 The balance between the above issues 

8.21 I have reviewed the application on its own merits I find that it is very remote with 
limited impact on the natural beauty of the Kent Downs AONB, and not a site where a 
permanent planning permission ought to be granted on the basis of current policies. 
Nor is the need for sites so overwhelming that such an unsuitable site should be 
approved. Finally I do not consider that the applicant’s personal circumstances so 
significant to suggest that a personal planning permission should be granted.

8.22 Whether a temporary permission might be appropriate if a permanent permission is 
not.

8.23 Decisions to refuse planning permission need to reflect a proper assessment of 
planning policies and other material considerations, and for the Council to present 
sound, justifiable and defensible planning reasons for refusal related to the likely 
impact of the proposed development.  The revised PPTS (2015) explicitly states that 

Page 28



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

25

“If a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up-to-date 5year supply of 
deliverable sites, this should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent 
planning decision when considering applications for the grant of temporary 
permission. The exception to this is where the proposal is on land designated as 
Green Belt; sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and / or sites 
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Local Green Space, an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, or within a National Park (or the Broads).” (para 27 
PPTS). 

I note that the last sentence above was added to this paragraph in the 2015 re-issue 
of PPTS and represents an important shift in policy which is utterly relevant to the 
determination of this application. The situation when the application was submitted 
was that where there is a lack of site supply a temporary permission was a significant 
material consideration. This is not now the case for sites in certain designated areas 
including AONBs. Nor is there any lack of site supply here. Nevertheless, 
consideration can still be given to a temporary permission. In so doing one must look 
to see what benefit or reason it would have.

8.24 The revised PPTS now makes it very clear that personal circumstances are unlikely to 
clearly outweigh harm to the AONB sufficient to grant  a temporary permission, even 
where the supply of sites is inadequate. The exception here is where the best 
interests of a child might indicate otherwise (see Article 3 of the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)). It is quite clear that in taking a 
decision which affects children the decision maker should understand and take proper 
account of the best interests of the child involved. This issue also relates to Article 8 of 
the European Convention on Human Rights (Right to a Private and Family Life). I 
have made enquiries of the applicant and no special circumstances relating to his son 
have been revealed, either in medical or educational terms (although the son will not 
yet be in formal education). I appreciate that the child involved does not yet have a 
settled home. However, I do fear that by settling on this remote site adjacent to the 
motorway, on a temporary basis, that the best interests of the child will not be best 
served. Moreover, whilst the best interests of the child will always be a primary 
consideration, this does not mean that identifying their best interests will inevitably 
lead to a decision in conformity with those interests.

8.26 Even taking the best interests of the child here to have a settled base (as his parent’s 
desire) I ask whether this can be outweighed by any combination of other factors, 
which individually do not outweigh that consideration. I find that the combination of 
significant factors including the impact of the development on policies to protect the 
countryside, limited harm to the AONB, and the remote location and lack of 
accessibility to vital social, health, and in time educational, facilities combined with the 
very poor noise environment on the site which can only be party ameliorated by the 
proposed acoustic fence create powerful counter arguments for the need for a settled 
base to be met on this site. That is not to say that the need cannot or should not be 
met elsewhere in the Borough (or beyond) where these all factors might not be 
present. 

8.27 A temporary planning permission is a useful device to allow a family time to relocate 
from an unacceptable site without resorting to roadside living, with the attendant 
health, welfare and educational challenges that brings. However, in this case the 
applicant is not occupying the application site and there is no question of upheaval 
from the site involved, which might otherwise add some weight to the question of a 
temporary permission.

Page 29



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

26

8.27 The applicant’s evidence of a need to live on the site for personal, health, or 
educational reasons is very limited. Having considered why a temporary permission 
might be appropriate I can find no reason to grant one, and I consider that a decision 
not to grant a temporary permission is proportionate to the interference with the 
applicant’s human rights and the Council’s need to consider the best interests of the 
child as a primary consideration. I have also had regard to the Inspector’s comments 
in the Spade Lane appeal decision in relation to the granting of a temporary planning 
permission. He found that the granting of a temporary permission creates some 
expectation of future permanence, but he saw no realistic prospect of circumstances 
there changing in the near future. He noted that the site would still be in open 
countryside and with poor relationship to services. He also noted that harm is often 
greatest in early years when landscaping has not had time to establish, and that the 
appellant’s position was not urgent. I consider that many of these factors apply to this 
case, reinforcing my conclusions above. I do not consider that a temporary planning 
permission should be granted.

8.28 Finally, whilst the final cost of the acoustic fence is not entirely clear, it is clear to me 
that the erection of a 4m tall acoustic fence would be an expensive operation. Were 
this to be necessary to support long term use of the site, it might be concluded that 
this would be reasonable. However, in order to allow only temporary use I consider 
that it would be excessive; but that without the fence the site would not be at all 
suitable even for temporary occupation. Thus adds to me conclusion that a temporary 
permission is not appropriate.

9.0 CONCLUSION

9.01 This site has a peculiar history including confirmation of established use for stationing 
a a caravan in 1970. It has since long been occupied as a caravan site under the 
benefit of personal planning permissions. No-one has lived on the site for some years 
and it has recently changed hands. I remain concerned that the history of the site may 
yet be found to be significant, but Members have rejected my recommendation to 
grant planning permission in order to be able to safeguard the future of the site and I 
am left with no alternative to considering the position with the exclusion of all 
references to the site’s planning history.

9.02 On that basis, the determination of the application should be based on the provisions 
of the Development Plan and other considerations, and upon whether the proposal 
constitutes sustainable development. I have concluded that the site is remote from 
services and amenities, has limited harm to the AONB (partly arising through the need 
to include a tall acoustic fence to achieve acceptable noise levels on the site), and is 
not in a location where development should normally be permitted. 

9.02 I have considered the applicant’s gypsy status and the need for sites, but have 
concluded that site supply is well advanced and as the area is very poorly served by 
amenities, that limited harm to the AONB would result, and that the site does not 
score well enough in relation to the Council’s gypsy and traveller site assessment 
criteria to be suitable for a permanent planning permission. I have also considered 
whether a personal or temporary planning permission would be appropriate and have 
concluded that it would not. I therefore conclude that the proposed development 
should not be granted planning permission.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE for the following reason. 

REASON

Page 30



Planning Committee Report - 10 March 2016 Def Item 1

27

Notwithstanding the Council’s appreciation of the need for it to respond positively to 
the accommodation needs of gypsies and travellers, and the guidance in DCLG’s 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015), the Council considers that this site is 
unacceptable as a gypsy or traveller site. The site is isolated in open countryside 
away from any social, health, educational or other amenities, and lies within the Kent 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the siting of caravans and the 
associated hardsurfacing and acoustic fencing required to achieve adequate noise 
levels within the site will create an alien and intrusive appearance to the site which 
harms the character and appearance of the area. The proposal to use the site for the 
stationing of a caravan compromises the objectives of designation of the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty which are the conservation and enhancement of the 
area’s natural beauty, and is contrary to the advice in paragraph 12 of the NPPF, 
paragraphs 4, 23, 25 and 27 of the PPTS and to saved policies E1 and E9 of the 
Swale Borough Local Plan 2008. The Council has taken account of the position in 
terms of the supply of gypsy and traveller sites, the health issues of the applicant and 
his family, and considered whether a permanent or temporary planning permission 
should be granted. Despite appreciating the personal circumstances of the applicant’s 
family, the Council does not consider that a permanent or temporary planning 
permission represents an acceptable balance between the need for gypsy and 
traveller sites in the Borough and the personal circumstances of the applicant’s family, 
and the very substantial harm that occupation of the site causes to planning policy for 
the appropriate location of gypsy or traveller sites in terms of access to services and 
amenities, or on the character and appearance of the area. In taking account of all 
these factors the Council’s considers that this proposal does not represent 
sustainable development, and that planning permission should be refused.

Council’s approach to the application.

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by:

• Offering pre-application advice.
• Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
• As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application.

In this instance the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

30 
 

DEF ITEM 2 REFERENCE NO -  15/508025/REM 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Approval of Reserved Matters for residential redevelopment of 142 dwellings together with 
access roads, footpaths, drainage, associated car/bicycle parking provision, groundwork's, 
landscaping, open space and infrastructure (all matters being sought except access). 

ADDRESS Former HBC Engineering Site Power Station Road Minster-on-sea Kent ME12 3AB   

RECOMMENDATION – Approve. 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

Proposed layout, design, scale and landscaping are considered acceptable.  Amended 
landscaping plan (received 26 February 2016) enhances tree and shrub planting across the 
development. 
 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Deferred from 11 February meeting.  Parish Council and local objections. 
 

WARD Minster Cliffs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Minster On Sea 

APPLICANT Persimmon 
Homes South East & TBH 
(Sheerness) Ltd 

AGENT Victoria Swift 

DECISION DUE DATE 

04/01/16 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

04/01/16 

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE 

Various 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

14/500561 Outline Planning permission (all matters except 

access reserved) - Residential redevelopment 

with provision of associated vehicular and 

pedestrian access, open space, drainage and 

services.  The decision notice is appended. 

Approved 10.03.2015 

The development would amount to the provision of new residential dwellings within the defined 

built up area boundary, on a site identified by the SHLAA for residential development, and in a 

sustainable location, without giving rise to any serious amenity concerns.  As such the proposal 

was considered to be in accordance with adopted local and national policies. 

SW/11/0915 Redevelopment of site to provide retail 

supermarket (Class A1) and petrol filling 

station. 

Refused 2012 

Planning permission was refused due to the cumulative negative impact of retail development 

on both this site and at Neats Court upon the viability, vitality and primary retail function of 

Sheerness town centre. 

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.01 Members will recall this application from the 11 February meeting, where it was 

deferred for further exploration as to the suitability of the landscaping scheme, and 

Page 33



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

31 
 

for comment from the applicant as to why they were not offering the roads, open 
spaces or site drainage for formal adoption. 

 
1.02 The (draft) minutes of the meeting (appended) state: 
 

“Councillor Mike Henderson moved the following motion: That the application 
be deferred and officers seek to improve landscaping details. 

 
This was seconded by Councillor Mike Baldock. 

 
Members spoke on the new motion. There was concern with the scattered 
landscaping which would be difficult to maintain. 

 
Members also requested that the applicant provide a statement on its 
approach to maintaining the unadopted roads and sewerage system.” 

 
1.03 Members should note appendix 1, which is a statement from the applicant in regards 

to the management company approach (further discussed at section 10). 
 
2.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
2.01 See original report (appended). 
  
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.01 The scheme is fully detailed at section 2.0 of the original report (appended) and, as 

detailed at section 9.0 of that report, officers consider it to be acceptable in all 
respects. 

 
4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 
4.01 See original report (appended). 
 
5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.01 The policy context for the development is fully explored within the original report, 

which is attached as an appendix to this item. 
 
5.02 Nevertheless members may wish to note policy H2 of the adopted Swale Borough 

Local Plan 2008, which seeks to provide housing within the built up areas of the 
Borough, and on previously developed land, in preference to the release of fresh 
sites elsewhere. 

 
5.03 Members may also care to note that the development contributes 142 dwellings to 

the Council’s five-year housing supply shortfall, and will consequently decrease 
pressure to approve schemes on potentially less suitable sites. 

 
6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.01 No further representations have been received since the last meeting.  The 

representations received are addressed within the original report (appended). 
 
  

Page 34



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

32 
 

7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
7.01 The Kent County Council Flood Risk Officer raised questions in regards to surface 

water management across the site.  Additional information was submitted by the 
applicant to clarify the reasoning and methodology, but no further response has been 
received from KCC. 

 
7.02 Southern Water (SW) have no objections to the development further to the 

submission of a network capacity check, which indicates that the development will be 
connected to the sewer network to the north of the site – where there is sufficient 
capacity – and not the network to the south of the site, which serves the existing 
estate. 

 
7.03 Kent Highways & Transportation have no objection further to receipt of amended 

drawings showing minor amendments to the length / position of a small number of 
parking spaces. 

 
8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
8.01 As noted above: outline planning permission was granted by decision notice dated 10 

March 2015 for the erection of up to 142 dwellings and associated parking, open 
space, and landscaping under application reference 14/500561. 

 
8.02 The current application is accompanied by a full suite of drawings, design & access 

statement, planning statement, a contamination assessment, and a phase II 
contamination survey. 

 
9.0 APPRAISAL 
 
9.01 As noted within the original report the principle of development, layout, scale, design 

of the proposed units and parking provision are all considered to be acceptable 
subject to the conditions noted below.  The applicant significantly changed the 
scheme further to comments from officers and the amended drawings are considered 
to show a scheme that would be a positive enhancement to the street scene and the 
wider area. 

 
9.02 Members voted to defer the application for further consideration of the landscaping 

scheme, and for comment on why the open spaces, highways and drainage were not 
being offered for adoption.  The draft minutes are noted at section 1.02 above. 

 
 Landscaping 
 
9.03 As detailed in the original report: a substantial landscaping scheme is proposed, 

which will help to soften views of the development from Power Station Road.  The 
layout of the frontage buildings has also been amended (at officer’s request) to have 
the majority of the properties facing towards Power Station Road to ensure that 
landscaping can be provided adjacent to the highway rather than rear garden walls / 
fences.  

 
9.04 The landscaping scheme has been produced by Lloyd-Bore, who are respected 

landscape architects, and who have designed schemes on many local developments 
within recent years.  An amended landscaping plan has been submitted since the 
previous meeting to enhance the landscaping, and provide additional tree and shrub 
planting beyond that which was originally proposed.  The planting scheme includes 
native trees (“Extra Heavy Standard” size – which is 16-18cm girth) such as field 

Page 35



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

33 
 

maple, horse chestnut, alder, and beech to be planted within public areas and rear 
gardens; shrubs including laurel, roses, geranium, and lavender also to be planted 
within public areas and rear gardens; and wild flower / meadow planting along the 
northern boundary to include yarrow, cowslip, buttercups and sorrel, amongst others.   

 
9.05 There is a substantial planting strip along the western boundary to provide a “wildlife 

corridor” from the front to the rear of the site, linking the existing public open space 
on the opposite side of Power Station Road to the wildflower meadow / SUDS area 
along the northern site boundary and the biodiversity designation beyond that to the 
north. 

 
9.06 Prior to the last meeting the applicant also amended the scheme to include a black 

metal estate rail along the eastern half of the frontage boundary (to the south of plots 
104 to 112), which will be planted with Extra Heavy Standard trees on the inner 
boundary to provide a robust and attractive landscaped border and prevent vehicles 
crossing the boundary and damaging the verge. 

 
9.07 Taking the above into account, and in conjunction with the site layout which provides 

generous front and rear gardens and a sensible open space layout, I consider that 
the amended / enhanced landscaping scheme will result in an attractive development 
that will enhance the appearance of the area and provide significant opportunities for 
wildlife and biodiversity enhancement (especially compared to the current condition 
of the site).   

 
9.08 I do not consider that the Council would have any likelihood of success at appeal if 

the application were to be refused on landscaping grounds. 
 
9.09 The developer has stated that the landscaping goes substantially beyond what has 

been provided at their other recent developments – including Coleshall Farm in 
Iwade, which I have visited on several occasions and consider to be an attractive 
development (albeit that some areas of landscaping are still bedding in).  They have 
also provided a schedule of the maintenance tasks that will be carried out by the 
maintenance company, as detailed at 10.16 below. 

 
 Drainage 
 
9.10 I would remind Members that drainage is not a matter to be considered under this 

reserved matters application, having been addressed by the conditions attached to 
the outline permission (ref. 14/500561).  The matter was included in the original 
report for information only, due to significant local objection on this point and to 
assure Members that the matter was in hand. 

 
9.11 Further to a sewer capacity check (carried out by Southern Water on behalf of the 

developer) Southern Water has no objections to foul and surface water drainage for 
the development.  As noted above (and within the original report) the site will be 
connected to the sewer grid situated to the north, which has capacity to serve the 
development, and not to the network to the south that serves the existing dwellings 
off William Rigby Drive.  Condition (2) of the original report has therefore been 
removed. 

 
9.12 The applicant also provided further information as to the SUDS being employed 

within the development, as requested by the KCC.  This information was provided to 
the County officers but no further comments have been received.  In any instance I 
would note that Southern Water has no objection, and the SUDS will be maintained 
by the developer through a private management company (further discussed below). 

Page 36



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

34 
 

 
9.13 I have no serious concerns in regards to drainage within the development, and also 

within the surrounding area, and would remind Members that there are no grounds 
for refusal on this issue and the matter does not formally fall to be considered here. 

 
Adoption 

 
9.14 There is no legal requirement for any part of the development, including highways, 

drainage and open spaces / landscaping, to be offered for adoption.  Refusal of 
planning permission on such grounds would be unjustified and indefensible at 
appeal. 

 
9.15 The developer has stated that they make use of management companies on many of 

their developments (including Iwade) and consider it to be a better solution than 
formal adoption in many instances.  Residents are required to pay a nominal upkeep 
charge, and have a legal right to take over ownership of the management company if 
they do not consider that their funds are being spent effectively.  This provides an 
effective feedback and accountability mechanism to ensure that necessary 
maintenance takes place as scheduled. 

 
9.16 For clarification, the developer has provided a statement (appended) in regards the 

role of the management company: 
 

“All roads, SUDS and communal landscaped areas (including the POS areas) 
within the development site will be maintained by a Management Company 
(MC) set up on behalf of future residents. 
 
For clarification an MC is established for three specific reasons: 
 

 To manage and maintain common areas in a multi-unit development; 

 To be legally responsible for the upkeep of communal areas; and 

 To manage and collect individual owners financial contributions. 
 

The aims/objective of the MC is to promote a sensitive management 
approach, which protects and improves the landscape and visual amenity of 
the site, provides function to public open spaces and maintains the road 
network/SUDS areas. 
 
Whilst under the control of PHSE [Persimmon Homes South East] specialist 
maintenance contractors will be appointed to maintain the communal 
facilities… 
 
The management company approach would ensure what residents paid was 
spent on their development area and not dissipated across the whole of 
Kent…” 

 
10.0 CONCLUSION 
 
10.01 This application seeks approval of reserved matters relating to scale, design, layout 

and landscaping of outline planning permission 14/500561/OUT.  I consider the 
submitted details to be acceptable and, whilst I note local objections, they largely 
amount to concerns regarding the principle of development, which does not fall to be 
considered here. 

 

Page 37



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

35 
 

10.02 The applicant has provided further information in regards to landscaping and 
adoption of landscaping, highways and SUDS, as requested by Members at the 
previous meeting.  I consider these to be acceptable.  There is no justification to 
refuse the application on such grounds. 

 
10.03 Taking the above into account, and further to the receipt of the amended landscaping 

plan, I recommend that Members resolve to approve the reserved matters. 
 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions: 
 
(1) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the following 

approved plans and drawings: 
 
 RDL-PL01 D; RDL-PL02; 456-ML-PL01; RDL-PL03 B; AN-PL01 B; AN-PL02 A; AN-

PL03 B; HB-PL01 A; HB-PL02 B; CH-PL01 B; SU-PL01 C; SU-PL02 A; SU-PL03 B; 
SU-PL04; HAT-PL01 C; HAT-PL02; CA-PL01 A; CA-PL02 A; CAC-PL01 B; CAC-
PL02 B; LR-PL01 D; LR-PL02 B; LR-PL03 C; LR-PL04; KL-PL01 B; LY-PL01 B; LY-
PL02 C; CD-PL01 C; CD-PL02; CB-PL01 B; 456-SE-PL01 Rev A; AP-PL02 Rev C; 
AP-PL01 Rev A; AP-ST-PL01 A; P1 125_02 Rev B; 456-BTL-PL04 A; P.1125_04 
Rev B; P.1125_01-1-1B and P.1125_01-2- B. 

 
 Reasons: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
(2) The scheme of tree planting and landscaping shown on the submitted plans shall be 

carried out within 12 months of the completion of the development.  Any trees or 
shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased 
within five years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and 
species as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reasons: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity. 

 
The Council's approach to this application: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 
Offering pre-application advice. 
Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 
As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 
their application. 
 
In this instance the applicant/agent was advised of changes required to the application and 
these were agreed.  The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application. 
 
  
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

Page 38



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

36 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

 

Page 39



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

37 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

 

Page 40



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

38 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Page 41



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

39 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 42



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

40 
 

APPENDIX 3 

 

Page 43



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

41 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 44



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

42 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 45



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

43 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 46



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

44 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 47



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

45 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 48



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

46 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 49



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

47 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 50



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

48 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 51



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

49 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 52



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

50 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 53



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

51 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 54



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

52 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 55



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

53 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 56



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

54 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 57



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

55 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 58



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

56 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 59



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

57 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 60



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

58 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 61



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

59 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 62



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

60 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 63



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

61 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 64



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

62 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 65



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 DEF ITEM 2 

63 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

 

Page 66



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

64 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 MARCH 2016 PART 1 
 
Report of the Head of Planning 
 
PART 1 
 
Any other reports to be considered in the public session 
  
 
1.1 REFERENCE NO - 14/505440/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Proposed mixed use development - on six parcels of land - of 215 residential apartments (use 
class C3), 3158 sq m of retail space (use class A1), A 308 space multi storey car park, 1713 sq.m 
cinema (use class D2), 2320 sq.m ground floor restaurant units (use class A3), first floor D2 use 
and the re-alignment of St Michael's road with amendments to the road network and the creation 
of a new public square in Sittingbourne Town Centre, in front of the railway station. 

ADDRESS Spirit Of Sittingbourne Regeneration Site Identified On Site Location Plan (drg 
Number: 14.35.100 Revision PO) Sittingbourne Kent ME10 3DU  

RECOMMENDATION: Approve subject to signing of Section 106 agreement, conditions as set 
out below and resolution of other matters as set out below.  

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION: The Development is in accordance with 
Development Plan policies and would not have unacceptable planning implications. 

 
 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE: To agree an amendment to draft condition 
(37)(cinema and restaurant operating hours) and to amend / clarify the matters delegated to 
officers by the Planning Committee (when the application was considered at the meeting on 16 
March 2015), and to update Members on progress with key matters. 

 
 

WARD St Michaels PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL: 

N/A 

APPLICANT The Spirit Of 
Sittingbourne LLP 

AGENT Mr Alastair Cracknell 

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.01 Members will recall that this development was considered at the Special Planning    

Committee meeting held on 16 March 2015. My report to that meeting is attached as 
Appendix 1. The minute of the meeting is also attached, as Appendix 2, and the 
resolution reads as follows: 

 
“That application 14/505440/FULL be delegated to officers to approve subject to 
conditions (1) to (43) in the report; additional and amended conditions (28) and (44) as 
tabled; the application being referred to the Secretary of State; the Highways Agency 
holding objection being lifted, and to impose such further conditions as reasonably 
required by them and to seek the developer contribution totalling £50,000 for highway 
improvements to the Key Street roundabout; securing further details in the form of 
scaled drawings, showing the raised platform and metal enclosing feature to the 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

65 
 

northeast corner of the public square, and any conditions required to seek further 
details in respect of finishing material; amended and additional plans to address the 
outstanding design points in the committee report; the satisfactory resolution of the 
position and arrangement of the drop-off area for Sittingbourne train station in 
consultation with KCC Highways and Network Rail amended conditions as required to 
refer to amended plans, and to carry out other fine-tuning of conditions as required; 
and a Section 106 Agreement, to include items as set out in the report and as tabled in 
the letter from Spirit of Sittingbourne LLP, has been entered into.” 

 
1.02 Since the meeting progress has been made to address the matters delegated to 

officers, notably: 
 

(i) Highways England (formerly the Highways Agency) have withdrawn their holding 
objection, and the S106 agreement will include a contribution of £50, 000 towards 
improvements to the Key Street junction of the A2 with the A249 (which forms part 
of the strategic road network); 

(ii) The Department for Communities and Local Government have written to advise 
that the Secretary of State does not wish to call the application in; 

(iii) The S106 is being negotiated and the applicant’s lawyers have provided a first 
draft;  

(iv) The applicant has instructed architects to produce amended plans to address the 
“outstanding design points in the Committee report” and which are referred to in 
the Committee resolution. 

 

1.03 The application is being reported back to Committee now in order, and as set out 
above, to agree an amendment to draft condition (37)(cinema and restaurant operating 
hours) and to amend / clarify the matters delegated to officers by the Planning 
Committee (when the application was considered at the meeting on 16 March 2015). 

 
2.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES (UPDATE) 

 
2.01 The comments received since the application as first reported to Committee from 

Highways England, Kent County Council (with respect to developer contributions) and 
the Council’s Environmental Protection Team Leader are dealt with elsewhere in the 
report.  

 
2.02 Two new consultation responses have also been received from third parties since the 

application was first reported to Planning Committee. New issues (in addition to those 
summarised in the original Committee report) are raised as follows: 

 
- Concern is expressed that existing car parks in the town centre may be closed 

before a new car park is provided; if this happens, there would be an adverse 
impact on the shopping environment in the High Street.   

 
3.0 APPRAISAL 
 
3.01 Condition (37) – the wording of the condition in the report Members considered in 

March 2015 was as follows: 
 

“The use of the cinema and restaurants (both within Block A and Block B) hereby 
permitted shall be restricted to the hours of 0700 to 2400 on any day. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.” 

 

Page 68



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

66 
 

3.02 It has subsequently been advised that the prospective cinema operator requires later 
opening hours, until 0300. 

 
3.03 The applicant has provided a letter that clarifies what is sought and provides a 

justification for it. An extract reads as follows: 
 

“I understand that the present permitted hours run between 07:00 and 24:00 on 
any day. Although we would expect that, our normal operating hours would fall 
between these hours. There will be occasions when we would consider i t  
appropriate to open outside of these times. 
 
For example, many cinemas operate late show performances on Friday and 
Saturday nights. These shows will often start between 11pm and midnight. If 
the feature is a long running film, for example the recent Star Wars and James 
Bond movies, these are close to three hours in length. This then leads to a 
finish time of towards 3am. 
 
It would not be expected that during weekday evenings, that movies would run 
after midnight, however we would l i k e the flexibility to participate in opening 
late show previews. Again, Star Wars is a good example where moviegoers 
across the UK went to special screening at one minute past midnight on Friday 
mornings. The fans see the kudos in being the first to see the latest releases! 
 
We fully understand that, as licensees, we have an obligation to ensure that our 
audiences respect the neighbourhood and local community and we would 
react to any complaints or issues caused by any late running that occurred at 
the cinema. 

 
In light of this information, may I please request that the cinema permitted 
hours are extended on a regular basis to 3am following Friday and Saturday 
evening screenings and that, on no more than 12 occasions per year, that the 
cinema be permitted to open until 3am following any other day of the week 
(excluding Sundays).” 

 
3.04 Members will note the proximity of the proposed cinema and restaurants to the existing 

dwellings on Station Street, which will face the rear of the cinema and restaurants. This 
part of the development is known as Site 4 and Members will note paragraphs 1.14 to 
1.18 of the original report – where this site is described – and paragraphs 2.22 to 2.30 
– where the development proposed on Site 4 is explained (see Appendix 1). 

 
3.05 Condition (37) was imposed in order to prevent the operation of the cinema and 

restaurants at night from potentially impacting unacceptably on residential amenity.  
 
3.06 I have very carefully considered the potential implications of the proposed late opening 

for residential amenity. 
 
3.07 I have also consulted the Environmental Protection Team Leader, and an extract from 

his initial response reads as follows: 
 
 “As you may recall, my initial concern was the possibility of up to a couple of hundred 

people exiting the cinema at anti-social hours perhaps affecting Station Street 
residents. It now appears that this is a common feature of many cinemas, especially at 
the weekend and particularly when long ‘blockbuster’ films are shown. It is common for 
these films to be screened from 23.00/24.00 onwards. 

 

Page 69



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

67 
 

Coupled with the fact that I am told there are some licensed premises nearby that are 
open at these sorts of times and potentially generating anti-social noise, the effect of 
such numbers would be reduced. Consequently, I raise no objection to this proposal.” 

 
3.08 He subsequently provided a further response, following correspondence about 

whether a planning condition (s) should be imposed in respect of the number of 
screens able to operate after midnight and / or potentially limiting the number of people 
that could visit the cinema after midnight: 

 
 “Your latest thoughts seem to make perfect sense. The clinching fact from my 
perspective is the location of the exit, being away from residential properties. I agree 
that it is highly unlikely that all these screens would be open at once at these hours. 
 
An attempt to impose any condition restricting numbers I agree would be 
unenforceable, therefore I have no problems with your latest thoughts.” 

 
3.09 In the light of the above, and noting that the entrance / exit to the cinema will be on the 

south-eastern corner of the building – and therefore not adjacent to existing dwellings – 
I consider that it is acceptable to amend the proposed operating hours for the cinema. 
As set out below, conditions (45) and (46) will govern the operation of the cinema, 
which will be able to operate until 03.00 on any Friday night / early Saturday morning 
and on any Saturday / early Sunday morning, but will be restricted to a maximum of 
twelve 03.00 finishes on Sunday to Thursday evenings in any year. 

   
3.10 With regard to the Section 106 Agreement, Members will note the paragraphs in the 

original Committee report (namely 9.61 to 9.69 and 7.15 to 7.18) that deal with this.  
 
3.11 The contributions sought for opens space and wheeled bins remain unchanged (see 

Paragraphs 7.17 and 7.18 respectively of the original report). The monitoring fee will 
be £23,847.68.    

 
3.12 With regard to the contributions sought by Kent County Council, initially £282,614 had 

been sought (as set out at Paragraph 7.16 of the original Committee report). However, 
KCC have re-considered their requirements as a result of this scheme and now seek 
as total of £190,175.09 to be divided between: 

 
- Sittingbourne Hub project (£73,269.17); 
- Primary education (£56,663.04); 
- Secondary education (£56,635.20); and 
- Youth Services (£3,607.68)  

 
3.13 In addition, authority is sought to add an additional item, namely a footpath from the 

eastern end of the proposed multi-storey car park to the High Street, between 
Numbers 48 and 50. The path would be designed and implemented by the Council, but 
paid for by the developer. The current estimate of cost is £64,818.83. 

 
3.14 With regard to other aspects of the Section 106 agreement where there is an update 

since the original Committee report, as reported verbally at the Committee in March 
2015, a Travel Plan is not required. 

 
3.15 With regard to “claw-back”, see Paragraph 9.67(i) of the original report. This related to 

a possible payment, if the profit margin on the development exceeded an agreed 
threshold, to be spent on off-site affordable housing provision.  I understand that 
potential “claw-back” of surplus profit is to be dealt with under the Development 

Page 70



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

68 
 

Agreement between the Council and the developer. As such, a “claw-back” 
mechanism will not be included in the Section 106 agreement.  

 
3.16 With regard to the proposals for ‘public realm’ at Site 4 - which includes the proposed 

square in front of the entrance to the railway station – as set out in the extract from the 
minute of the meeting on 16th March 2015 (see Paragraph 1.01 above), authority has 
been delegated to officers to secure “…further details in the form of scaled drawings, 
showing the raised platform and metal enclosing feature to the north-east corner of the 
public square…”  The applicant would like this matter to be dealt with by planning 
condition instead. I consider that this is reasonable, and condition (12) below has been 
amended accordingly.   

 
3.17 As set out at Paragraph 1.02 (iv) above, and further to the original Committee 

resolution, I am awaiting the formal submission of amended plans to address the 
outstanding design points. However, the applicant has submitted plans for informal 
comment and has identified some other changes that they would like to make to the 
proposals, particularly for the apartments proposed on Sites 1, 2 and 3.     

 
3.18 With regard to Sites 1, 2 and 3, delegated authority is sought to agree amendments – 

at such time as amended plans are formally submitted – to:  
 

(i) The amount and disposition of car parking provision, including the omission of 
visitor car parking to the front of Site 1; 

(ii) The mix of 1- and 2-bedroom apartments;  
(iii) The floor areas of the apartments proposed; and  
(iv) Changes to the number of apartments proposed.   

 
3.19 In due course, draft condition (2) below – and those other conditions that refer to 

specific drawings - will need to be updated to refer to the new plan numbers as a result 
of these amendments.  

 
3.20 The design of the passenger drop-off area for Sittingbourne train station was one 

of the matters delegated to officers to resolve, in conjunction with Network Rail and 
KCC Highways and Transportation. Discussions are on-going with both organisations, 
and the passenger drop-off area will now be provided as part of the re-configuration of 
the existing Network Rail car parking area just to the east of the railway station, and 
outside the site boundary for this planning application.    

 
3.21 The delivery of this area by the developer will be secured as part of the land 

agreements with Network Rail and South east trains under the land swap, rather than 
being tied into the planning permission. 

 
4.0 CONCLUSION 
 
4.01 I consider that the amendments described above – namely to planning conditions 

(including additional ones), Section 106 items, arrangements for Public Realm on Site 
4, the apartments on Sites 1, 2 and 3 and the passenger drop-off area for train station 
passengers – are acceptable. 

 
4.02 The proposed development is acceptable, and as set out above, Members’ authority is 

sought to resolve the outstanding points and to enter into the Section 106 Agreement.  
 
5.0 RECOMMENDATION – that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as 

set out below, the negotiation of the Section 106 agreement (including the updates set 
out above) and the agreement of amended drawings to address the design points, 

Page 71



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

69 
 

including delegation to agree reasonable amendments to conditions and the wording 
of the Section 106 agreement as required.  

 
CONDITIONS 
 

1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted. 

 
Reasons: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved drawings: 
 

General 14.25.101 P0; PBA highway drawings:  
27744_5502_011 A (Pages 1 and 2), 
_011 A (Site 3), _011 B (Site 4), _011 A 
(Site 5), _011 A (Site 6), /016. 

Site 1 14.35.110 P3, .111 P2, .112 P2, .113 
P2 
 

Site 2 14.35.120 P2, .121 P2, .122 P2, .123 
P2 

Site 3 14.35.130 P2, .131 P2, .132 P2, .133 
P2 

Site 4 13003B_101 H, _102 E, _103 F, _104 
C, _105 B, _106 B, _108 C, _110 F 

Site 5 13003C-102 Rev F, -106, -107, _108 
Rev A, _109 rev A, -110 rev A. 

Site 6 13003A_102 Rev D, _103 Rev B, -104 
Rev C, _105 Rev A, _106 Rev B, _107 
Rev A, _108, _109 

 
Reasons: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 
Pre Commencement 
 
(3)   No development shall take place until a Construction and Environmental Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. This shall include details relating to:  
 
(i) The control of noise and vibration emissions from construction activities 

including groundwork and the formation of infrastructure, along with 
arrangements to monitor noise emissions from the development site during the 
construction phase; 

(ii) The loading and unloading and storage of plant and materials on site; 
(iii) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
(iv) The control and suppression of noise including arrangements to monitor dust 

emissions from the development site during the construction phase; 
(v) Measures for controlling pollution/sedimentation and responding to any 

spillages/incidents during the construction phase; 

Page 72



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

70 
 

(vi) The control of surface water drainage from parking and hard-standing areas 
including the design and construction of oil interceptors (including during the 
operational phase); 

(vii) The use if any of impervious bases and impervious bund walls for the storage of 
oils, fuels or chemicals on-site;  

(viii) The location and size of temporary parking and details of operatives and 
construction vehicle loading, off-loading and turning and personal, operatives 
and visitor parking; and  

(ix) The timing of the proposed works to the public highway that will directly affect 
traffic movements and/or require traffic management measures, which shall be 
programmed such that no works take place during the month of December and 
the first week of January and over the Easter long weekend.  

 
Reasons:  To ensure the development does not prejudice conditions of residential 
amenity and highway safety and convenience through adverse levels of noise and 
disturbance during construction.  

 
(4)  No development shall take place on each site until full details of the method of disposal 

of foul and surface waters – to be drained using SUDS systems unless demonstrated 
not to be feasible, and to ensure that there is no surface water drainage on to the public 
highway - have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority for 
that site. The approved details shall then be implemented before the first use of the 
development hereby permitted on that site.  

 
Reasons: In order to prevent pollution of water supplies, in the interests of 
sustainable drainage, and to ensure that surface water does not discharge on to the 
public highway. 

 
(5) Notwithstanding the proposed phasing as set out on Phasing Plan V2, a phasing plan 

for the delivery of the six sites and the associated highway works shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development is 
commenced. The development shall then be implemented strictly in accordance with 
the approved phasing scheme. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of ensuring that the development is carried out in a 
co-ordinated manner. 

 
(6)  No development shall take place on any of the six sites, until the applicant, or their 

agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written specification and timetable for the 
particular site which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly 
examined and recorded. 

 
(7)  No development shall take place on a particular site until full details of both hard and 

soft landscape works for that particular site have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include existing trees, 
shrubs and other features, planting schedules of plants (which shall include indigenous 
and berry-bearing species), noting species, plant sizes and numbers where 
appropriate, size of tree pits, measures to prevent tree vandalism, trellis / wiring 
system for climbing plants on the multi-storey car park, means of enclosure, hard 
surfacing materials, and an implementation programme.  
 

Page 73



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

71 
 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 
(8) Notwithtstanding the details set out in the ‘Ecological Enhancement Proposals 

(February 2015)’ draft document, full details of proposed ecological enhancements 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority for each 
site before development is commenced. The agreed measures shall then be 
implemented in full for that site before it is first used / occupied. The agreed measures 
shall be retained in perpetuity. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of protecting and enhancing biodiversity. 

 
(9)  No development shall take place until details of the lighting columns, the type and 

luminance of the lighting units with glare shields and details of lux levels both inside 
and outside the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall then be implemented in full accordance 
with the approved details.  

 
Reasons:  In the interests of residential amenity and minimising disturbance to 
bats. 

 
(10)  No development on Sites 1, 2 or 3 shall commence until such time as a minimum of 55 

temporary car parking spaces have been provided and are available for public use on 
Site 6. This provision shall be in accordance with details that shall first have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall be 
retained until such time as the multi-storey car park on Site 4 is completed and open to 
the general public. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of ensuring that sufficient public car parking provision is 
available in Sittingbourne.    

 
(11)  No development on Site 4 shall commence, until any necessary Traffic Regulation 

Orders to allow two-way traffic movements on Station Street, to the south of Site 4, and 
the High Street and West Street, to the south-west of Site 4 have been made and any 
highway works required as a consequence have been fully implemented. 

 
Reasons:   In the interests of highway safety. 

 
(12) No development shall be commenced on Sites 4 or 5 until a detailed scheme setting 

out full details of the raised platform and metal enclosing feature to the north-east 
corner of the public square, paving, street lighting, bins, seating and signage for those 
sites has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

 
Reasons:  In the interests of visual amenity. 

 
13)  Prior to the commencement of development on Sites 1, 2, 3 or 4, details of the external 

finishing materials to be used on that particular site shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the construction on that particular site 
shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

  

Page 74



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

72 
 

14)  No development shall take place until a remediation strategy that includes the following 
components to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each 
be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

 

  all previous uses 

  potential contaminants associated with those uses 

    a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and  
   receptors 

    potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
 

2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off 
site. 

 
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in 

(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full 
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  

 
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  

 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.  

 
Reasons:  To protect groundwater which is highly vulnerable at this site due to the 
Principle Aquifer and being situated within a source protection zone 1. There is also a 
requirement to comply with the NPPF, paragraph 109 states that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both 
new and existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

 
(15)  No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take place until a 

verification report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of 
sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan 
to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include 
any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified 
in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented as approved. 

 
Reasons:  To protect groundwater and comply with NPPF. 

 
(16)  No development shall take place until a programme for the suppression of dust during 

the demolition of existing buildings and construction of the development has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The measures shall be 
employed throughout the period of demolition and construction unless any variation 
has been approved by the Local Planning Authority  

 
Reasons: In the interests of residential amenity. 

Page 75



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

73 
 

 
(17)  No development shall take place on the sites for which noise mitigation is required 

(namely Sites 1,2, 3 and 4) until a noise mitigation scheme of measures has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
measures shall then be incorporated in the development and retained in perpetuity.  

 
Reason:  In the interests of ensuring that unacceptable noise impacts do not 
result from the development. 

 
(18)  Adequate precautions - in accordance with a scheme of measures that shall first have 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority - shall be 
taken during the period of demolition and construction to prevent the deposit of mud 
and/or other debris on the public highway. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. 

 
(19)  No development shall take place until a tree protection plan and arboricultural method 

statement in accordance with the recommendations of BS 5837:2012 have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The method 
statement shall detail implementation of any aspect of the development that has the 
potential to result in the loss of or damage to trees, including their roots, and shall take 
account of site access, demolition and construction activities, foundations, service runs 
and level changes.  It shall also detail any tree works necessary to implement the 
approved scheme.    

 
Reason: To safeguard existing trees to be retained and to ensure a satisfactory 
setting and external appearance to the development. 

 
(20)   Notwithstanding the information set out in the ‘Sustainability Report’ and the ‘Energy 

Statement’, details of the package of on-site renewable energy generating measures 
to be incorporated in the development and the other sustainable design and 
construction measures proposed for the development hereby approved shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any part of the 
development is commenced.  And the agreed measures shall be fully implemented for 
each of the buildings before the particular building is first used.  The installed 
measures shall then be retained in perpetuity. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of maximising the use of on-site renewable energy and 
sustainable development. 
 

(21)  Details of the proposed refuse and recycling storage arrangements for each of the 
buildings hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is commenced, and the agreed provision shall be 
retained in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   

 

Reasons:  In the interests of visual and residential amenity and to encourage 
recycling. 

 
(22)  Details in the form of cross-sectional drawings showing the existing Ordnance Survey 

Datum heights through each of the six sites (or such other information as may be 
agreed to by the Local Planning Authority) and of the proposed site levels shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before work 
commences and the development on each of the six sites shall be completed strictly in 
accordance with the approved levels. 

Page 76



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

74 
 

 
Reasons: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to 
the sloping nature of the sites   

 
(23)  During construction provision shall be made on each of the sites, to the satisfaction of 

the Local Planning Authority, to accommodate operatives' and construction vehicles 
loading, off-loading or turning on the site.  

 
 Reasons:   In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity.  
 
(24)  Prior to any of the works commencing, details of parking for site personnel / operatives 

/ visitors, on each of the sites, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority and thereafter shall be provided and retained throughout the 
construction of the development. The approved parking shall be provided prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

 
 Reasons:   In the interests of highway safety. 

 
(25)  The proposed roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, 

drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang 
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, driveway 
gradients, car parking and street furniture for each site shall be laid out and 
constructed in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and public amenity. 
 
(26)  Prior to first residential occupation of Site 1(shown on drawing number 14.35.110 P3), 

the pedestrian - cycle link from St Michael's Road to Laburnum Place, between the 
two development blocks on Site 1, shall be provided in accordance with full details 
that shall f irst have been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority . 

 
Reason:  In the interests of encouraging sustainable transport. 

 
(27)  None of the developments hereby approved shall be first occupied until details of 

covered cycle parking for that site have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The space and the shelters shall then be retained for the 
purpose of cycle parking in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: In the interests of encouraging the use of non-car modes of travel. 

 
Post Commencement: 
 
(28)  The retail floorspace hereby approved on Site 6 shall not be sub-divided into more than 

four individual retail units. Each individual retail unit shall be a minimum of 510 square 
metres gross floorspace. 

 
 Reasons:  In order to protect the vitality and viability of Sittingbourne town centre 

and other centres. 
 
(29)  The development on Sites 5 and 6 shall be finished using facing materials as specified 

on the relevant drawings hereby approved. 
 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

Page 77



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

75 
 

 
(30) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 

the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation 
strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination 
shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reasons: The site is located in a highly sensitive location with regards to 
groundwater in that it is underlain by a principal aquifer and located in Source 
Protection Zone 1.  To ensure any possible land contamination related to historic site 
activities is addressed in line with current planning guidance on sustainable 
development.  
 

(31)  No mechanical ventilation, filtration equipment, air conditioning, heating, ventilation or 
refrigeration equipment shall be installed on the buildings hereby approved on Site 4 
until full details of its design, siting, discharge points and predicted acoustic 
performance have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  To safeguard the amenities of nearby residential properties. 

 
(32)  No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground at the site is permitted other 

than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be 
given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approval details. 

 
Reasons:  The discharge of clean roof water to ground is acceptable within Source 
Protection Zone 1 provided that all roof water down-pipes are sealed against pollutants 
entering the system from surface run-off, effluent disposal or other forms of discharge. 
The method of discharge must not create new pathways for pollutants to groundwater 
or mobilise contaminants already in the ground. 

 
(33)  Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be 

permitted other than with the express written consent of the local planning authority, 
which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that 
there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reasons:  Unless appropriate managed piling on land affected by contamination 
may introduce pathways by which contamination can penetrate and pollute the aquifer.  
 

(34)  The cinema building (Part of Block A) on Site 4 (shown on drawing 13003B_110 F) 
hereby approved shall be used for the purpose of leisure and assembly falling within 
Use Class D2 of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended).  

 
Reasons:  In the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and 
convenience.  

 
  

Page 78



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

76 
 

(35)  No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any 
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times: 

 
Monday to Friday 0730 – 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 – 1300 hours unless in 
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
(36)   No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall take 

place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor any other day except 
between the following times:- 

 
Monday to Friday 0900-1700hours unless in association with an emergency or with the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
(37)  The use of the restaurants (both within Block A and Block B) hereby permitted shall be 

restricted to the hours of 0700 to 2400 on any day. 
 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.  
 
(38)  The use of the retail units, on Site 6, hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of 

7 am to 11pm on weekdays and Saturdays, and 1000 to 1700 on Sundays. 
 

Reasons: In the interests of the amenities of the area.  
 
(39)  All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details.  The works approved for each site shall be carried out prior to the first 
beneficial occupation of any part of the development on that particular site or in 
accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

 
(40)  Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme for each site (and the street 

tree scheme for St Michael’s Road), any trees or shrubs that are removed, dying, being 
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within ten years of planting shall be 
replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority, and within the next planting season, unless otherwise 
agreed. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area, and in recognition of 
the important role of tree and shrub planting in this development. 

 
(41)   The trees shown on the plans hereby approved as "existing trees to be retained" shall 

be retained and maintained.  Any trees removed, dying, being severely damaged or 
becoming seriously diseased within ten years of the date of this permission shall be 
replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.  

 
  

Page 79



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

77 
 

(42)  The multi-storey car park (MCP) hereby approved shall not be first used until a scheme 
of street tree planting for St Michael’s Road - on the section between the MCP and the 
junction with Crown Quay Lane – has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and the agreed tree planting has been completed.   

 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity.  

 
(43)  The area shown on the submitted plans as car parking and turning space, on each of 

the six sites, shall be kept available for such use at all times and no permanent 
development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) 
or not, shall be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude 
vehicular access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the 
occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby permitted. 

 
Reasons: Development without adequate provision for the parking of cars is likely 
to lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users and in a manner detrimental to 
highway safety and amenity. 
 

(44)  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987 (as amended) (or an Order revoking or re-enacting that Order) no 
more than 50% of the retail floorspace hereby approved on Site 6, shall be used for 
open comparison sales. The remaining retail floorspace shall be used for the sale of 
the following goods: furniture; carpets and flooring coverings; DIY; gardening and 
leisure; car and cycle products and accessories; pets and pet accessories; homeware 
and soft furnishings; home textiles; electrical goods; convenience goods and domestic 
appliances. 
 
Reason: To protect the viability and vitality of Sittingbourne town centre and 
other centres 

 
(45) The use of the cinema (within Block A on Site 4) hereby permitted shall be restricted to 

the hours of 0700 to 0300 on any Friday (early Saturday morning) or Saturday (early 
Sunday morning) and on all other days the cinema shall close at 2400, except on 
twelve occasions per annum – records of which shall be made available to the Local 
Planning Authority on request – when the cinema will be permitted to operate until 
0300. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.  

 
(46) The premises shall be used for the purpose of a cinema and for no other purpose, 

including any other purposes in Class D2 of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 

 
Reasons: In the interests of the amenities of the area. 

 
COUNCIL’S APPROACH: 
 
The Council recognises the advice in paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and seeks to work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner by 
offering a pre-application advice service; having a duty planner service; and seeking to find 
solutions to any obstacles to approval of applications having due regard to the responses to 
consultation, where it can reasonably be expected that amendments to an application will 
result in an approval without resulting in a significant change to the nature of the application 

Page 80



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

78 
 

and the application can then be amended and determined in accordance with statutory 
timescales. 
 
In this case the application was found to be acceptable, and presented to Members with a 
recommendation to approve subject to resolution of outstanding issues.   
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1) As the construction of the development may affect breeding birds, which are protected 

under the Wildlife and Countryside Act, all works must either be carried out outside the bird 
breeding season (March to August inclusive) or in conjunction with an ecologist.   

 
2) The applicant should enter into formal agreements with Southern Water in respect of 

providing the necessary sewerage infrastructure and connection to the water supply in 
order to service the development. Please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, 
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW. www.southernwater.co.uk. 

 

3) Traffic Regulation Orders for converting parts of Station Street and West Street to 
two-way traffic, revisions to parking bays and proposed banned manoeuvres will need to 
be concluded before the planning consent can be implemented. 

 
4) Stopping-up Orders of various areas of highway have not yet been confirmed and will 

be essential before the planning permission can be implemented. 
 
5) It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved 

is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are 
obtained and  that  the  limits  of  highway  boundary  are  clearly  established  in  
order  to  avoid  any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. The 
applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 

aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore 
important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this 
aspect of the works prior to commencement on site. 

 

 
6) Planning permission does not convey any approval for construction of works within the 

highway for which a statutory licence must be obtained. Applicants should contact Kent 
County Council - Highways and Transportation (web: 
www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport.aspx or telephone: 03000 418181) in order to 
obtain the necessary Application Pack. 

 
Case Officer: James Wilson 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – report to Planning Committee on 16 March 2015 
Appendix 2 – minute of meeting on 16 March 2015 

Page 81

http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport.aspx


Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

79 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 82



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

80 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 83



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

81 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 84



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

82 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 85



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

83 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 86



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

84 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 87



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

85 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 88



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

86 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 89



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

87 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 90



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

88 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 91



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

89 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 92



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

90 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 93



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

91 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 94



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

92 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 95



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

93 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 96



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

94 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 97



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

95 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 98



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

96 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 99



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

97 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 100



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

98 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 101



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

99 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 102



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

100 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 103



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

101 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 104



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

102 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 105



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

103 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 106



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

104 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 107



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

105 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 108



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

106 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 109



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

107 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 110



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

108 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 111



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

109 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 112



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

110 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 113



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

111 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 114



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

112 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 115



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

113 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 116



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

114 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 117



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

115 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 118



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

116 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 119



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

117 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 120



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

118 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 121



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

119 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 122



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

120 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 123



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

121 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 124



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

122 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 125



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

123 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 126



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

124 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 127



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

125 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 128



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

126 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 129



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

127 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 130



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

128 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 131



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

129 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 132



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

130 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 133



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

131 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 134



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

132 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 135



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

133 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 136



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

134 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 137



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

135 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 138



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

136 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 139



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

137 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 140



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

138 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 141



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

139 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 142



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

140 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 143



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

141 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 144



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

142 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 145



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

143 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Page 146



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

144 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

 

Page 147



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

145 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Page 148



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

146 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Page 149



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 1.1 

147 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Page 150



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.1 

148 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 MARCH 2016 PART 2 
 
Report of the Head of Planning 
 
PART 2 
 
Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended 
  
 

2.1 REFERENCE NO - 15/507023/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Retention of chicken sheds, associated outbuildings, storage and toilet/kitchenette facility. Ancillary 
to personal agricultural/leisure use. 

ADDRESS Dukes Shaw, Bexon Lane, Bredgar, Kent, ME9 8HG   

RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE 

WARD West Downs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Bredgar 

APPLICANT Mr Peter Eastland 

AGENT  

DECISION DUE DATE 

10/11/15 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

16/10/15 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

SW/14/0573 Change of use from woodland to woodland with 
leisure including erection of associated 
outbuildings  

Withdrawn 

by applicant 

03.08.15 

 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 This small application site comprises a very narrow band of mainly deciduous 

woodland located within the countryside and the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. The site is bounded to the east and west by farm land, but shows 
signs of previous commercial uses, perhaps quarrying, with varying levels and some 
scrap metal evident amongst undergrowth, both of which the applicant is gradually 
clearing. A two-storey detached dwelling house is located on the opposite side of 
Bexon Lane to the south of the site, and the long-established Bexon Lane scout 
activity site is located to the west of this neighbouring dwelling.  

 
1.02 The site is situated between the M2 to the north (which it abuts), and Bexon Lane to 

the south where it has a gated access from. The site contains several unauthorised 
buildings located close to the M2, but due to the woodland vegetation, these buildings 
are shielded from public views. 

 
1.03 The buildings include a greenhouse, a chicken shed/run, a feed store and attached 

wood store, a storage building with kitchenette with composting WC, an outdoor 
covered seating and cooking area, and a pond (bathtub). The buildings are all sited 
within a fenced enclosure at the far northern (motorway) end of the site and made 
mainly of timber and corrugated metal roof. Rainwater is collected from roofs for 
irrigation and refreshments. 

 

Page 151



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.1 

149 
 

1.04 A small caravan was recently stationed on the site, but this has subsequently more 
recently been removed and does not form part of the application. 

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 The proposal is a retrospective application which seeks planning permission for the 

retention of the existing buildings for personal agricultural and leisure use. 
 
2.02 The applicant does not propose any external and internal alterations, or to extend any 

of the existing buildings. The proposal refers solely to the retention of the existing 
buildings for agricultural and leisure use. 

 
2.03 The existing gate, fences, driveway and woodland will remain without alterations on 

site. New fencing and gates might be established without planning permission 
depending on their height. 

 
3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty KENT DOWNS 
 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Maidstone AONB directive 
 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) 

 
4.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012 and 

re-issued in August 2015 with amendments. The NPPF provides national guidance for 
Local Planning Authorities on plan making and determining planning applications 
which may affect the natural environment. A presumption in favour of sustainable 
development runs throughout the document and is an important part of the 
plan-making process and in determining planning applications. 

 
4.02 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) was issued as a web-based 

resource in 2014 and is intended to assist practitioners with regard to the 
interpretation of legislation in an easily and understandable way. The NPPG provides 
guidance on how Local Planning Authorities should assess applications which affects 
the natural environment. 

 
4.03 Regard has been had to all the guidance set out within the NPPF and NPPG. In 

relation to developments within protected landscape areas, Paragraph 115, Section 
11 of NPPF are particularly pertinent. Paragraph 115 states that: 

 
 “Great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in National 

Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest 
status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. The conservation of 
wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations in all these areas, and 
should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads.” 

 
  

Page 152



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.1 

150 
 

Swale Borough Local Plan 2008  
 

4.04 Saved policy E1 (General Development Criteria) sets out standards applicable to all 
developments, seeking that they should be well sited, appropriate in scale, design and 
appearance with a high standard of landscaping, and have safe pedestrian and 
vehicular access whilst avoiding unacceptable consequences in highway terms. 

  
4.05 The application site lies within the countryside. As such saved policy E6 (The 

Countryside) is particular relevant to the current planning application. Policy E6 seeks 
to protect the quality, character and amenity of the countryside, and states that 
development will not be permitted outside rural settlements in the interests of 
countryside conservation, unless it relates to an exceptional need for a rural location. 

 
4.06  Policy E9 (Protecting the Quality and Character of the Borough’s Landscape) seeks to 

protect, conserve or enhance the areas of high landscape value within the Borough. It 
states that:  

 
“Within the countryside and rural settlements, the Borough Council will expect 
development proposals to: 

a. be informed by and sympathetic to local landscape character and quality; 
b. consider the guidelines contained in the Council’s Landscape Character 

Assessment and Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document, so as to 
contribute to the restoration, creation, reinforcement and conservation, as 
appropriate, of the landscape likely to be affected; 

c. safeguard or enhance landscape elements that contribute to the 
distinctiveness of the locality or the Borough; 

d. remove features which detract from the character of the landscape; and 
e. minimise the adverse impacts of development upon landscape character.” 

 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
  

4.07  The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD (2011) seeks to 
support landscape and other policies of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008. The 
SPD states that there is a need to retain pattern and diversity in the landscape of the 
Borough to ensure that character and local distinctiveness are maintained. The 
Borough Council needs to ensure that landscapes are visually satisfying, and give 
enjoyment to those who visit them and those who live and work in them. The SPD 
states that the document should be analysed to gain an impression of whether 
development would be appropriate and, if so, how it might be accommodated within 
the landscape and mitigated sensitively. 

 
5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Swale Footpaths Group 
 
5.01 The Swale Footpaths Group states that there are public rights of way just outside the 

site, though neither should be affected by the application.  
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.01  Bredgar Parish Council states that this is a revised version of an application that was 

objected to by the Parish Council in 2014. With respect to this application, the Parish 
Council objects to the proposal based on the following reasons: 

 

Page 153

http://www.swale.gov.uk/examination-document-library/


 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.1 

151 
 

1. The character of the long established woodland is being lost and the proposed 
structures do not appear to be of a quality fitting for the AONB; 

 
2. The dates given on the application indicate that the development took place in May 
2009. However, this date is inconsistent with the observations of the Parish Council 
and the Swale Borough Council. 
 
3. The Parish Council is not aware of any “general acceptance of some outbuildings 
assurance” as referred to in section 5 of the application form; they seek clarification on 
this point. 
 
4. In relation to section 13 of the application form – Biodiversity and Geological 
Conservation: the Parish Council wonders if a survey has been conducted to support 
the assertion in part (a) that no protected or priority species are present on the site. 
Turning to part (b) of section 13, the answer given appears incorrect, as the site is part 
of an area designated as AONB; 
 
5. There is concern that the property may be used for unauthorised residential 
purposes, or should be site be abandoned at some point, constituting further 
deterioration to the appearance of the woodland, and the designated AONB. 
 

6.02 In general, the Parish Council objects to the proposal in respect to the potential 
detriment to the AONB and the inconsistencies in the application. They have 
suggested that a site inspection would be appropriate. 

 
7.0 APPRAISAL 

 
7.01 The site is located outside any built-up area boundary and within the Kent Downs 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), where the principle of development is 
normally restricted, as described in the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008. On this 
basis, the main considerations in determining this planning application are related to 
whether the proposal would impact on the AONB and rural amenity.  

 
7.02 Both Section 11 of the NPPF and Policy E9 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 

state that proposals should protect or enhance the natural environment, be 
appropriate to the landscape likely to be affected, and where possible mitigate 
adverse impacts it may cause on the landscape and biodiversity. The development, 
subject to this appraisal, is located within the AONB, and therefore should 
demonstrate minimal impact possible on the local natural environment.  

 
7.03 The buildings situated on the site are small units, that host agricultural and leisure 

related uses, such as raised beds, horticulture, chicken sheds, storage and cooking 
areas. There is also a small kitchenette with WC that serves as a support building to 
the owner when he is on site.  

 
7.04 Because of the location, scale and size of the buildings, and the existing woodland 

around these buildings, they cannot be seen from public views or rights of way. 
Bredgar Parish Council has stated in their consultation response that they have some 
concerns regarding the design of the existing buildings. In my view, I do not consider 
the design of the buildings to be of great concern, as they cannot be seen from the 
street due to the existing woodland. Additionally, I consider the buildings are of simple 
rustic design, and adequate as ancillary buildings for agricultural and leisure use. 

  

Page 154



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.1 

152 
 

 
7.05 In general I believe that the existing buildings are appropriate to the local 

environment. They are suitable for the location and therefore I do not consider them 
harmful for overall visual amenity and positive qualities and values of the AONB. As 
such, the proposal complies with Policy E9 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008, 
Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD, and Para. 115 and 116 
of the NPPF.  

 
7.06 The majority of the use proposed appears to be for horticulture and woodland 

management, with related structures. The additional leisure use as proposed would 
not normally be permitted in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, but due to its 
particular context, in which the site and surrounded areas show an established 
agricultural use, I do not consider that the proposal would significantly affect the 
AONB. However, to enable the situation to be kept under review I suggest that a 
temporary planning permission is appropriate and that a condition should be included 
in order to mitigate potential risks to the local environment.  

 
7.07    In general, I consider that the agricultural and leisure use of the site and the buildings 

are appropriate to the locality. I do not consider that the proposal would have a 
negative impact on rural amenity.  

 
7.08  In order to ensure that the no residential use would be established on the site and that 

the existing kitchenette should not be used as a  residential building, a condition is 
recommended below, to safeguard the site for solely agricultural and leisure uses in 
accordance with Policy E6.  

 
8.0 CONCLUSION 
 
8.01 The application is considered to be in accordance with the Paragraph 115 and 116 of 

NPPF with regard to developments within Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
8.02 Overall, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policies E9 and Swale 

Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD (2011) as it does not result in 
harmful impact on the local landscape.  

 
8.03 The proposal is also considered to have minimal impact on rural amenity with regards 

to Policies E1 and E6 of the Swale Borough Council Local Plan 2008. A condition to 
exclude residential use is recommended and on this basis I recommend that planning 
permission should be granted for a temporary period of 3 years.  

 
 
9.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
 
(1)  The use of the buildings hereby permitted shall cease and the site restored to its 

previous condition on or before three years from the date this permission relates.   
 

Reasons: In order that the position may be reviewed at the end of the period 
stated. 

 

Page 155

http://www.swale.gov.uk/examination-document-library/
http://www.swale.gov.uk/examination-document-library/


 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.1 

153 
 

(2) No building hereby permitted shall be occupied at any time for residential purposes or 
as a single dwellinghouse in Class C3 of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  

  
 Reasons: In the interests of the amenities of the area. 
 
 
The Council's approach to this application: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 

 Offering pre-application advice. 

 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 

 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

 
In this instance: 
 
The application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was required. 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 

Page 156



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

154 
 

2.2 REFERENCE NO -  15/510505/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
Construction of a new community centre with adjoining changing room facilities and associated 
landscaping works 

ADDRESS Land North East Of Barley House Great Easthall Way Sittingbourne Kent ME10 
3TF   

RECOMMENDATION Approve, subject to the comments of Southern Water Services and the 
resolution of the ecology issue raised by KCC Ecology (closing date 14/3/16) 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
The proposal would provide a dedicated community centre within the wider Great Easthall 
housing development which would be appropriately sited, of an acceptable design and would 
not impact unacceptably on either residential or highway amenities.   

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 
The application has been submitted by Swale Borough Council 
 

WARD Murston PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL  APPLICANT Swale Borough 
Council 
AGENT BBM Sustainable 
Design 

DECISION DUE DATE 
09/03/16 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 
09/03/16 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

SW/02/1180 Residential development, employment 
development, open space and supporting 
facilities 

Approved 16/07/2004 

This application granted outline planning permission for development at Great Easthall.  
Members will be aware that, since the grant of the outline permission as summarised above 
there have been numerous approvals of reserved matters for housing and development of the 
wider site has been underway for a number of years, and approximately 500 dwellings have 
been completed to-date out of an eventual total of approximately 800 dwellings. 

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 The application site currently comprises an area of undeveloped land close to the 

north eastern boundary of the wider Great East Hall residential development.  The 
shape of the site is broadly rectangular measuring approximately 60m x 55m.  The 
site is bounded to the west, south west and south by Great Easthall Way with 
undeveloped land immediately to the north and east.  

 
1.02 The plot is a largely flat open grassed area with a raised bund, approximately 0.5m – 

1m in height close to the boundary with Great Easthall Way.  There are a number of 
small trees and shrubs along the outer perimeter of the site. 

 
1.03 Residential dwellings face the site to the south (Barley House and No.s 2, 4 and 6 

Great Easthall Way. 
 
1.04 The masterplan for the site (approved pursuant to SW/02/1180) envisages 

Neighbourhood Centre uses on the land, including the provision of a Community Hall. 
  

Page 157



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

155 
 

2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 This application seeks planning permission for the erection of a community centre 

building and associated vehicle access, parking and landscaping. 
 
2.02 The proposed community centre comprises a single storey building located towards 

the south east of the application site.  Access is proposed from Great Easthall Way to 
the west with parking provision in the north of the site.  An area of soft landscaping is 
proposed to the west of the proposed community centre.   

 
2.03 The building will be comprised of two separate areas with a staggered elevation and 

varying roof heights.  The larger section will be comprised of a main hall, foyer and 
associated w.c. and storage facilities.  The smaller section will be comprised of 
sports changing facilities. A canopy covering a section of the terrace and the cycle 
storage area is proposed on the western side of the building. 

 
2.04 The building measures approximately 34m in width (including the covered canopy 

area) and ranges between 13m and 11.5m in depth due to the staggered frontage 
proposed.  The building is largely flat roofed and measures between 3.5m and 4.2m 
in height.  Two timber clad roof dormers are proposed which add a further 3m in 
height on top of the flat roof.  The building will have a meadow grass roof.   

 
2.05 The external walls of the building will be wrapped in vertical cladding of coppiced 

sweet chestnut.  This will range between 4.4m and 5m in height and as such will form 
a parapet. 

 
3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) seeks to support and encourage 

prosperous and healthy communities.  Paragraph 70 states that planning authorities 
should act positively in regards to “provision and use of shared space, community 
facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, 
public houses and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the 
sustainability of communities and residential environments.” 

 
4.02 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) also supports community 

development and the provision of new community services and facilities in general. 
 
4.03 Policy C1 of the adopted Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 states the following: 
 

“The Borough Council will grant planning permission for new or improved community 
services and facilities. Additionally, where proposals would meet an identified local 
need in an accessible location, it will permit development proposals that will help 
maximise the use of existing public and private community services and facilities, 
including those that would make them available for wider public use, in locations 
where shortfalls in local public provision could be met.” 

 
4.04 Policies E1, E19 and T3 are also relevant to this application. 
  

Page 158



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

156 
 

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.01 The application has been advertised by way of letter to immediate neighbours and 

display of a site notice close to the application site.  No responses have been 
received. 

 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.01 KCC Highways and Transportation raised no objection subject to conditions 

relating to on site details of parking for site personnel / operatives / visitors; provision 
for construction vehicles; precautions to guard against mud on the highway; access 
details; the retention of the parking space and turning areas; and that the use shall 
not be commenced before adequate space for cycle storage has been laid out.  

 
6.02 The Council’s Environmental Protection Team Leader raised no objection subject 

to conditions relating to construction hours.  Further to this I have verbally discussed 
the hours of use of the premises and have included these as a condition. 

 
6.03 Natural England “advises your authority that the proposal, if undertaken in strict 

accordance with the details submitted, is not likely to have a significant effect on the 
interest features for which The Swale SPA/Ramsar has been classified.  In addition 
Natural England is satisfied that the proposed development…. will not damage or 
destroy the interest features for which The Swale SSSI has been notified.” 

 
6.04 KCC SUDs recommend that if the Local Planning Authority is minded to grant 

permission then conditions relating to a sustainable surface water drainage scheme 
will be required. 

 
6.05 KCC Public Rights of Way Officer raised no objection, noting that PROW ZU16 

passes “…adjacent to the site to the south”. 
 
6.06 KCC Ecology state that “Due to the size of the proposed development site, the fact 

that the boundaries will be maintained and by reviewing existing survey data from the 
adjacent planning applications we are agree that there is no requirement for a 
specific bat activity survey or breeding bird survey to be carried out as part of this 
planning application. 

 
However the proposed development will result in a loss of suitable reptile habitat and 
as such there is a need for a reptile survey to be carried out. As the survey was 
carried out in July 2015 it’s disappointing that the reptile survey was not carried out 
last year. 

 
As detailed above the presence of protected species are a material consideration 
within the planning system and all surveys should be carried out prior to 
determination of the planning application. Until the surveys are carried out SBC have 
no understanding if reptiles are present and if they are present there is a need for the 
following to be considered: 

 
- What the population size is 
- What size of receptor site is required 
- Can the reptiles be retained within the proposed development site of if an offsite 
receptor site is required. 

 
We advise SBC that the recommended survey must be carried out prior to 
determination of the planning application.” 

Page 159



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

157 
 

 
I have forwarded these details to the agent and am awaiting a response which I will 
send onto KCC Ecology.  I will update Members accordingly at the meeting regarding 
this issue.  

 
Further to the above, details relating to lighting and further to the reptile survey, 
details relating to ecological enhancements have been requested by KCC Ecology.   

 
6.07 Southern Water – I am currently awaiting a response and will update Members at 

the meeting. 
 
7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
7.01 Application papers and correspondence relating to application reference 

15/510505/FULL. 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 

 
 Principle of Development 
 
8.01 The provision of a community centre to serve the wider Great Easthall housing 

development formed part of the adopted Development Brief Review for the site and 
has long been envisaged as forming part of the wider estate.  The application is also 
in compliance with Policy C1 of the adopted Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 and the 
aims of the NPPF.  I therefore consider, that subject to compliance with other 
relevant Development Management policies, that the proposal is acceptable in 
principle. 

 
 Visual Impact 
 
8.02 The proposal now being considered has been subject to detailed pre application 

advice whereby the Council’s Design and Conservation Consultant commented on 
the scheme before formal submission of the application.  The staggered elevation, 
vertical cladding, green roof and prominent roof structures will all combine to add 
variety and interest to the building and the result in my view will be the creation of a 
building of acceptable design.    

 
8.03 On site planting and landscaping is proposed and an indicative landscaping plan has 

been submitted with the application.  When approaching the existing housing 
development along Great Easthall Way the site is prominently located.  Boundary 
planting is proposed in addition to on site landscaping and much of the success of 
the integration of the community centre into this landscape will be a well considered 
landscape scheme.  Due to this, the landscaping condition suggested below will 
ensure that a robust and appropriate landscaping scheme is implemented in order to 
best integrate the community centre into its environment. 

 
 Residential Amenity 
 
8.04 The closest residential properties to the application site are those situated on the 

opposite side of Great Easthall Way.  These properties are between 27m – 30m 
away from the proposed community centre.  Due to this distance and the height of 
the community centre I believe that the proposal would not be unacceptably 
overbearing for these residents.  I have also discussed the issue of hours of use with 
the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager.  To attempt to ensure that the 

Page 160



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

158 
 

potential impact upon residential amenities is not unacceptable, I have recommended 
a relevant condition below. 

 
 Other Matters 
 
9.04 I have consulted with KCC Highway, KCC SUDs, KCC Public Rights of Way Officer 

and Natural England who have all raised no objection to the application.  Various 
conditions have been recommended if the Council is minded to approve the 
application.  I have included all these conditions below and therefore consider that 
the proposal would be acceptable in relation to the above. 

 
9.05 KCC Ecology were also consulted and requested that a reptile survey is carried out 

prior to determination of the planning application.  I have forwarded these details onto 
the agent and am awaiting a response.  Once received I will forward onto KCC 
Ecology and will update Members of the Biodiversity Officer’s further comments at 
the meeting.  Details regarding any possible future lighting have been included by 
way of a condition however, details of ecological enhancements have been 
recommended once the reptile survey has been completed.  Due to this, I have made 
reference to any further conditions that are required (see condition 19) and again, will 
update Members at the meeting as to the exact wording of these conditions.  

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.01 In overall terms, taking into account the above assessment and subject to 

outstanding issues relating to ecology, I believe that the proposal would provide a 
dedicated community centre within the wider Great Easthall housing development 
which would be appropriately sited, of an acceptable design and would not impact 
unacceptably on either residential or highway amenities.  I recommend that planning 
permission be granted. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the comments of Southern Water 

Services and the resolution of the ecology issue as raised by KCC Ecology and to 
the following conditions: 

 
1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted. 
 

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2) The development hereby permitted shall take place in complete compliance with the 

following drawings: P-001 A and P-002 A (received 15/2/2016) and P-100, Rev A; P-
101, P-102 and P-103 (received 12th January 2016); and 616853/CIV/001 A and 
/CIV/004.  

  
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 

 
3) Prior to the commencement of development, details of the external finishing materials 

to be used on the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details. 

  
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure that such matters are agreed 
before work is commenced. 

 

Page 161



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

159 
 

4) Prior to the works commencing on site details of parking for site personnel / 
operatives / visitors shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority and thereafter shall be provided and retained throughout the construction of 
the development. The approved parking shall be provided prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure provision of adequate off-street parking for vehicles in the 
interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of local residents. 

 
5)  During construction provision shall be made on the site,   to accommodate 

operatives' and construction vehicles loading, off-loading or turning on the site to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that vehicles can be parked or manoeuvred off the highway in the 
interests of highway safety. 
 

6) As an initial operation on site, adequate precautions shall be taken during the 
progress of the works to guard against the deposit of mud and similar substances on 
the public highway in accordance with proposals to be submitted to, and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and road safety. 
 

7) The access details shown on the approved plans shall be completed to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any other 
works authorised by this permission, the occupation of any buildings hereby 
approved, the use of the site being commenced, and the access shall thereafter be 
maintained. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
8) The area shown on the submitted layout as vehicle parking and turning space shall 

be provided, surfaced and drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
before the use is commenced or the premises occupied, and shall be retained for the 
use of the occupiers of, and visitors to, the premises, and no permanent 
development, whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order), shall be carried out on that area of land so shown or in such a 
position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking space. 

 
Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the parking 
of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users and be 
detrimental to highway safety and amenity. 
 

9) No building shall be occupied or the approved use commenced until space has been 
laid out within the site in accordance with the submitted details for cycles to be 
securely sheltered and stored. 

 
Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking facilities 
for cycles in the interests of sustainable development and promoting cycle visits. 

 
10) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape 

works, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other features, 
planting schedules of plants (including for the ‘green roof’), noting species (which 

Page 162



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

160 
 

shall be native species and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity, ), 
plant sizes and numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing 
materials, and an implementation programme.  

  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity, and to ensure that such matters are agreed before work is 
commenced. 

 
11)  All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

 
12) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any  trees or shrubs that are 

removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed. 

 
Reasons: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

13) Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local 
planning authority.  The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface 
water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to 
and including the climate change adjusted critical 100yr storm) can be 
accommodated and disposed of without increase to on or off site flood risk. Any 
discharge to the public surface water sewer shall be agreed in advance in writing with 
the local planning authority and Southern Water. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
this proposal. 

 
14) No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the implementation, 

maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. Those details shall include: 

 
i) a timetable for its implementation, and 
ii) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

 
Reason: To ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions. 
 

15) The use of the premises hereby approved shall be restricted to the hours of 7am to 
10pm Sundays to Thursdays (inclusive); and 7am to midnight on Fridays and 
Saturdays. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities of the area. 
 

Page 163



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

161 
 

16) No floodlighting, security lighting or other external lighting shall be installed or 
operated at the site, other than in accordance with details that have first been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These details 
shall include: 

 
• A statement of why lighting is required, the proposed frequency of the use 

and the hours of illumination. 
• A site plan showing the area to be lit relative to the surrounding area, 

indicating parking or access arrangements where appropriate, and 
highlighting any significant existing or proposed landscape or boundary 
features. 

• Details of the number, location and height of the lighting columns or other 
fixtures. 

• The type, number, mounting height and alignment of the luminaries. 
• The beam angles and upwards waste light ratio for each light.   
• An isolux diagram showing the predicted illuminance levels at critical 

locations on the boundary of the site and where the site abuts residential 
properties.   

 
Reasons: In the interests of visual amenity and the residential amenities of occupiers 
of nearby dwellings. 

 
17) No external storage of parts, equipment, raw materials or products shall take place 

within the site. 
 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 
 

18) The premises shall be used for the purpose of a public hall and sports changing 
facilities and for no other purpose, including any other purposes in Class D1 of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning  (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended). 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenities. 
 

19) Any other conditions recommended by consultees. 
 
The Council's approach to this application: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 

 Offering pre-application advice. 

 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 

 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

 

Page 164



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.2 

162 
 

In this instance: 
 
The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application. 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.3 
 

163 
 

2.3 REFERENCE NO -  16/501079/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Replace front door and front windows, repaint front elevation and window sills. 

ADDRESS 17 Orchard Place Faversham Kent ME13 8AP    

RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE - SUBJECT TO: no contrary representations being received 
(consultation period ends 11/03/16) 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Applicant is an employee of Swale Borough Council 

WARD  

Abbey 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Faversham Town 

APPLICANT  

Mr Ross McCardle 

DECISION DUE DATE 

30/03/16 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

11/03/16 

 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 17 Orchard Place is a C19th cottage located within the Faversham conservation area 

and is subject to an Article 4(2) Direction. The property is a two storey mid-terraced 
dwelling built of brick, that fronts directly onto the street. 

 
1.02 Orchard Place is a typical Victorian residential street featuring traditional terraced 

dwellings, all two storeys high, built of yellow brick. This property differs from its 
neighbours as the front elevation has been painted. 

 
1.03 The property has since been altered and currently features uPVC windows and a 

uPVC front door which are not consistent with the previous style of the house. 
Together with the rendering of the front elevation, these alterations have not respected 
the original character of the building.  

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 This application seeks permission to replace the front door and front windows, together 

with repainting the front elevation and window sills.  
 
2.02 The existing white uPVC door would be replaced with a composite door from the 

Phoenix Doors Essex Range. It would have four panels of which the upper two would 
be plain opaque glazed. The proposed door would be coloured either green, blue or 
slate grey.   

 
2.03 All of the windows on the front elevation of the property, namely one window at ground 

floor level and one at first floor would be replaced under this application. The existing 
white multi-pane uPVC windows would be replaced with four pane sash uPVC 
windows with vertical glazing bars.  

 
2.04 The rendered front elevation currently features a cream/beige colour with black 

window sills. This would be repainted in a subtle cream together with the window sills 
repainted to match the door.  

 
2.05 The applicant has explained the application with the following summarised points: 
 

 The existing windows and door are of a poor quality uPVC 

Page 167



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.3 
 

164 
 

 The front windows only allow the topmost fanlight section to be opened and 
would not allow escape in the event of a fire 

 There are only 2 incidences of timber windows remaining in the street 

 Timber would be the preferred option but the cost is prohibitive and there is 
damp along the front wall 

 The proposed composite door would have four panels which are more suitable 
to Victorian terraces and coloured doors are a common feature of Faversham 

 
3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

Article 4 Faversham Conservation Area 
 
Article 4 Swale Article 4 directive 
 
Conservation Area Faversham 

 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Development Plan: Saved policies E1 (General Development Criteria) E15 
(Conservation Area) E19 (Design Criteria) of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 
Supplementary Planning Documents: Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled 
“Conservation Areas” 

 
5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.01 No representations have been received. However the closing date for
 representations is 11 March and Members will be updated at the meeting. 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.01 Faversham Town Council’s comments have not yet been received. Members will be 

updated at the meeting.   
 
7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
7.01  Application papers and drawings referring to application reference 16/501079/FULL 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 
 
8.01 I consider the key issue in this case is whether the proposal meets the aims and 

objectives of the Article 4(2) Direction in preventing development that does not 
preserve or enhance the special character or appearance of the conservation area. 

 
8.02 Saved policy E15 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 states that for an application 

within a conservation area to succeed, it must be demonstrated that the proposal will 
“preserve or enhance” the character and appearance of the area. I would contend that 
the application does just that, in removing some windows which are not aesthetically 
pleasing with ones which are of a design and appearance more suitable for both the 
property and the area. 

 

Page 168



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.3 
 

165 
 

8.03 I always encourage the use of timber for replacement windows in a conservation area, 
but in this case the applicant is very keen to use uPVC, and I believe that the proposal 
is worthy of support for the following reasons: 

 

 The present windows are not original, appropriate to the style of the property, or 
aesthetically pleasing and they detract from the character and appearance of the 
property and the street scene 
 

 The proposed replacements are of a more appropriate design with regard to the age, 
style and character of the property 

 

 The proposal satisfies the requirement to ‘preserve or enhance’ the character and 
appearance of the conservation area 

 

 Policy E15 also states that one of its objectives should be to “remove features that 
detract from the character of the area and reinstate those that would enhance it”. The 
proposed windows, albeit in UPVC, are clearly, by their traditional configuration, an 
improvement on the existing windows which, are completely out of character with this 
traditional building. 

 
8.04 The proposal would also involve the repainting of the rendered front elevation. I 

consider that the applicant has carefully considered the use of suitable colours and 
recommend the application be approved. 

 
8.05 The applicant sought pre-application advice regarding the proposed composite door. 

Although the Council would ideally prefer traditional materials to be used, in this case 
the original wooden door has been previously been replaced with a uPVC door and I 
therefore consider the replacement composite door which seeks to be more suitable to 
the property would enhance the appearance of the conservation area. 

 
8.06 I also note an appeal that was allowed in 2009 at 8 Newton Road, Faversham 

(SW/07/1173), see copy of decision attached as an appendix to this report. This 
application to replace existing inappropriate louvre windows at the front of the property 
with uPVC sash double glazed units was refused by the Council on the grounds that it 
would result in a poorer design than the current windows, undermining the aims and 
objectives of the Article 4(2) Direction. However, the Inspector concluded that the 
existing windows were out of character with the area and their replacement would 
enhance the appearance of the conservation area due to their more appropriate 
subdivision format which was more in keeping with the character of the area. Since 
then, the Council has been very successful in defending refusals where the 
replacement windows have been poorer than those that exist, which is the opposite of 
the case here. 

 
8.07 I would therefore suggest that to replace the existing windows and door, albeit in uPVC 

but with better designed units, will be an improvement to this property and the area in 
terms of design and appearance, complying with the requirements of policy E15, 
making the proposal acceptable. I would not expect to be successful at appeal if this 
application were to be refused. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.01 As stated above, I am of the opinion that this proposal would enhance the character 

and appearance of the conservation area, in accordance with Policy E15. I therefore 
recommend that permission should be granted, subject to the conditions below and 

Page 169



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.3 
 

166 
 

that no fresh material planning issues being raised in any representations received 
prior to the closing date of 11 March 2016. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which permission is granted. 
  

Reasons: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

(2) The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and specifications. 

  
Reasons: In the interest of preserving or enhancing the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. 

 
Council’s approach to the application 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by: 
 
Offering pre-application advice. 

 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 

 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

 
In this instance:  
 
The application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was required  
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is necessary 
to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 
  

Page 170



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.3 
 

167 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
  

Page 171



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.3 
 

168 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Page 172



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.4 
 

169 
 

 

2.4 REFERENCE NO -  16/500288/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Conversion of existing integral garage to dining room 

ADDRESS Aylesbury Cottage  41A Horselees Road Boughton Under Blean Kent ME13 9TE   

RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Parish Council objection 
 

WARD  

Boughton & Courtenay 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Dunkirk 

APPLICANT Mr G Blandford & 
Miss E Ward 

AGENT Jason Davies 
Architectural Services 

DECISION DUE DATE 

11/03/16 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

22/02/16 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

SW/08/0989 Demolition of existing property and erection of 8 

new semi-detached dwellings, with integral 

garages and associated gardens and 

landscaping 

Granted 05/02/08 

 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 Aylesbury Cottage is a three- bedroom brick built semi-detached dwelling with an 

integral garage located in the built up area boundary of Boughton. The property is one 
of a row of eight dwellings that were granted planning permission in 2008.  

 
1.02 The property has access directly off Horselees Road by way of a driveway. There is 

now hardstanding to the full width of the property frontage (over 6m) providing off road 
parking for two cars. To the rear is private amenity space. 

 
1.03 The application site is characterised by residential properties, mainly detached and 

semi-detached dwellings with off-street parking and landscaped gardens to the front of 
properties. On the other side of the road, the properties are mainly terraced homes 
with small front gardens. 

 
1.04 The original planning permission contains a condition (number (6)) that states that the 

areas shown as garages shall be kept available for such use and that no development 
should preclude vehicular access to the garages. The grounds for the condition were 
amenity and preventing on-street parking and inconvenience to road users Hence this 
application to install a wall and window where the garage door currently stands is 
necessary.. 

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 This application seeks permission for the conversion of the existing integral garage to 

a habitable room. 

Page 173



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.4 
 

170 
 

 
2.02 The existing integral garage measures 2.6 metres wide x 5.5 metres in length. The 

external garage door would be removed and replaced with a new window constructed 
of brown UPVC. The external walls below the new window would be constructed of a 
brick plinth to match the existing brickwork. 

 
2.03 The proposed garage conversion would provide additional ground floor space in the 

kitchen to accommodate a dining room. An internal wall separating the kitchen and 
integral garage would be removed. 

 
2.04 Two off-road parking spaces would remain in front of the garage. The area of 

hardstanding measures 6.6m x 6.4m. 
 
3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

None 
  
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Development Plan: Saved policies E1 (General Development Criteria) E19 (Design 
Criteria) E24 (Extensions & Alterations) and T3 (Vehicle Parking on New 
Developments) of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008. 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): Supplementary Planning Guidance 
entitled “Designing an Extension – A Guide for Householders”. The Council’s SPD on 
extension and alterations explains that “Extensions or conversion of garages to extra 
accommodation, which reduce available parking space and increase parking on roads 
is not likely to be acceptable. Nor is the provision of all car parking in the front garden a 
suitable alternative as the position is unlikely to be suitable for a garage and will create 
a poor appearance in the streetscene.” 
 

 
5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 

None 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.01 Dunkirk Parish Council objects to the application, referring to the history of the original 

planning application, to their original concerns over the sizes of the proposed garages 
as being too small, and stating; 

 
“Currently all residents of this development park on the brick paved driveways and do 
not put their cars in their garages. 
 
“The (sic) cannot park elsewhere as Horselees Rd is narrow and the other side is a 
continuous row of houses without garages where all residents car parking is, and has 
been for many years, on the road. Many modern vehicles cannot make use of any 
garage with a width of 2.6m; if the car can get in and out, the occupant cannot open the 
doors sufficiently to get in or out of the vehicle. KCC Highways considered 2.9m as the 
minimum in 2008. The inadequacies of the integral garages that were given consent is 
obvious to all who walk along Horselees Rod 
 

Page 174



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.4 
 

171 
 

“Whilst we have much sympathy with the residents of these properties we are 
concerned that once one conversion has been granted then most of the others in the 
development will make similar applications. The footprint of the houses is such that 
none can accommodate more than two normal vehicles on their driveways. Visitors 
and tradesmen already need to find spaces wherever they can.” Horselees Road is 
narrow and on the other side, all resident parking is on the street where properties do 
not have a garage.” 
 
The Parish Council has sent its own photographs of the parking problems in the area. 

 
7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
7.01  Application papers and drawings referring to application reference 16/500288/FULL 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 
 
8.01 The main considerations in the determination of this planning application concern the 

impact that the loss of the garage as a parking space would have upon the character 
and appearance of the streetscene. 

 
8.02 The proposed conversion would result in the loss of one garage. The question then is 

what impact will that have on the streetscene and on parking provision at the property. 
The entire frontage of the property is now hardsurfaced, whereas originally some soft 
landscaping was indicated, with one parking space in front of the garage. The 
hardstanding to the front now provides off-road parking for two cars which is what the 
current parking standard for a three bedroom dwelling in a village location requires 
(see IGN3 from KCC). Parking spaces should normally be 2.5m wide, although 
between walls it is recommended by Kent Highways that this width should be enlarged 
to 2.7m. Here the area in front of the garage is 6.6m wide which more than complies 
with this guidance. The approval of this application is not likely to result in any erosion 
of soft landscaping to the front of the property, as can sometimes be the case with 
garage conversions. Therefore I do not consider that the proposal would be likely lead 
to new parking or visual amenity problems in the area as cars can already be expected 
to be parked across the entire frontage of the property on the existing hardstanding.  

  
8.03 The parking provision available to the applicants will be the same two spaces as 

originally approved, and I do not consider that it would result in additional on-street 
parking potential due to the driveway for the property being adequate for the parking 
needs of the property. Nor do I find that the conversion of this garage will negatively 
affect the streescene as the property’s entire frontage is already paved over and used 
for parking. 

 
8.04 Although granting permission for this application could encourage others to do the 

same, I do not consider this to be a reason for refusal. Each application should be 
considered on its own merits.  

 
8.05 The application does introduce a window facing the highway in place of the existing 

garage door. The size and design of this window is in keeping with the other front 
windows and as such, I consider that the proposal is acceptable in relation to its impact 
upon neighbouring amenities. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.01 This application for the conversion of an existing integral garage to a habitable room is 

considered acceptable and I therefore recommend that permission be granted. 

Page 175



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016  Item 2.4 
 

172 
 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which permission is granted. 
  

Reasons: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
(2) The brickwork and new window to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 

of the conversion hereby permitted shall match those on the existing building in terms 
of type, colour and texture. 

 
 Reasons: In the interests of visual amenity 
 
Council’s approach to the application 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by: 
 

 Offering pre-application advice. 

 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 

 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

 
In this instance:  
 
The application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was required  
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website. 

 
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is necessary 
to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 176



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

173 
 

2.5 REFERENCE NO -  15/506115/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

One new 4 bedroom detached dwelling to replace existing 3 bedroom dwelling 

ADDRESS The Chimes Beach Approach Warden Kent ME12 4NJ   

RECOMMENDATION - Approve 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

The site is within the built up area boundary where the principle of residential development is 
accepted and would in my view not give rise to serious concerns regarding visual or residential 
amenities or cause unacceptable harm to the streetscene. 
 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Called in by Cllr Nissanga 
 

WARD Leysdown & 
Warden 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Warden 

APPLICANT Mr N Armstrong 

AGENT Oakwell Design Ltd 

DECISION DUE DATE 

02/10/2015 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

04/09/15 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

None Relevant    

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 The application site, known as The Chimes, is located on the southern side of Beach 

Approach, a residential street within the built up area of Warden Bay.  The site 
currently contains a chalet bungalow in a poor state of repair, measuring 6m in width 
by 9.5m in depth.  The building is located some 4m away from the front boundary of 
the site. There is an existing close boarded fence along the site’s side and rear 
boundaries.  

 
1.02 The streetscene is mixed with a variety of dwelling types including bungalows, chalet 

bungalows and two storey dwellings.  The Beeches, located adjacent to the 
application site contains a single storey dwelling with a garage. The property at 
number 23 Beach Approach, on the opposite side to the west, contains a two-storey 
semi-detached dwelling with an attached garage.   

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 The application seeks planning permission to demolish the existing chalet bungalow 

and replace it with a two storey 4-bedroom house.  The new building will be set back 
into the site from the existing building’s footprint which will create a more consistent 
building line with the adjacent properties. 

 
2.02 The footprint of the proposed dwelling is 9.3m in width and 11.5m in depth.  The 

property has been designed with a mixture of pitched roofs and a catslide roof.  The 
eaves height will be limited to 2.7m in the catslide element of the property and 5.4m 

Page 177



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

174 
 

elsewhere.  The ridge height will be 7.8m, an increase of 2.2m above the existing 
ridgeline. The property will have a projecting element on the front elevation and a 
pitched roof dormer window on the catslide roof. 

 
2.03 The proposed property will be set 1.35m in from the common boundary with The 

Beeches, although the boundary is set on a slight angle and as such at the rear the 
property will be 1m away from the common boundary with this neighbouring property.  
The proposal will be 1.12m from the common boundary with No.23.  

 
2.04 The new proposal includes a garage and a driveway in front of the property, a 

landscaped front garden is indicated on the proposed plans as forming the remainder 
of the frontage.  To the rear is private amenity space measuring 11m in width and 
20m in depth.   

 
2.05 The external materials of the proposed dwelling will be yellow / pale brown facing 

bricks, hung tiles, painted render and a slate roof.  
 

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

N/A 
 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
4.01 The NPPF and the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) both advocate 

provision of new residential development within sustainable urban locations close to 
local shops and services, subject to good design and no serious amenity issues 
being raised.  

 
Development Plan 
  

4.02 Policy E1 sets out standards applicable to all development, saying that it should be 
well sited and appropriate in scale, design and appearance with a high standard of 
landscaping, and have safe pedestrian and vehicular access whilst avoiding 
unacceptable consequences in highway terms; 
 

4.03 Policy E19 states that the Borough Council expects development to be of high quality 
design and should amongst other requirements provide development that is 
appropriate to its context in respect of scale, height and massing, both in relation to 
its surroundings, and its individual details;   

 
4.04 Policy H2 states that planning permission for new residential development will be 

granted for sites within the defined built up areas, in accordance with the other 
policies of the Local Plan. 

  
4.05 Policy T3 states that the Borough Council will only permit development if appropriate 

vehicle parking is provided in accordance with Kent County Council parking 
standards.  

 

Page 178



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

175 
 

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.01 Surrounding properties were sent a consultation letter.  Four responses were 

received to the proposal, raising the following summarised objections: 
 

 Proposed design and materials are not in keeping with the surrounding area; 

 Proposed building is too large for the plot; 

 Overlooking, loss of privacy and overshadowing of neighbouring properties; 

 Have had assurances from the planning department in the past that the site 
would be redeveloped as a bungalow; 

 Too near to side boundary meaning that scaffolding can not be erected; 

 The proposal will create a wind funnel; 

 Asbestos in existing building.  
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.01  Natural England (NE) raises no objection.  
 
6.02 The Council’s Environmental Protection Manager recommends an hours of 

construction condition and a condition relating to a programme for a suppression of 
dust.  A condition relating to asbestos removal is also suggested but as this is dealt 
with under separate Legislation I have not included it. 

 
6.03 As four objections to the scheme have been received, I contacted the Ward 

Members, summarising the reasons why I believed the application to be acceptable 
and also giving them opportunity to call the application into Planning Committee if 
they wished, their responses were as follows: 

 
- Cllr Ingham: “Although I don't like the idea of this house and think its to [sic] big, I 

cant find any planning reason to go against it ,but I am worried about the 
asbestos, can we put a condition in that an asbestos safety [sic] certificate is 
produced when it has been removed.”  

 
- Cllr Nissanga: “I have visited the place and disagreed with your comments and 

would like to call it into Planning Committee. 
 

Mr & Mrs Barry Cox, both are Disabled. 
 
Listed below is the material planning considerations that I have come across. 
Loss of privacy and over looking - Over shadowing/loss of light. Overlooking of 
neighbouring properties and avoid invasion of privacy of neighbours. 
 
Design and Access Statement to reassure the council that the extent of the 
proposed physical spacing between the new development and existing buildings 
would ensure that there are significant overshadowing issues to be considered. 
This is something you should double check yourself against the site 
measurements. 
 
Concerns about specific windows in the proposed development. 
 
Points of objections the responsibilities of the council under the Human Rights 
Act, in particular Protocol 1, Article 1. A person has the right to peaceful 
enjoyment of all their possessions, which includes the home and other land. 
Additionally, Article 8 of the Human Rights Act states that a person has the 

Page 179



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

176 
 

substantive right to respect for their private and family life. Therefore 
encompasses not only the home but also the surroundings.” 

 
7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
7.01 Application papers and correspondence relating to planning reference 

15/506115/FULL. 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 
 

In my view the key considerations in the determination of this application are as 
follows: 
 
- Principle of development; 
- Impact upon residential amenities; 
- Impact upon visual amenities and the streetscene;  

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.01 The application site lies within the built up area boundary where the erection of new 

dwellings is acceptable in principle in accordance with both locally and nationally 
adopted policies.  This application proposes a replacement dwelling.  As such I 
consider that the principle of residential development is firmly established upon this 
site. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
8.02 Concerns regarding unacceptable impact upon residential amenities including 

overshadowing, loss of privacy and unacceptable overlooking have been expressed 
by neighbouring occupiers in their representations. 

 
8.03 It is firstly taken into consideration that the rear elevation of the proposed dwelling is 

approximately 40m away from the dwelling to the rear, No.30 Seaview Gardens.  
This is almost double the minimum distance of 21m that the Council would usually 
expect and therefore I take the view that the proposal is acceptable in this regard.  
Although the property will be of a larger scale than what currently exists on the site, I 
take into consideration that the neighbouring bungalow, The Beeches, on the flank 
elevation facing towards the application site only has one high level window and an 
external door.  As such, I do not consider that the proposal would cause 
unacceptable loss of light to this property.  On the opposite side, No.23 has an 
attached garage between the main property and the application site.  As such I do 
not consider that loss of light or overshadowing would be unacceptable in this case.  
Furthermore I note that the property will be built along a very similar building line to 
the adjacent properties and as such the impact upon the rear private amenity space 
of the adjacent dwelling in terms of overshadowing will be extremely limited. 

 
8.04 One window is proposed in the side elevation facing towards No.23, however, this 

would serve an en-suite and as such would be expected to be obscure glazed. 
However, to ensure the privacy of neighbouring occupiers I have included a condition 
which requires this window to be obscured before occupation of the dwelling. 

 
8.05 I also note objections received regarding the overlooking of the adjacent rear garden 

and the property on the opposite side of the highway.  I firstly take into account that 
the existing bungalow on the site has a rear facing window at first floor level.  As 
such, elevated rearward views from the property as it currently exists could be 

Page 180



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

177 
 

obtained.  Therefore, rear views, examples of which are common place in a 
residential context such as this would not in my opinion amount to a reason for 
refusal.  Furthermore, the proposed property, at the closest distance would be 20m 
away from properties on the opposite side of the highway, which again represents a 
relationship that is common.  As such, I consider that overlooking of properties on the 
north side of Beach Approach would not be unacceptable. 

 
8.06 In overall terms, based upon the above assessment, I consider that the proposal 

would not have a significantly detrimental impact upon residential amenities of 
surrounding properties.   

 
Visual Amenity and Streetscene 

 
8.07 The streetscene is mixed with bungalows, chalet bungalows and two storey dwellings 

present.  The application site is flanked by a bungalow and a two storey dwelling.  As 
such, in my view, the introduction of a two storey dwelling into this plot would not be 
out of keeping with the surrounding streetscene and would sit comfortably in the 
context of the newer properties on Beach Approach (e.g. No.23), which are also two 
storey dwellings.  Furthermore, I also note that the existing bungalow is set forward 
of the two adjacent properties.  The proposed dwelling will be set back in the site to 
follow the approximate building line of the two properties flanking the application site 
which will in my view assist in integrating the property into the streetscene. 

 
8.08 In terms of design, the proposed dwelling incorporates pitched roofs and also a 

catslide roof.  There is no dominant style of property in the vicinity and as such the 
dwelling of the design proposed is in my view acceptable.  The proposed materials, 
including facing brickwork, hung tiles, render and a slate roof will also in my opinion 
not look out of keeping in this varied streetscene.   

 
8.09 Due to the mixed nature of the streetscene, properties within the vicinity are varying 

distances from side boundaries.  In this case, the flank walls of the proposed property 
achieve a distance of 1.35m from the common boundary with ‘The Beeches’ and 
1.12m from the common boundary with No.23.  In this case I believe that the 
distances proposed are large enough to prevent a terracing effect from being created 
due to the loss of space between buildings.  I also take into account that the 
neighbouring dwelling to the east (The Beeches) is a detached bungalow and as 
such it is difficult to envisage that a terracing effect could occur.  Therefore I am of 
the opinion that the proposal would protect the character of the streetscene. 
 

 Parking Provision 
 
8.10 The application proposes an integral garage and a driveway in front of this measuring 

5m in width, 7.4m in depth at its deepest point and 5.4m in depth at its shortest point. 
As such the driveway would be of a sufficient size  to park two vehicles.  When this is 
considered together with the garage I consider that there would be  adequate parking 
provision proposed for this development.  Although the proposed driveway would be  
in front of the dwelling, there are numerous instances of frontage parking in the 
surrounding area.  I also note that planting is proposed to the front and side 
boundaries which will help to partially screen the vehicles from public vantage points.  
To ensure the parking arrangement remains acceptable I have included a condition 
which retains the use of the garage for parking and requires details of soft 
landscaping to be submitted and agreed by the Council before development 
commences.  On this basis I take the view that parking has been acceptably dealt 
with in this proposal.   

 

Page 181



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

178 
 

 Impact upon SPA and Ramsar Sites 
 
8.11 Although Natural England provided their consultation response before developer 

contributions were a requirement, I have for completeness set out a Habitat 
Regulations Assessment below.  This confirms that whilst mitigation could be 
provided by way of developer contributions, this is not considered appropriate for 
developments under 10 dwellings.  The cost of mitigation will be met by developer 
contributions on developments over 10 dwellings.  In view of this it is not considered 
that the development will have a harmful impact on the special interests of the SPA 
and Ramsar sites. 

 
 Other Matters 
 
8.12 The issue of asbestos has been raised in regards to the existing property and during 

the course of this application the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager has 
been consulted.  A condition has been suggested regarding the removal of asbestos 
from the existing dwelling, however, this is not dealt with through the planning 
process and is covered by separate legislation.   

 
8.13 An objection has also been raised on the grounds that there has been previous 

confirmation that the site would not be redeveloped as a two storey dwelling.  I do not 
know of any such restriction and have been provided with no evidence of one. In any 
case, the proposal has to be considered on its own merits.  An objection relating to 
access rights over the boundary during the construction phase has also been raised.  
In response to this, the proposal is entirely contained within the application site.  If 
rights of access are required then this is a private matter between neighbouring 
occupiers.  Finally, regarding the objection that the proposal will create a wind tunnel, 
the erection of a single two storey house further back on the site than the existing is 
unlikely to give rise to such an effect that it would amount to a material consideration 
to be afforded significant weight here. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.01 The principle of residential development is firmly established by the existing dwelling 

on the site and its location within the built up area boundary.  Although local concerns 
have been raised regarding the introduction of a two storey dwelling into this location, 
I am of the opinion that this will not be out of keeping, especially considering the two 
storey units in situ immediately to the west of the application site.  I also consider that 
by constructing the property along a very similar building line to the two adjacent 
properties this would limit any overbearing impact or loss of privacy to neighbouring 
occupiers.  

 
9.02 In overall terms I consider that the application site is large enough to support a 

dwelling of this size with adequate parking provision and a generous amount of 
private amenity space.  I consider that on this basis and subject to the conditions 
below, the scheme is acceptable and recommend that planning permission be 
granted. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT - subject to the following conditions:  
 
(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted. 
 

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Page 182



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

179 
 

 
(2) No development shall take place until details of the external finishing materials to be 

used on the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall thereafter be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

 
(3) The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in 

complete accordance with the following drawings: PL02; PL03; PL04 and PL05. 
 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

(4) No development shall take place until details have been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority and approved in writing, which set out what measures have been 
taken to ensure that the development incorporates sustainable construction 
techniques such as water conservation and recycling, renewable energy production 
including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo voltaic installations, and energy 
efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be incorporated into the development as 
approved. 
  
Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development. 

 
(5) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape 

works, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other features, 
planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of a 
type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity, ), plant sizes and numbers where 
appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an implementation 
programme.  

  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity, and to ensure that such matters are agreed before work is 
commenced. 

 
(6)  All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

(7) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any  trees or shrubs that are 
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area 

 
(8)  The area shown on the submitted plan as vehicle parking and turning space shall be 

kept available for such use at all times and no permanent development, whether 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not, shall 
be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular 

Page 183



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

180 
 

access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the 
occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted. 

 
Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking of cars is likely to 
lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users and in a manner detrimental to 
highway safety and amenity.  
 

(9) The garage hereby approved shall be kept available for the parking of vehicles and 
no permanent development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-
enacting that Order) or not, shall be carried out on the land or in such a position as to 
preclude vehicular access thereto. 

 
Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking or garaging of cars 
is likely to lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users and in a manner 
detrimental to highway safety and amenity 

 
(10) No development shall take place until a programme for the suppression of dust 

during the demolition of existing buildings and construction of the development has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The measures 
shall be employed throughout the period of demolition and construction unless any 
variation has been approved by the Local Planning Authority  

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
(11) No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any 

Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times: 
 

Monday to Friday 0730 – 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 – 1300 hours unless in 
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
(12) Before the development herby permitted is first used, the proposed ensuite window 

in the first floor flank (south-west) elevation of the new dwelling shall be obscure 
glazed and shall subsequently be maintained as such. 
 
Reason: To prevent overlooking of adjoining properties and to safeguard the privacy 
of neighbouring occupiers. 

 
(13) Adequate precautions shall be taken during the period of construction to prevent the 

deposit of mud and/or other debris on the public highway. 
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. 
 

 
Habitats Regulations Assessment 

 
This HRA has been undertaken without information provided by the applicant. 
The application site is located approximately 4.5km north of The Swale Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and 12.2km east of Medway Estuary and 
Marshes Special Protection Area and Ramsar site both of which are European 
designated sites afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 as amended (the Habitat Regulations).  

Page 184



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

181 
 

 
SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds 
Directive. They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring 
migratory species.  Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member 
States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any 
disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard 
to the objectives of this Article. The proposal therefore has potential to affect said 
site’s features of interest.  

 
In considering the European site interest, Natural England advises the Council that it 
should have regard to any potential impacts that the proposal may have. Regulations 
61 and 62 of the Habitat Regulations require a Habitat Regulations Assessment. NE 
also advises that the proposal is not necessary for the management of the European 
sites and that subject to a financial contribution to strategic mitigation, the proposal is 
unlikely to have significant effects on these sites and can therefore be screened out 
from any requirement for further assessment. It goes on to state that when recording 
the HRA the Council should refer to the following information to justify its conclusions 
regarding the likelihood of significant effects; financial contributions should be made 
to the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and 
Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy in accordance with the recommendations of the North 
Kent Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG); the strategic mitigation will need to be 
in place before the dwellings are occupied.  

 
In terms of screening for the likelihood of significant effects from the proposal on the 
SPA features of interest, the following considerations apply: 

 
• Due to the scale of development there is no scope to provide on site 

mitigation such as an on site dog walking area or signage to prevent the 
primary causes of bird disturbance which are recreational disturbance 
including walking, dog walking (particularly off the lead), and predation birds 
by cats.  

• Based on the correspondence with Natural England, I conclude that off site 
mitigation is required. However, the Council has taken the stance that 
financial contributions will not be sought on developments of this scale 
because of the practicalities of securing payment. In particular, the legal 
agreement may cost more to prepare than the contribution itself. This is an 
illogical approach to adopt; would overburden small scale developers; and 
would be a poor use of Council resources. This would normally mean that the 
development should not be allowed to proceed, however, NE have 
acknowledged that the North Kent Councils have yet to put in place the full 
measures necessary to achieve mitigation across the area and that questions 
relating to the cumulated impacts on schemes of 10 or less will need to be 
addressed in on-going discussions. This will lead to these matters being 
addressed at a later date to be agreed between NE and the Councils 
concerned. 

• Developer contributions towards strategic mitigation of impacts on the 
features of interest of the SPA- I understand there are informal thresholds 
being set by other North Kent Councils of 10 dwellings or more above which 
developer contributions would be sought. Swale Council is of the opinion that 
Natural England’s suggested approach of seeking developer contributions on 
minor developments will not be taken forward and that a threshold of 10 or 
more will be adopted in due course. In the interim, I need to consider the best 
way forward that complies with legislation, the views of Natural England, and 
is acceptable to officers as a common route forward. Swale Borough Council 
intends to adopt a formal policy of seeking developer contributions for larger 

Page 185



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.5 
 

182 
 

schemes in the fullness of time and that the tariff amount will take account of 
and compensate for the cumulative impacts of the smaller residential 
schemes such as this application, on the features of interest of the SPA in 
order to secure the long term strategic mitigation required. Swale Council is of 
the opinion that when the tariff is formulated it will encapsulate the time period 
when this application was determined in order that the individual and 
cumulative impacts of this scheme will be mitigated for. 

 
Whilst the individual implications of this proposal on the features of interest of the 
SPA will be extremely minimal in my opinion as this is a replacement dwelling, 
cumulative impacts of multiple smaller residential approvals will be dealt with 
appropriately by the method outlined above. 
 
For these reasons, I conclude that the proposal can be screened out of the need to 
progress to an Appropriate Assessment. I acknowledge that the mitigation will not be 
in place prior to occupation of the dwelling proposed but in the longer term the 
mitigation will be secured at an appropriate level, and in perpetuity. 

 
The Council's approach to this application: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 

 Offering pre-application advice. 

 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 

 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

 
In this instance:   
 
The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application. 
 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 
 

Page 186



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

183 
 

2.6 REFERENCE NO -  15/503652/FULL, 15/503656/LBC and 15/503659/ADV 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Change of use from A1 to A1, A3 and B1. Alterations to shopfront. Internal alterations, creation 
of new staircase and removal of existing, one window to rear to be removed. 

Advertisement consent for 1x fascia sign to front of shop. 

ADDRESS 5 Market Street, Faversham, Kent, ME13 7AH    

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVE, subject to receipt of satisfactorily amended drawings 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION: 

 No significant impact of change of use; 

 Significant improvement through restoration of a dilapidated Grade II listed building; 

 Positive impact on conservation area.  

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

 Town Council objection 

WARD  

Abbey 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Faversham Town 

APPLICANT  

Mr Oc Yan 

DECISION DUE DATE 

27/07/15 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

14/07/15 

 
THIS REPORT RELATES TO THREE SEPARATE APPLICATIONS BUT THEY ARE 
REPORTED TOGETHER AS THE SAME ISSUES ARISE. EACH APPLICATION SHOULD 
BE DETERMINED ON ITS OWN MERITS. 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 This property is on the northern side of Market Street, which is a pedestrianised 

street, to the west of its intersection with Preston Street. Adjacent to the east is the 
Swan café, and to the west a retail shop. Facing the site across the street are a 
framing shop and an optician’s. To the rear is a small garden, and beyond the site’s 
boundary lies the Royal Cinema with a car parking area to the east. The application 
site is within Faversham’s built up Area, Core Shopping Area and the Faversham 
conservation area.  

 
1.02 The building subject to the application is Grade II listed. It is currently vacant and its 

lawful use is A1 (shops) use. The existing façade comprises a larger glass panel to 
the right, adjacent to the shop entrance, and two smaller glass panes in the more 
modern left-hand half of the facade. The first floor has three sash windows and there 
are two small dormers on the front roof slope. The rear elevation comprises existing 
windows at both ground and first floor levels and a flat roofed single storey extension. 
There is also a chimney and a rear access at first floor level, with a single dormer 
window above. 

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 

Full and LBC Applications (15/503652/FULL and 15/503656/LBC) 
 
2.01 The proposal involves the change of use from the current A1 (shops) use of the site 

to A1 (shops and A3 (restaurants and cafes) uses on the ground floor, and on the 
first floor, B1 (business) use. It is sought to establish a tea lounge in the building, 
selling cake, tea and coffee, as well as selling Asian teapots. A tea demonstration 

Page 187



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

184 
 

room is also proposed. The proposed change of use would require a number of 
internal and external alterations, as outlined below.  

 
2.02 The proposal includes the restoration of the shopfront (including windows, tiles, 

decoration) and would involve the following:  
 

 At the ground floor level, the reduction of window space on the left-hand side, in 
order to create space for a second door for access to the first floor. The current 
windows on the left side of the façade measure 1.3m and 1.6m in width, and are 
both 2.3m in height. They are proposed to be replaced with a single 1.7m wide 
and 2.3m high window pane, to match the more traditional style of the existing 
panel on the right. A new door would be located adjacent to the western external 
wall, also adjacent to the new window pane. It will match the existing one in style 
and materials.  

 The three existing façade windows at first floor level are proposed to be replaced 
with windows to match the existing style and materials.  

 Similarly, the two existing dormer windows at second floor level are also proposed 
to be replaced to match the existing style and materials.  

 At the rear of the building it is proposed to replace an existing window, with a more 
appropriate unit. 

 A new wooden frame glass roof over the existing door and window, to the rear 
elevation. 

 Internally, it is proposed to demolish the existing and create and new staircase, 
new counter, floor and cupboards. 

 Renew wall and ceiling work. 

 At the front of the shop would be the tea lounge area with tables and chairs, with a 
service counter; and adjacent tea room towards the back of the building, together 
with a unisex toilet and washing facilities.  

 
2.03 The first floor is proposed to comprise two offices in B1 use. The second floor is 

proposed to be used for storage and staff facilities.  
 

Advertisement Consent (15/503659/ADV) 
 
2.04 This aspect of the proposal includes the installation of a new fascia sign, measuring 

7m in width and 0.68m in height. The sign is proposed to be located on the existing 
façade of the building, above the ground level shop windows, and would be of coated 
plywood and wooden panels. Illumination would be provided by a slim light 
concealed behind a moulding. 

 
Ambiguities in Submitted Drawings 

 
2.05 There are some ambiguities in the drawings submitted with the application. The 

applicant has therefore been requested to amend these appropriately, and approval 
of the proposals is recommended on the basis that the amendments are done before 
the applications are determined.  
 

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

 Listed building- Grade II 
Listed Buildings MBC and SBC Ref Number: 138/SW 
Description: G II THE SWAN, 6 Market Street, Faversham, ME13 7AH (the listing 
covers 5, 5A and 6, Market Street)] 
 

Page 188



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

185 
 

 Faversham conservation area (statutory duty to preserve or enhance the 
significance of heritage assets under the Planning (Listed Buildings & 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990)  
 

 Core Shopping Area 
 

 Built Up Area Boundary 
 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Paragraphs 131, 132 and 137 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
 
Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 saved policies:  

 Policy SP1: Sustainable Development 

 Policy SP3: Economy 

 Policy B3: Maintaining and Enhancing Vitality and Viability of the Town 
Centres 

 Policy FAV1: The Faversham and Rest of Swale Planning Area  

 Policy AAP1: Faversham Town Centre 

 Policy E1: General Development Criteria 

 Policy E14: Development Involving Listed Buildings 

 Policy E15: Development Affecting a Conservation Area 

 Policy E23: New Shopfronts, Signs and Advertisements 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 

 The Design of Shop Fronts, Signs and Advertisements; 

 Listed Buildings – A Guide for Owners and Occupiers; and  

 Conservation Areas. 
 
5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Full Application (15/503652/FULL)  
 
5.01 The proposals have been advertised by the display of a site notice. Neighbour 

notification letters regarding the applications have been sent to the occupiers and 
owners in the immediate vicinity.  

 
5.02 Five objections have been received to the change of use application. The issues 

raised include: 
- The proposal would result in the creation of a predictable monoculture by allowing a 

change from A1 to A1, A3 and B1. This would be harmful to the fabric of the town 
centre.  

- Market saturation as there are already many businesses of this type in what is a very 
small area.  

- Retail space should be protected, replacing one with A3 use is detrimental to the 
core trading business of the town.  

 
Listed Building Consent (15/503656/LBC) and Advertisement Consent 
(15/503659/ADV) Applications  

 
5.03 No objections have been received to the applications for listed building consent and 

advertisement consent.  

Page 189



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

186 
 

 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.01 Faversham Town Council has objected to the proposal (all three applications) for the 

following reasons:  
 

 No design and access statement or heritage statement has been submitted, 
making it difficult to judge the impact of the proposed change of use. 

NOTE: A Design and Access Statement has been submitted 

 The site is in the core shopping area. 

 The area is already well provided with cafes and restaurants. 

 It is not clear from the application that any A1 use will be retained on the site.  
 
6.02 Historic England have been consulted on the listed building consent application, and 

have stated that the application should be determined in accordance with national 
and local policy guidance, and on the basis of expert conservation advice. 

 
7.0       BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
7.01 Application papers submitted with applications Ref 15/503652/FULL, 15/503656/LBC 

and 15/503659/ADV 
 
8.0 APPRAISAL 
 
8.01 The main issues to consider in relation to this proposal, including the Full, Listed 

Building Consent and Advertisement Consent applications are as follows:  

 Impact of proposed change of use 

 Impact on listed building 

 Impact on conservation area 

 Impact on amenity and highway safety 
These are discussed in turn below, together with the relevant policies and guidance. 
  

8.02 The starting point here must be the saved policies of the Swale Borough Local Plan 
2008 and other material considerations. 

 
Change of Use 
 

8.03 The proposal involves the change of use from A1(shops) to A1 and A3 (Restaurants 
and cafés) and B1(Business - offices). The saved policies relevant to assessing this 
aspect of the proposal include SP1, SP3, B3, FAV1 and AAP1.  

 
8.04 Policy SP1 (Sustainable Development) promotes, among others, the efficient use of 

previously developed land to provide for sustainable economic growth to support 
efficient and diverse business sectors. It also supports high quality design. The 
proposal accords with this policy as it is seeking to change the use of an existing 
building, and would improve the diversity of town centre uses in Faversham.  

 
8.05 Policy SP3 (Economy) seeks to support local companies to grow and develop, as 

well as improving the economic, social and cultural standing of the Borough's town 
centres by supporting mixed-use developments. I consider the proposal to be in 
accordance with this policy. It is important to note that the building is currently vacant 
and in disrepair, which is an important factor in the planning balance. The change of 
use and restoration of the building will contribute to improving the standing of the 

Page 190



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

187 
 

town centre and re-establish the use of the building for a viable business and retail 
space.  

 
8.06 Policy B3 (Maintaining and Enhancing Vitality and Viability of the Town Centres) 

seeks that in terms of proposals within the Core Shopping Area, non-retail uses be 
permitted only when they meet the following criteria:  

 enhance the primary retail function of the area by adding to the mix of uses in the 
town centre area as a whole and increase its overall vitality and viability; 

 provide a service or facility for residents or visitors currently lacking or under-
represented in the town centre area; 

 could not otherwise successfully trade within the secondary shopping area; 

 do not result in a significant loss of retail floorspace; 

 do not lead to a concentration of non-retail frontage; and 

 do not result in the loss or erosion of a non-retail use that underpins the 
functioning, vitality and viability of the town centre. 

 
8.07 The proposal will contribute to the mix of uses in the town centre by retaining some of 

the current A1 use as well as by providing a mix of uses on site with the addition of 
the A3 and B1 uses. While there would be some loss of A1 use, an element of retail 
use will be maintained on site and combined with A3 and B1 uses which would make 
the proposed use of the building viable. The retail frontage will be partially retained 
and is considered acceptable in this instance, when weighed against the benefits of 
the restoration of a listed building which will occur as part of this proposal. The 
building is currently vacant and in need of restoration, failing to make a positive 
contribution to the overall vitality of the town centre. The proposal is therefore 
considered to be in accordance with Policy B3. Importantly, this is a small unit with 
no rear servicing provision, which would be less of a loss of the vital retail character 
of the town than a larger, more flexible or more prominent building.  

 
8.08 Policy FAV1 (The Faversham and Rest of Swale Planning Area) emphasises the 

importance of the conservation of the historic environment and the role of the market 
town to support its own local needs. It also seeks to safeguard and enhance the 
diversity of Faversham's small-scale historic character, as well as to support and 
diversify the services and activities which enhance the economic health of 
Faversham town centre. Additionally, Policy AAP1 (Faversham Town Centre) refers 
to the Area Action Plan designated for Faversham town centre. It states that Council 
seeks to promote a strong and diverse local economy in the town centre, and will 
support proposals that:  
 

 conserve and enhance the architectural and historic fabric of the centre; 

 retain and enhance the lively, distinctive, wide-ranging and traditional mix of 
activities in the shopping streets; 

 retain and/or add to the range of services considered important to the health of 
the town; 

 widen the range of activities and facilities available for residents and tourists in 
the town; 

 make appropriate use of the floorspace on upper floors for new housing and/or 
businesses; and 

 maintain or improve the range and diversity of employment sites and uses. 
 

8.9 As outlined above, it is considered that given the fact that the building is in disrepair 
and currently vacant, the proposal would be an improvement in terms of the provision 
of diverse services in the town centre. It would also result in an improvement of the 
public realm within the conservation area through the proposed improvements to the 

Page 191



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

188 
 

listed building, which is currently in disrepair. The proposal therefore accords with 
Policies FAV1 and AAP1.  

 
8.10 The applicant has submitted a Design & Access statement which clearly outlines the 

proposed change of use and the retention of A1 use on the ground floor, with offices 
above. Therefore some A1 use will be retained on site, while at the same time 
restoring a listed building back to its full potential. Without the restoration of the listed 
building, I consider that the balance of considerations would be much closer.  

 
8.11 Overall therefore, and on balance, I consider that the proposed change of use is 

acceptable and in accordance with the policies and guidance outlined above. It will 
bring a vacant building, currently in need of restoration, back into a viable town 
centre use, while at the same time restoring the listed building and therefore making 
significant improvements in the town centre. Due to the small size of the unit in 
question, I do not consider the partial loss of A1 area to be unacceptable on this 
occasion.  
 

 Impact on a Listed Building  
 
8.12 Paragraphs 131, 132 and 137 of the NPPF highlight the significance of heritage 

assets, the importance of their preservation and enhancement, and the opportunities 
for new development to make a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. Local policy and guidance on dealing with listed buildings is 
contained in Policy E14 and the Council’s Listed Buildings SPG. Policy E14 seeks 
that any development affecting a listed building preserves the building’s special 
architectural interest and its setting. The policy seeks that this include paying special 
attention to design, including scale, materials, situation and detailing; the desirability 
of removing unsightly or negative features or restoring/reinstating historic features.  
 

8.13 The proposal is considered to be in accordance with this policy as it will result in the 
repair and overall reinstatement of the building subject to this application. Namely, on 
the façade this would include the maintenance of the stall risers, the reinstatement of 
pilasters, console brackets, colonnettes and decorative carved work. These works 
would be a very positive contribution in the restoration of the building’s façade.  
 

8.14 The Council’s Listed Buildings SPG recommends the following: 

 Windows and other detailing - characteristic detailing should be retained; 
whenever possible, existing windows should be repaired. However, where a 
replacement is required, then purpose-made windows, using the exact style and 
materials to the original, should be made.  

 Any alteration or repairs to external elevations should respect existing materials 
and match them in texture, quality and colour. Every effort should be made to 
retain facing brickwork.  

 Existing openings should not be widened or heightened.  

 Existing doors should be retained. Design of new doors should be appropriate to 
the character of the building.  

 Shopfronts of merit – every effort should be made to retain them.  

 Interiors – features of interest should be respected and left in situ wherever 
possible.  

 
8.15 The proposal will accord with this guidance as it will retain and reinstate 

characteristic detailing. The proposed restoration on the left hand side of the shop 
front would be a significant conservation gain and is given significant weight in 
assessing the change of use application. The separate access to the upper floors is 

Page 192



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

189 
 

also an improvement which will encourage the more active use of the building as a 
whole. I have recommended conditions at the end of this report, to ensure that 
joinery details are supplied; and that the cornices to the two dormer windows on the 
front elevation, which have been removed recently, are reinstated to a detail 
approved by the Council.  

 
Impact on Conservation Area 

 
8.16 Policy E15 relates to impact on conservation areas. It seeks that development should 

preserve or enhance all features that contribute positively to the conservation area’s 
special character and appearance. Special attention needs to be paid to the use of 
detail and materials, surfaces and land use. The policy also states that features that 
detract from the character of the area should be removed, and those that would 
enhance it – reinstated. 

 
8.17 The Council’s Conservation Area SPG seeks that: 

 Any alterations to external elevations should respect existing materials, match 
them in texture and colour. 

 Windows – shape and size should be retained.  

 External and internal features should be retained. 

 Old shopfronts should be retained.  
 
The proposal will be in accordance with Policy E15 and the SPG because, as 
outlined above, the listed building, which is currently in disrepair, will be reinstated, 
with important features preserved and the old shopfront will be improved by 
reinstating characteristic features.  
 
Shopfront and Sign (Impact on amenity and highway safety) 
 

8.18 The proposed installation of a fascia sign is considered against the relevant Local 
Plan Policies E14, E15 and E23. Policies E14 and 15 have been discussed above.   
Additionally, Policy E23 seeks that development involving advertisements should 
‘respond positively to the character of the building and its locality, cause no harm to 
amenity, or compromise highway safety’.  

 
8.19 The proposed sign will be sympathetic to the character of the local area and the 

building itself. It will retain the layout of the shopfront by being of the same size and 
in the same location as the existing sign currently on the building. It will be of 
sympathetic materials, i.e. wood and will complement the other improvements 
proposed to the façade of the building. The sign would be illuminated by a small LED 
strip in a timber moulding beneath the roller shutter fascia panel. This seems to be 
entirely appropriate for the circumstances. The proposed sign would therefore be in 
accordance with policies E14, E15 and E23.  
 

8.20 Additionally, the Design of Shopfronts, Signs and Advertisements SPD seeks that the 
following be taken into consideration when assessing proposals for signs and 
advertisements:  

 The scale and character with the building; 

 Good standard of design; 

 Amenity and highway safety; and 

 Impact on listed buildings and conservation areas.  
  

Page 193



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

190 
 

 
8.21 As outlined above, it is considered that the proposed sign, within the wider scheme of 

refurbishing the building itself, would fit the scale and character of the building and 
would be of a good standard of design. It would not impact on local amenity or 
highway safety, and would be sympathetic to the building itself and the local area.  

 
8.22 In conclusion, the proposal complies with Swale Borough Local Plan saved policies 

E14, E15 and E23. It also accords with provisions of the Design of Shopfronts, Signs 
and Advertisements SPG and the Conservation Areas SPG. On this basis, it is 
recommended that this aspect of the proposal be approved, subject to the conditions 
included below.  

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.01 It is considered that the proposal, comprising all three applications, accords with 

national and local policy and guidance, for the following reasons:  

 The building subject to the applications is currently vacant and in disrepair, 
therefore does not positively contribute to the local area and conservation area. 

 The property concerned is a small one with no rear service access. It is not 
located in an area already dominated by non-retail uses. It would add a new 
dimension to the uses in this part of central Faversham.  

 The change of use and restoration of the building will contribute to improving the 
standing of the town centre and re-establish the use of the building for a viable 
business and retail space. The proposal will also contribute to the mix of uses in 
the town centre, completely without losing the current A1 use of the building.  

 The proposal will have a positive effect both on the listed building itself, and on 
the conservation area in the locality.  

 The shopfront and sign aspect of the proposal will be sympathetic to the 
character of the local area and the building itself, without impacting on amenity or 
highway safety.  
 

9.02 On this basis, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the NPPF and 
its guidance; and accords with the relevant saved policies of the Swale Borough 
Local Plan 2008. Compliance with the three relevant SPG documents has also been 
achieved, namely: the Design of Shop Fronts, Signs and Advertisements; Listed 
Buildings – A Guide for Owners and Occupiers; and Conservation Areas. It is 
therefore recommended that the planning permission, listed building consent and 
advertisement consent applications be approved, subject to the conditions outlined 
below.  

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION – Approve, subject to satisfactory amended plans and to the 
following conditions: 
 
FULL APPLICATION CONDITIONS  
 
(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted. 
 

Reasons: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

  

Page 194



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

191 
 

 
(2) The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in 

complete accordance with the approved plans and specifications. 
 

Reasons: In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
(3) The development shall be in accordance with the approved drawings as follows:  
 

D00-3 – ‘Counter Details’, POO-04 – ‘Proposal GF Plan’, D00-4 – ‘Details Elevation’, 
POO-05 – ‘Proposal FF Plan’, POO-06 – ‘Proposal SF Plan’, POO-07 – ‘Existing and 
Proposal Front Elevation’, POO-8-1 – ‘Rear Existing and Proposal Elevation’, POO-
09 – ‘Proposal Staircase Section’, and POO-10 – ‘Proposal Staircase Section’. 
 

 Reasons:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

(4) The alterations to the shopfront and the reinstatement of the cornices to the two 
dormer windows on the front elevation, which have recently been removed, shall be 
completed before the approved use commences.  
 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

 
The Council's approach to this application: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 

 Offering pre-application advice. 

 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 

 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

 
In this instance:  
 
The applicant/agent was advised of minor changes required to the application and these 
were agreed. 
 
LISTED BUILDING CONSENT CONDITIONS 
 
(1) The works to which this consent relates must be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this consent is granted. 
 

Reasons: In pursuance of Section 18 of the Listed Building Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
(2) The materials to be used in the alterations hereby permitted shall match those on the 

existing building in terms of type, colour and texture. 
 

Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

  

Page 195



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

192 
 

 
(3) Prior to the commencement of development, details in the form of samples of 

external finishing materials to be used in the construction of the development hereby 
approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

 
(4) Detailed drawings at a suggested scale of 1:20 and 1:1 of the proposed alterations to 

the shopfront, including stall risers, doors, pilasters, console brackets, colonnettes 
and decorative carved work shall be submitted and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 
 

(5) Detailed drawings at a suggested scale of 1:5 of all new external and internal joinery 
work, including new doors, windows, cornices to dormer windows and the new 
shopfront including stall risers, pilasters and console brackets shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development takes place. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

 
(6) Notwithstanding the details shown on drawing POO-10, constructional details at a 

scale of 1:5 of the proposed glazed roof, including the eaves detail, shall be 
submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development 
takes place. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

 
(7) Details of the soil vent stack to serve the proposed second floor toilet shall be 

submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development 
takes place. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 
 

(8) All new plasterwork on ceilings and external walls shall be finished in lime plaster and 
no cement or Gypsum plaster shall be used therein.  
 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 
 

(9) Full details of any proposed ventilation ducts, fans and extract grilles shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development 
takes place. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 

Page 196



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

193 
 

Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 
 
 

(10) No radiators, light fittings, pipework, vents, ducts, flues, meter boxes, alarm boxes, 
ductwork or other appendages (except fittings in the bathroom and kitchen) shall be 
fixed to the interior or exterior of the part of the listed building the subject of this 
consent without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

 
(11) No development shall take place until details of external finishes and colours have 

been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building.  
 

(12) All rainwater goods to be used as part of the development hereby permitted shall be 
of cast iron unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 

 
(13) Before the work commences on site, a fully detailed scheme shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority to indicate how all of the original structural components of 
the building will be retained, repaired or restored.  The scheme shall also illustrate 
how the existing cladding can be retained and how the wall studding will be fully 
exposed internally.  No work of any description shall take place on site until such a 
scheme has been approved in writing and the scheme shall be implemented as 
approved. 

 
Reasons: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the 
listed building. 
 

ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT CONDITIONS 
 
(1) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site or 

any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission.  
 

(2) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:  
 
(a)  endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military);  
(b)  obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or 

aid to navigation by water or air; or  
(c)  hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 

surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle.  
 

(3) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 
shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site.  
 

(4) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 
advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the public.  

Page 197



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.6 

194 
 

 
(5) Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, the site 

shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual amenity. 
 

Reasons: In accordance with the provisions of Regulation 2(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
(6) The sign shall not be illuminated except during the hours that the premises to which it 

relates are open for business. 
 
Reasons: In the interests of visual amenity. 

 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with these applications please refer to the 
relevant Public Access pages on the council’s website. The conditions set out in the report 
may be subject to such reasonable change as is necessary to ensure accuracy and 
enforceability. 

 

Page 198



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.7 
 

195 
 

2.7 REFERENCE NO - 15/510564/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Demolition of garage/workshop;  Construction of two-storey side and single-storey rear 
extensions, front porch and alterations to front fenestration 

ADDRESS 6 Meadow Rise Iwade Kent ME9 8SB    

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVE SUBJECT TO THE RECEIPT OF AMENDED DRAWINGS 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

Subject to the receipt of amended drawings, the proposal would not give rise to unacceptable 
harm to residential or visual amenities or highway safety or convenience. 
 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Objection received from Parish Council  

WARD Bobbing, Iwade & 
Lower Halstow 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Iwade 

APPLICANT Mr P Seitz 

AGENT John Childs And 
Associates 

DECISION DUE DATE 

17/02/16 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

04/02/16 

 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 6 Meadow Rise is a modern semi-detached property with the off road parking for at 

least two vehicles to the front of the property.  The property benefits from an open 
lawn to the front and an enclosed garden to the rear. To the side of the property stands 
a substantial single storey garage/workshop building. 

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 This application seeks permission to demolish the existing garage/workshop and 

construct a two-storey side and single-storey rear extension, front porch with 
alterations to front fenestration.   

 
2.02 The two storey side extension would extend from the side elevation of the host 

property by 3.30m and would be approximately 6.8m deep.  A covered area and office 
to the rear of the dwelling would be removed and the single storey element of the 
proposed development erected in its place, projecting no further to the rear (2.5m rear 
of the main body of the dwelling). A porch to the front elevation is also proposed, 
measuring 1.2m deep and 2.7m wide, with a pitched roof. 

  
2.03 This proposal will create an additional sitting room to the side and a breakfast room 

leading from the existing kitchen to the rear (incorporating the office area).  The first 
floor will have an additional bedroom with en suite facilities. 

 
2.04 The boundary of the site is at an angle to the dwelling, and therefore whilst at the front 

of the elevation of the extension there would be a gap of 2m between the proposed 
extension and the side boundary, to the rear this gap would narrow to less than a 
metre. 

  

Page 199



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.7 
 

196 
 

 
3.0 PLANNING POLICY 
 
3.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice 

Guidance (NPPG) are relevant in terms of encouraging good design standards and 
minimising the potential impacts of any development upon the amenity of neighbouring 
residents. 

 
3.02 The adopted Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 echoes a similar sentiment, and saved 

policies E1, E19, E24 in particular encourage the provision of high-quality 
development and minimising potential amenity impacts for local residents.   
 

3.03 The publication draft of the emerging Local Plan, entitled Bearing Fruits 2031, was 
agreed by Members at Full Council late last year and, as such, carries some weight in 
the determination of planning applications.  Policies DM14, DM16, DM19 are relevant 
in this instance. 

 
3.04 The Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) entitled “Designing 

an Extension” is also relevant, and provides general design guidance.  The SPG 
remains a material consideration, having been through a formal review and adoption 
process. 

 
4.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
4.01 No local representations have been received. 
 
5.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
5.01 Iwade Parish Council raises objection and comment as follows: 
 
 The Parish Council objects to this application on the following grounds: 
 

a) Loss of parking spaces. 
b) Visual impact on the existing street scene; although this is not necessarily a 
negative comment. 

 
6.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 

Application papers and drawings referring to the application reference 
15/510564/FULL. 
 

7.0 APPRAISAL 
 
7.01 The key considerations in this case are whether the proposal is acceptable in terms of 

design and impact on visual amenity, and impact on residential amenity. 
 
 Design and visual amenity 
 
7.02 The design of the proposed extension is, in my view, not acceptable as submitted. The 

SPG requires first floor side extensions to be set down from the ridge of the roof of the 
dwelling, and to be set back from the front elevation of the dwelling, in order that they 
are viewed as a subordinate structure to the original dwelling and that their bulk and 
scale is minimised. Neither of these design features have been utilised here, and the 
proposed extension would in my view appear as a bulky addition to the dwelling.  

 

Page 200



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.7 
 

197 
 

7.03 I would not consider this to amount to a reason for refusal, if the two storey extension 
was set in by two metres from the boundary, as also required by the SPG. The purpose 
of this, in areas of well spaced detached or semi-detached dwellings, is to retain a 
sense of openness and to prevent a “terracing effect”, harmful to the character and 
appearance of the streetscene. In this case, whilst the extension would be 2m from the 
side boundary at the front, due to the angled nature of the boundary, this space 
narrows to less than a metre at the rear. This would lead, in my opinion, to a harmful 
loss of openness between the dwelling the subject of the application and the 
neighbouring property which, if repeated elsewhere in the streetscene, would give rise 
to significant harm to the character and appearance of the area.  

 
7.04 I have previously requested that the application be amended to address this issue. The 

plans have not though been amended, and the agent has provided the following 
response: 

 
  “..from the principle elevation we will have approximately 2.26m from the boundary to 

the front corner of the extension.  I have also added a dotted blue line to demonstrate 
that if number 8 were to construct a two storey extension and adhere to your 2m policy, 
there would still be approximately 4.26m separation to the principle elevations.  
Because of this separation and the unique plot position we strongly feel that the 
openness will still be retained along with the character of the street and because there 
will be no physical or visual link then there will be no terracing affect either.  At its 
narrowest point and in the scenario that number 8 does extend in future, the gap 
between the two dwellings will still be a good 3.2m.  I trust this satisfies to the council 
that, although there is a set policy in place, the application should be taken on its own 
merits also.” 

 
7.05 In short, the agent considers that as there would be a 2m space to the boundary at the 

front of the site, the proposal should be considered acceptable. I do not agree, and am 
firmly of the view that this proposal would cause demonstrable harm to the character 
and appearance of the streetscene. 

  
7.06 I have requested that the plans be amended in accordance with the SPG and my 

recommendation for approval is wholly on the basis that these amendments are 
received. I will update Members at the Meeting as to whether appropriately amended 
drawings have been received. 

 
 Impact on residential amenity 
 
7.07 The proposed porch is acceptable and would not harm the amenities of occupiers of 

adjacent dwellings. Equally the single storey element of the proposals would not 
project further than the existing, and would in any case comply with the limit of 3m rear 
projection as set out in the SPG. I do not consider that it would harm residential 
amenity. 

 
7.08 The proposed two storey element of the scheme would be separated from the adjacent 

dwelling by a minimum of 4m, and would not project beyond the rear of that dwelling. 
Due to the angle of the properties relative to each other, it would be set forward of the 
adjacent dwelling by approximately 1m, but at this point would be in excess of 6m from 
the adjacent dwelling. As such, I do not consider that it would cause demonstrable 
harm to residential amenity. 

 
  

Page 201



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.7 
 

198 
 

 Highways impact 
 
7.09 The existing garage falls well short of the minimum internal dimensions set by KCC 

Highways and Transportation, and in my view is not capable of being used for parking 
of a vehicle. As such, its demolition would not represent the loss of a parking space, 
and the parking arrangements at the site are unlikely to change. There is already off 
street parking for two vehicles at the site, which is the requirement for a property of this 
size. I do not consider that the proposal would give rise to an increase in on street 
parking, nor do I consider that the provision of all of the parking to the front of the 
dwelling is objectionable in this instance. 

 
8.0 CONCLUSION 
 
8.01 Subject to the receipt of appropriately amended drawings relating to the two storey 

side extension, I consider that the proposed development would be acceptable. I 
will update Members at the Meeting regarding this, but on this basis I recommend 
that planning permission is granted. 

 
 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION - GRANT Subject to the receipt of amended drawings and the 

following conditions: 
 

CONDITIONS 
 

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later that the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which permission is granted. 

 
Reasons: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1900 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
(2) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

extension hereby permitted shall match those on the existing building in terms of 
type, colour and texture. 

 
Reasons: In the interests of visual amenity. 

 
The Council's approach to this application: 

 
 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner by: 

 
• Offering pre-application advice. 
• Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 
• As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application. 
 

In this instance: 
The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent 
had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application. 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the 
relevant Public Access pages on the council's website. 
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

Page 202



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

199 
 

2.8 REFERENCE NO - SW/14/0530 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Siting of two mobile homes with associated utility blocks, with parking for cars and two touring 
caravans for gypsy family and erection of stables. 

ADDRESS The Barn Yard, Land Adjoining Blackthorne Lodge, Greyhound Road, Minster, 
Sheerness, Kent, ME12 3SP       

RECOMMENDATION Grant temporary permission for a year to enable the applicant to find 
alternative accommodation. 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

The site is not suitable for permanent residential use, but the Council is not yet able to direct the 
applicant to available alternative sites. 
 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Parish Council objection. 
 

WARD Sheppey Central PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Minster On Sea 

APPLICANT Mrs Patience 
Brazil 

AGENT Mr Martin Foad 

DECISION DUE DATE 

20 June 2014 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

26 May 2014 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

14/504681/FULL Change of use of land to gypsy residential site 

for the stationing of two static caravans, two 

tourers, one day room. (Ramblin Rose) 

Granted 14.01.2016 

Members will recall this application from the December meeting, where it was agreed to allow use 

of the current site for a further year to enable time for the applicant to find alternative 

accommodation.  This is a result of the Council’s long-held position that Greyhound Road is 

unsuitable for permanent accommodation by virtue of its remote location. 

15/503278/FULL Change of use of land to gypsy residential site 

for the stationing of two static caravans, two 

tourers, one day room. (Blackthorne Lodge) 

Granted 17.12.2015 

Members may also recall this application from the November meeting last year, where a further 

year was agreed for the same reasons as above. 

15/502191/FULL Change of use of land to gypsy residential site 

for the stationing of two static caravans, two 

tourers, one day room. (The Hawthorns) 

Granted 17.12.2015 

As above. 

15/502237/FULL Change of use of land to gypsy residential site 

for the stationing of two static caravans, two 

tourers, one day room. (The Peartree) 

Granted 17.12.2015 

As above. 

Page 203



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

200 
 

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 The Barn Yard is a gypsy site situated on Greyhound Road to the east of Minster and 

west of Brambledown.  It is roughly L-shaped, sits on the southern end of the road, 
and measures approximately 45m wide x 62m deep.  It is largely covered in shingle 
and contains 2 static caravans, 2 tourers and a wooden utility building.  A timber fence 
runs along the front boundary. 

 
1.02 The site sits immediately to the east of Blackthorne Lodge, and to the rear of an 

existing barn / stable building at the southern end of the road.  Two static caravans 
have been erected along the western site boundary. 

 
1.03 Prior to occupation by the applicant in 2014 the land was an open field that had, in the 

past been used for grazing in association with the existing barn / stables. 
 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 The application seeks permission for use of the land as a residential gypsy site, 

including the stationing of 2 static caravans, parking for 2 touring caravans, and the 
erection of 2 utility buildings / dayroom.   

 
2.02 The application also proposes the erection of a stable building to the side of the 

existing barn and stables.  This will measure approximately 9.3m wide x 4m deep x 
3.3m high to the ridge, and will be of a standard design with an overhanging roof to the 
front.  The covering letter states: 
 

“Each site will have a modern mobile home with an associated utility block and 
services.  The sites will also have their own alolocated parking areas which 
will be surfaced in reclaimed road planings / scalpings.  Drainage from the 
accommodation will go to a sealed cesspool… 
 
The utility blocks, as indicated, will be constructed from facing yellow stock 
brickwork and black stained / painted boarding, with Eternit slates to the roof 
and standard timber joinery for the doors and windows.” 

 
2.03 The applicant, Mrs Brazil, is from a local gypsy family that is known to officers, and has 

lived within Swale for many years.  Her parents live on the adjacent site (Blackthorne 
Lodge) and the application site will be occupied by the applicant and her family on plot 
1, and her sister on plot 2. 

 
3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 

 Existing 
 

Site Area (ha) 0.44 (1.08 acres) 

No. of static caravans 2 

No. of touring caravans 2 

 

Page 204



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

201 
 

4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 
4.01 None. 
 
5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 
(PPTS) (Re-issued) 
 
5.01 The national policy position comprises the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS). Both documents were 
released in 2012 but the PPTS was re-issued in August 2015 with amendments. 
Together they provide national guidance for Local Planning Authorities on plan making 
and determining planning applications for Gypsy and Traveller sites.  A presumption 
in favour of sustainable development runs throughout both documents and this 
presumption is an important part of both the plan-making process and in determining 
planning applications. In addition there is a requirement in both documents that makes 
clear that Councils should set pitch targets which address the likely need for pitches 
over the plan period and maintain a rolling five year supply of sites which are in suitable 
locations and available immediately. 

 
5.02 Whilst regard has been paid to all of the guidance as set out within the NPPF, consider 

that the following extracts from paragraph 7 are particularly pertinent: 
 

“There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental. These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to 
perform a number of roles: 

 
● an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure; 
● a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and 
● an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to 
climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.”  

 
5.03 In relation to rural housing the NPPF (at paragraph 55) states; 
 

 “To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. For example, 
where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may 
support services in a village nearby. Local planning authorities should avoid new 
isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as: 

 
- the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of 

work in the countryside; or 
- where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage 

asset or would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of 
heritage assets; or 

Page 205



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

202 
 

- where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and lead 
to an enhancement to the immediate setting; or 

- the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling. Such 
a design should: 

- be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design 
more generally in rural areas; 

- reflect the highest standards in architecture; 
- significantly enhance its immediate setting; and 
- be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.” 

 
5.04 In relation to conserving and enhancing the natural environment the NPPF, at 

paragraph 109, states; 
 

“The planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by: 

- protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests 
and soils; 

- recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; 
- minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity 

where possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the 
overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures; 

- preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put 
at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels 
of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability; and 

- remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate.” 

 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) 
 
5.05 The PPTS was originally published in March 2012 but it was re-issued in August 2015 

with minor changes. Whilst regard has been paid to all of the guidance as set out within 
the PPTS, its main aims now are: 

 
“The Government’s overarching aim is to ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, 
in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while 
respecting the interests of the settled community.” (para 3 PPTS) 

 
5.06 To help achieve this, Government’s aims in respect of traveller sites are:  
 

a. that local planning authorities should make their own assessment of need for the 
purposes of planning  

b. to ensure that local planning authorities, working collaboratively, develop fair and 
effective strategies to meet need through the identification of land for sites  

c. to encourage local planning authorities to plan for sites over a reasonable 
timescale  

d. that plan-making and decision-taking should protect Green Belt from inappropriate 
development  

e. to promote more private traveller site provision while recognising that there will 
always be those travellers who cannot provide their own sites  

f. that plan-making and decision-taking should aim to reduce the number of 
unauthorised developments and encampments and make enforcement more 
effective  

g. for local planning authorities to ensure that their Local Plan includes fair, realistic 
and inclusive policies  

Page 206



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

203 
 

h. to increase the number of traveller sites in appropriate locations with planning 
permission, to address under provision and maintain an appropriate level of supply  

i. to reduce tensions between settled and traveller communities in plan-making and 
planning decisions  

j. to enable provision of suitable accommodation from which travellers can access 
education, health, welfare and employment infrastructure  

k. for local planning authorities to have due regard to the protection of local amenity 
and local environment.” (para 4 PPTS) 

 
5.07 In terms of plan making the PPTS advice is that; 
 

“Local planning authorities should ensure that traveller sites are sustainable 
economically, socially and environmentally. Local planning authorities should, 
therefore, ensure that their policies:  

 
a) promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the local 

community  
b) promote, in collaboration with commissioners of health services, access to 

appropriate health services  
c) ensure that children can attend school on a regular basis  
d) provide a settled base that reduces the need for long-distance travelling and 

possible environmental damage caused by unauthorised encampment  
e) provide for proper consideration of the effect of local environmental quality (such as 

noise and air quality) on the health and well-being of any travellers that may locate 
there or on others as a result of new development  

f) avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services  
g) do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional floodplains, 

given the particular vulnerability of caravans  
h) reflect the extent to which traditional lifestyles (whereby some travellers live and 

work from the same location thereby omitting many travel to work journeys) can 
contribute to sustainability.” (para 13 PPTS) 

 
5.08 For sites in rural areas and the countryside the PPTS advice is that; 
 

“When assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-rural settings, local planning 
authorities should ensure that the scale of such sites does not dominate the nearest 
settled community.” (para 14 PPTS) 

 
5.09 In relation to the determination of planning applications the PPTS says that;  
 

“Applications should be assessed and determined in accordance with the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development and the application of specific policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and this planning policy for traveller sites.” (para 
23 PPTS) 

 
“Local planning authorities should consider the following issues amongst other 
relevant matters when considering planning applications for traveller sites:  

 
a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites  
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants  
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant  
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which 

form the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to 
assess applications that may come forward on unallocated sites  

Page 207



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

204 
 

e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just 
those with local connections”   

 
“However, as paragraph 16 [relating to Green Belts] makes clear, subject to the best 
 interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet need are unlikely to clearly 
outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm so as to establish very special 
circumstances.” (para 24 PPTS). (This mini paragraph was added in the 2015 re-issue 
of PPTS.) 

 
“Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller site development in 
open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in 
the development plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas 
respect the scale of, and do not dominate the nearest settled community, and avoid 
placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure.” (para 25 PPTS). (The word 
“very” was added to this paragraph in the 2015 re-issue of PPTS.) 

 
“If a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up-to-date 5year supply of 
deliverable sites, this should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent 
planning decision when considering applications for the grant of temporary permission. 
The exception to this is where the proposal is on land designated as Green Belt; sites 
protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and / or sites designated as Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest; Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
or within a National Park (or the Broads).” (para 27 PPTS). Members might like to note 
that the last sentence above was added to this paragraph in the 2015 re-issue of 
PPTS. 

 
5.10 Finally, the definition of gypsies and travellers has been amended in the re-issued 

PPTS to remove the words “or permanently” from after the word “temporarily” in the 
following definition; 

 
“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons 
who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health 
needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an 
organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.” 

 
Saved Policies of Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 
 
5.11 Policy E1 (General Development Control Criteria) sets out standards applicable to all 

development, saying that it should be well sited appropriate in scale, design and 
appearance with a high standard of landscaping, and have safe pedestrian and 
vehicular access whilst avoiding unacceptable consequences in highway terms. 

 
5.12 This site lies in an isolated position within the countryside where policy E6 (The 

Countryside) seeks to protect the quality, character and amenity of the countryside, 
and states that development will not be permitted outside rural settlements in the 
interests of countryside conservation, unless related to an exceptional need for a rural 
location.  

 
5.13 Within the countryside, and outside of designated landscape areas such as AONBs, 

policy E9 (Protecting the Quality and Character of the Borough’s Landscape)  expects 
development to be informed by local landscape character and quality, consider 
guidelines in the Council’s landscape character and assessment, safeguard distinctive 
landscape elements, remove detracting features and minimise adverse impacts on 
landscape character. 

 

Page 208



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

205 
 

5.14 Policy E19 (Achieving High Quality Design and Distinctiveness) requires development 
proposals to be well designed.  

 
5.15 Policy H4 explains the Borough Council will only grant planning permission for the use 

of land for the stationing of homes for persons who can clearly demonstrate that they 
are gypsies or travelling showpersons with a genuine connection with the locality of the 
proposed site, in accordance with 1 and 2 below.  

 
1. For proposals involving the establishment of public or privately owned 

residential gypsy or travelling showpersons sites: 
a) there will be a proven need in the Borough for the site and for the size 

proposed; 
b) the site will be located close to local services and facilities; 
c) there will be no more than four caravans; 
d) the site will be located close to the primary or secondary road  

  networks 
e) in the case of a greenfield site there is no suitable site available on 

previously developed land in the locality; 
f) the site is not designated for its wildlife, historic or landscape 

importance; 
g) the site should be served, or capable of being served, by mains water 

supply and a satisfactory means of sewage disposal and refuse 
collection; 

h) there is no conflict with pedestrian or highway safety; 
i) screening and landscaping will be provided to minimise adverse 

impacts; 
j) no industrial, retail, commercial, or storage activities will take place on 

the site. 
k) use of the site will not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon 

residential amenity, or agricultural or commercial use, of surrounding 
areas; and  

l) the land will not be in a designated flood risk area. 
 

2. Additionally to 1, for proposals for short term stopping places: 
 

m) there will be a planning condition to ensure that the length of stay for 
each caravan will be no longer than 28 days with no return to the site 
within 3 months.”  

 
5.16 This policy was criticised by the Local Plan Inspector who saw it, as a criteria based 

rather than site allocations policy, as inconsistent with the then Circular 01/2006 - 
which itself has since been superseded by PPTS and its emphasis of a five year supply 
of sites - and the policy can only be of limited significance to this application. 

 
Bearing Fruits 2031: 2014 Examination version of the Swale Borough Local Plan 
 
5.17 The Council’s Examination version of the draft Local Plan, entitled Bearing Fruits 2031, 

was published in December 2014 and was examined in November and December 
2015.  5.25 below provides further commentary on this. 

 
5.18 Policy CP 3 of the draft Local Plan aims to provide pitches for gypsies and travellers as 

part of new residential developments, and policy DM10 sets out criteria for assessing 
windfall gypsy site applications. 

  

Page 209



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

206 
 

 
Site Assessment  
 
5.19 The Council’s February 2014 Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocations: Issues and Options 

consultations document recommends a new methodology for how to assess site 
suitability for determining whether or not to allocate a site. Although this was primarily 
intended to rank potential site allocations, it was agreed by Members of the LDF Panel 
in June 2014 to be used as a material consideration in planning applications. Even 
though this is normally done in relation to the potential suitability of a fresh site, given 
that this application is largely retrospective I have considered it in formulating this 
recommendation to be sure that the recommendation is up-to-date. This assessment 
is a Red/Amber/Green staged approach to site suitability, with any site scoring Red in 
any stage not being progressed to the next stage. 

 
5.20 The red scores mean that the site should not proceed to Stage 3 and will not be a 

candidate site for a future allocations policy. The Barnyard (and, indeed, many of the 
other sites along Greyhound Road) scores red in a number of categories, including 
domination of nearest settled community; site access; and access to facilities.  It is 
therefore not considered suitable as a permanent site – this has been the Council’s 
stance in regards to all gypsy and traveller applications along Greyhound Road for a 
number of years. 

 
Five year supply position 
 
5.21 The PPTS has since 2012 introduced a need for Council’s to maintain a rolling five 

year supply of sites which are in suitable locations and available immediately. This is a 
relatively new requirement for Council’s and the Council could only start attempting to 
meet this requirement following the commissioning and publication of the GTAA which 
provided the need figure and a base date.  As such, the Council put measures into 
place to deal with the PPTS requirements very quickly, but have only recently started 
down the route of trying to maintain a rolling five year supply. 

 
5.22 The GTAA sets out a target of 85 pitches to be provided by the year 2031, with a 

suggested provision of 35 pitches in the first five years (to 2018). Three pitches were 
approved during the course of the GTAA’s production so the final target was in fact 82 
pitches. Since the publication of the GTAA and up to the end of March 2015 a total of 
47 permanent pitches have been approved in Swale almost exclusively without an 
appeal, of which 33 pitches had been implemented. Evidence to be presented to the 
Local Plan examination later this year shows that at the end of March 2015 the need 
for pitches identified from the GTAA thus stood at 82 pitches minus the 33 permanent 
pitches approved and implemented, including the personal permissions granted in the 
interim. This reduced the need to 49 pitches which, at an annualised rate of 4.6 pitches 
per year (23 pitches over five years) indicated that the Council has already provided a 
surplus of supply of 0.8 pitches over the full five year requirement. This is calculated by 
taking the two year annualised requirement of 9.2 pitches from the completions so far 
to show a current surplus of 23.8 implemented pitches over the two year requirement 
and already a surplus of 0.8 approved permanent pitches over the five year need after 
just two years. In addition to this there are a further 13 approved but unimplemented 
permanent pitches as at the end of March 2015, an overall surplus of 14 pitches. 
These mostly comprise extensions to, or more intensive use of, existing sites and are 
awaiting occupation. Since then two more wholly new permanent sites have been 
approved at Eastchurch and Newington. Planning permission for a further two fresh 
pitches is awaiting only the completion of a Section 106 Agreement on a large mixed 
use development site at Faversham. This is a very considerable achievement and 
indicates the Council’s positive attitude to such development in the right location. 

Page 210



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

207 
 

Furthermore, the likelihood of significant pitch provision as part of major new mixed 
use developments is a key feature of the emerging Local Plan and we will shortly see if 
that policy forms part of the final Plan. 

 
The latest position of site provision 
 
5.23 Evidence to the current Local Plan examination is that the Council has re-interrogated 

the GTAA to determine the appropriate level of pitch provision based on the new 2015 
PPTS revised definition of gypsies and travellers. The data reveals that for all but 
unauthorised sites some two-thirds of households surveyed for the GTAA either never 
travel or travel not more than once a year. Overall, only 31% of respondents travel a 
few times a year, and 55% never travel, meaning that in Swale the gypsy and traveller 
population is quite settled, slightly more so than elsewhere in the country. Many 
current site occupants no longer meet the new PPTS definition of having a nomadic 
habit of life 

 
5.24 Accordingly, the need for pitches in Swale has been re-evaluated, resulting in a 

reduced estimate of pitch need of 61 pitches over the Plan period to 2031. Of these 51 
have already been granted permanent planning permission meaning that the 
outstanding need is just 10 pitches to 2031. The Council considers that on the basis of 
past trends this need could easily be met from windfall proposals.  

 
5.25 As a result of this analysis, the Council is suggesting through main modifications to its 

draft Local Plan that the future need be based on a figure of 61 pitches, leaving a need 
per year of 0.7 pitches and, that no formal pitch allocations will be needed. Policy 
DM10 would be revised to deal with these windfall applications and policy CP3 would 
be removed from the Plan. Accordingly, a Part 2 Local Plan would not be required. The 
Local Plan Inspector endorsed this approach at the Inquiry sitting in November this 
year.  Full, formal, acceptance of this stance relies upon a further round of public 
consultation, but based on the representations received up to this point it is not 
envisaged that there will be a significant deviation. 

 
5.26 However, irrespective of the question of the five year supply, the question of whether 

any approved and unoccupied sites are available to individual appellants is also 
normally taken in to account by Inspectors. Here, the evidence suggest that they may 
consider that sites approved as expansions of existing site are not readily available to 
appellants facing loss of their existing temporary site. This appears to confirm their 
decisions where the question of availability of alternative sites is crucial to their 
decision. 

 
5.27 To conclude on this subject, it seems that there is no reason to see approved but 

unimplemented pitches as other than as part of a five year supply. Nor should potential 
ethnic grouping issues rule them out of consideration where this applies. However, 
there appears to be a question in Inspector’s minds regarding whether such sites 
should be afforded full weight in relation to the prospects of them being suitable for a 
particular appellant, and whether they will wish to, or be able to, occupy such a site for 
reasons of ethnicity, or availability for other than families of the current site owners. 

 
5.28 The revised PPTS (2015) has resulted in considerable uncertainty as it changes the 

planning definition of a traveller and gypsy, and therefore what number of required 
pitches need to be identified. The Council has addressed this by re-interrogating the 
GTAA data and presenting a number of options for the way forward to the Inspector at 
the current Bearing Fruits Local Plan Examination. At the time of writing the Inspector 
has yet to consider or decide which option is appropriate and in the mean time it is 

Page 211



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

208 
 

considered appropriate to continue to consider applications in the context of the GTAA 
as originally drafted. 

 
6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.01 The application was advertised by way of a site notice, and letters to local residents. 
 
6.02 Two letters of objection have been submitted by local residents, commenting: 
 

- The scale of sites on Greyhound Road now dominates the settled community;  
- Work has already been carried out on site;  
- The site is within a flood plain [NB: the site is outside of the flood zone];  
- Planning permission was previously refused for a dwelling and smallholding on the 

site [NB: this relates to an enforcement case where a caravan was being lived in 
by a single person, who did not claim gypsy / traveller status, and without any 
justification of agricultural need];  

- Gypsies and Travellers are treated differently to the settled population; and  
- The Council will not listen to local concerns “as you have never done so in the 

past.” 
 
6.03 The Brambledown Resident’s Association objects on the following summarised 

grounds: 
  

- There has been an established pattern of unauthorised sites on Greyhound Road; 
- The number of pitches has formed one large site, with further surrounding land 

available for more expansion; 
- Cumulative, dominating impact on settled community; 
- The Woodlands Lodge appeal decision sets a precedent for refusing permission 

here; and 
- Planning enforcement action has been slow to respond. 

 
6.04 No other representations received. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
7.01 Minster Parish Council objects strongly on the following summarised grounds: 
 

- Impact on the character and amenity value of the countryside; 
- Remote, unsustainable location; 
- Domination of nearby settled community; and 
- History of planning breaches. 

 
A full copy of the Parish Council’s objection is appended to this report. 

 
7.02 Southern Water has no objections, but advises that the Environment Agency should be 

consulted with regard to the use of soakaways and septic tanks. 
 
7.03 No other representations received. 
 
8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
8.01 Of particular relevance is the appeal for Woodlands Lodge, another gypsy / traveller 

site also on Greyhound Road, under ENF/13/0036 and APP/V2255/C/13/2208507. 
 

Page 212



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

209 
 

8.02 An enforcement notice was served on 14 October 2013 in respect of the applicant 
having moved on to the site unlawfully.  The breach alleged within the notice was 
“without planning permission, the material change of use of the land to land used as a 
caravan site for the stationing of caravans/ mobile homes used residentially, including 
the erection of a utility building(s) and the laying of hard-surfacing” at land now known 
as Woodland Lodge, Brambledown, Greyhound Road, Minster. 

 
8.03 The appeal was allowed – largely on the personal circumstances of the applicant, but 

also as the Council could not identify other sites to which the applicant could relocate – 
and with the Inspector commenting (at paras. 41 and 43 of the decision): 

 
“In terms of the site’s location, it is remote and lacks access to local facilities. It is 
unsuitable and unsustainable for a caravan site. Added to that is the harm caused by 
the development to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. That harm 
cannot be overcome by landscape planting.  Accordingly, the development conflicts 
with LP Policies E1 and E6, and advice contained in paragraphs 11 and 23 of the 
PPTS, because of the harmful environmental impact. I attach substantial weight to 
these findings. 

 
On balance, however, taking all of these considerations into account, I conclude that 
the identified harm that arises from the development outweighs my findings on the 
positive aspects of the development. On this basis, a permanent permission should not 
be granted at this time.” 

 
8.04 Members will also recall applications for The Hawthorns, The Peartree, and Blackthorn 

Lodge, which were considered at the meeting on 17 December, and Ramblin Rose, 
which was considered at the meeting on 14 January, where Members agreed to grant 
permission for a further year to allow current residents time to find alternative 
accommodation. 

 
9.0 APPRAISAL 
 
9.01 This scheme differs somewhat from the previous applications noted above in that it 

has not previously been granted permission, and while the application is retrospective, 
it effectively amounts to an application for a fresh site.  That notwithstanding, 
however, the circumstances and considerations are the same as for the previous 
applications for the neighbouring sites. 

 
9.02 The PPTS suggests that local planning authorities should have due regard to the 

protection of local amenity and local environment and ensure that traveller sites are 
sustainable economically, socially and environmentally. The PPTS makes it clear that 
“applications should be assessed and determined in accordance with the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development and the application of specific policies in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and this planning policy for traveller sites.”   

 
9.03 The PPTS goes on to say that “Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new 

traveller site development in open countryside that is away from existing settlements or 
outside areas allocated in the development plan. Local planning authorities should 
ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate the nearest 
settled community, and avoid placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure.”  
It is worth noting that the word “very” was added to this paragraph in the 2015 re-issue 
of PPTS which implies to me that whilst there is still no outright ban on approving sites 
in open countryside, there is a need to give greater weight to the harm that sites such 
as this one can do to the character of open countryside. 

 

Page 213



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

210 
 

9.04 The proliferation of sites on Greyhound Road has caused some harm to the character 
and appearance of the street scene and the wider countryside.  An area of woodland 
has been removed to make room for the various plots and, as a result, a number of the 
sites are prominent in views from the Lower Road and give rise to a harsh urbanised 
appearance that is contrary to the rural character of the area.  I am not convinced that 
landscaping entirely mitigates this harm. 

 
9.05 The number of sites on Greyhound Road has also reached a point at which they 

dominate the local settled community at Brambledown and the small unmade local 
roads nearby. 

 
9.06 The unsuitability of the location along with the harm caused, as set out above, is a 

clear indication that permanent planning permission should not be granted.  The 
Inspector’s decision on the Woodlands Lodge appeal (as above) supports this 
assertion, and provides a clear steer for the Council.   

 
9.07 However - I consider that there has been a significant change in relevant 

considerations since the first grant of temporary permission for pitches on Greyhound 
Road in 2008 (The Hawthorns, SW/08/0579), with a very strong growth in the number 
of permanent permitted pitches within the Borough, and the evolution of the Council’s 
policy approach to gypsy and traveller sites. 

 
9.08 I understand that at the end of the 2014/2015 annual monitoring year 47 permanent 

gypsy and traveller sites had been permitted. According to the strictest supply 
calculation, that represents a more than five year supply of sites in just two years, with 
approval of more windfall sites likely.  As such, I see no overriding need for sites that 
suggests that a site with such clear environmental and sustainability objections should 
be approved on a permanent basis. Any re-calculation of need following the re-issue of 
PPTS can only reduce the need figure, but that is an argument that I do not feel needs 
to be given weight here. 

 
9.09 This situation may improve still further with new sites coming forward through windfall 

applications. However, there is not yet a set of currently genuinely available sites for 
this applicant to relocate to, and it is unlikely that there will be in the immediate future. 
This suggests that more time than initially thought is required to see the future of the 
applicant resolved and further clarification on gypsy and traveller policy would be 
established through National Planning Policy Guidance and the adoption of the Local 
Plan. 

 
9.10 This suggests that there is a need to grant further temporary permissions for the 

existing sites along Greyhound Road, including the current application site, to enable 
the applicants to find alternative accommodation.  

 
9.11 I therefore recommend that temporary permission, for a period of 1 year, be granted, 

which will give time for the applicants to investigate alternative accommodation and for 
the Council to continue to review its position in regards to the supply of sites.   

 
9.12 I consider that the Council’s position is not strong enough in terms of being able to 

direct the applicant to alternative sites at this time to justify an outright refusal of 
permission if an appeal were to be submitted.  In this regard I would revisit the 
previous Inspector’s decision, as above, in which the Inspector comments “I find that in 
the immediate future, the prospects of finding an affordable, acceptable and suitable 
alternative site with planning permission in the Borough appear limited.” 

 

Page 214



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

211 
 

9.13 Refusal of planning permission here would be an infringement of the applicant’s rights 
under Article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights.  To a lesser extent so 
too is the grant of permission for only one year.  However that infringement would, in 
my opinion, be proportionate and necessary in the public interest to avoid permanent 
harm to the countryside and landscape, which is supported by the above local and 
national policies. 

 
10.0 CONCLUSION 
 
10.01 The application seeks permanent residential use of the site by two gypsy families.  

The Council has long held the view, which has been supported at appeal, that the site 
is not suitable for permanent accommodation, and the Council has now effectively met 
its 5-year supply target, but at this stage we are unable to direct the applicant to 
available alternative pitches. 

 
10.02 Taking the above into account I recommend that temporary permission be granted for 

a period of 1 year to allow time for the applicant to find suitable alternative site. 
 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions: 
 
(1) The use hereby permitted shall be for a limited period being the period of one year from 

the date of this decision. At the end of this period the use hereby permitted shall cease, 
all caravans, buildings, structures, materials and equipment brought on to, or erected 
on the land, or works undertaken to it in connection with the use shall be removed, and 
the land restored to its condition before the  development took place. 
 
Reasons: As permission has only been granted in recognition of the particular 
circumstances of the case, having regard to the lack of alternative, available sites 
elsewhere within the Borough, in accordance with DCLG Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites.  

 
(2) The site shall not be occupied by any persons other than gypsies and travellers as 

defined in Annex 1 to the DCLG Planning Policy for Traveller Sites.  
 
Reasons: In recognition of the terms of the application, and because an 
uncontrolled use of the land would be unacceptably detrimental to the character and 
amenities of the area. 

 
(3) No more than two touring caravans shall be stationed on the site at any one time. 

 
Reasons: In recognition of the terms of the application, and because an 
uncontrolled use of the land would be unacceptably detrimental to the character and 
amenities of the area. 

   
(4) The site shall only be used for residential purposes and it shall not be used for any 

business, industrial or commercial use. In this regard no open storage of plant, 
products or waste may take place on the land and no vehicle over 3.5 tonnes shall be 
stationed, parked or stored on the land. 
 
Reasons: In recognition of the terms of the application, and because an 
uncontrolled use of the land would be unacceptably detrimental to the character and 
amenities of the area. 

 

Page 215



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

212 
 

(5)  No floodlighting, security lighting or other external lighting shall be installed or operated 
at the site, other than in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reasons: In the interests of preventing light pollution. 
 
(6) The access details shown on the approved plans shall be maintained in accordance 

with these details. 
 
 Reasons: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. 
 
(7) The areas shown on the submitted layout as vehicle parking spaces shall be retained 

for the use of the occupiers of, and visitors to, the premises, and no permanent 
development, whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order), shall be carried out on that area of land so shown or in such a position as to 
preclude vehicular access to these reserved parking spaces. 
 
Reasons: To ensure the use does not prejudice conditions of highway safety and 
in accordance with Policy T3 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008. 

 
The Council’s approach to this application 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by: 
 
Offering pre-application advice. 
Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 
As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 
their application. 
 
In this instance the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application. 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

Page 216



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

213 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

 

Page 217



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 2.8 

214 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

 

Page 218



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

218 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 MARCH 2016 PART 3 
 
Report of the Head of Planning 
 
PART 3 
 
Applications for which REFUSAL is recommended 
  
 
3.1 REFERENCE NO - 15/509814/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Erection of one detached dwelling. 

ADDRESS 19 South Road Faversham Kent ME13 7LR    

RECOMMENDATION REFUSAL 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR REFUSAL   

By reason of scale, siting and height the proposal represents a harmfully intrusive element into 
the area that would fail to preserve or enhance Faversham conservation area. 

 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

Councillor request 
 

WARD St Ann's PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Faversham Town 

APPLICANT Mrs L C Guthrie 

AGENT Redsquare Architects 
Ltd. 

DECISION DUE DATE 

21/01/16 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

12/02/16 

 

 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 The site is a terraced residential property located on South Road, Faversham. The 

property has a long rear garden similar to others in the immediate vicinity, however, 
towards the rear of the garden it widens and angles behind the rear gardens of no 
21, 23, 25 and 27 South Road to abut Cross Lane. 

 
1.02 The site is located  within Faversham conservation area and the character of the rear 

of the site where the new dwelling is proposed is an attractive area of rear gardens 
positioned either side of the largely C19 brick walls bounding each side of Cross 
Lane (a pedestrian walkway linking Bank Street to South Road).  Individual 
pedestrian gate entrances to houses on Stone Street punctuate the rear garden walls 
off Cross Lane and the only notable vertical intrusions into this leafy green area come 
in the form of trees punctuating the skyline in places. 

 
1.03 The site’s eastern boundary is that of the Faversham Pools with the outdoor pool set 

approx. 1.5m from the site boundary. 
 

Page 219



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

219 
 

2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 The proposal is for the erection of a new dwelling house which comprises two blocks 

one a two storey block located on the west boundary which includes the boundary 
wall with no 23 South Road. This will provide a bedroom, study, w.c and hallway on 
the ground floor and two further bedrooms and a bathroom on the first floor. It is 
located approx. 4.7m from the front of the site which is the boundary brick wall facing  
Cross Lane. Four roof lights are provided and first floor windows on both gable ends 
facing across Cross Lane and across the proposed rear garden. A further  four 
windows measuring a total of 2.6m in length and 0.7m in depth will provide light to 
the landing area and provide views to the east towards the swimming pool. This 
element measures 12.2m in length and 4.5m in width and has an eaves height of 
4.4m and a ridge height of 7.2m. 

 
2.02 The single storey element of the house is located to the east and set back over 2m 

from the front elevation of the two storey block and extends 1.7m to the rear, making 
the length 11.8m in total and 4.5m in width with a height of 3.4m. This is a lean to 
element that provides an open plan kitchen, dining and lounge space.   

 
2.02 The building also has a basement which is accessed from the hallway and provides a 

utility and storage space.  
 
2.03 The building is shown to have a slate roof, stained timber weather boarding, timber 

joinery and conservation style roof lights.  
 
2.04 There is no vehicular access to the site and a garage is owned by the applicant in  

Tanners Street for use by future occupants.  
 
2.05 The Council engaged in pre application discussions over a protracted period with the 

applicant. However, it is only with the submission of the application with the full 
details, including the Heritage Impact Assessment that a full assessment and 
determination is able to be made.  

 
2.06 The initial response in 2013 was limited as no drawings were provided with the 

submission for the “eco house” but it was confirmed that with the site being in the 
defined built up area of Faversham there was a presumption in favour of a high 
quality proposal. However, due to the sensitive nature of the site and likely impact on 
the surrounding area it was confirmed the requirement for any proposal to be of an 
exceptional design standard. The applicant was invited to submit further design 
details to gain pre application advice. 

  
2.07 Further pre application details were submitted in 2014 but due to the bulk, massing 

and multi pitched roof elements it was considered harmful to the character of the 
area and the conclusion was that any revisions should be reduced in scale and 
massing and that the submitted scheme did not relate well to the special character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 
 

2.08 Further revised drawings were received mid 2015 offering 2 schemes. The 
conclusion then was that support was not able to be offered for either scheme with  
acknowledgment that “this is a difficult site and it may be that it is not possible to 
achieve what your client requires on this small site.” 
 

Page 220



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

220 
 

2.09 Following a site meeting and revised drawings a response in September 2015 
offered encouragement that the building showed a stronger relationship to its context 
and was now of the proportions and scale of a modest coach house, whilst the lean 
to was the least successful part and consideration should be given to reducing the 
width. Further advice was given that any formal application “should give a good 
indication of eaves and verges, fenestration design, quality of materials…important to 
demonstrate that acceptable access arrangements to the site can be provided and 
that it be vital to provide justification/evidence showing how this type of development 
is appropriate in this location” 

 
3.0   APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.01 The application is supported by additional information from the applicant in the form 

of a Heritage Impact Assessment as required by para 128 of the NPPF which 
concludes that the potential impact of the development is that: 

 

 Could visually impact on surrounding properties 

 Architecturally its aesthetic could be inappropriate for the conservation area 

 19 South Road reduced garden could be inappropriate for that house 
 

3.02 Each of the points above are addressed, stating that the pre application design 
development in conjunction with Officers had ensured a final design for the site that 
is both unimposing, modest and architecturally appropriate and that the revised rear 
garden boundary would match that of neighbouring properties.  

 
3.03 Also, a pre application history report has been provided explaining from the 

applicants viewpoint the process and stating at the end that “The above documented 
record completes our pre application history and confirms that the proposed scheme 
submitted for planning application has been developed in full with Swale Planning 
and Conservation, and that an informal recommendation of support has been agreed 
in principle.” 

 
3.04 Additional details have been provided to alleviate concerns and misunderstandings 

and to provide assurances that the project has been considered in light of both 
neighbours and the neighbourhood specifically. Cross Lane will not be closed, no 
trees will be removed as part of the application, the garden wall adj to no 23 is owned 
by the applicant, no habitable windows overlook any part of the neighbouring sites, 
bins will be within the development site, liaison with Building Control has confirmed 
either a new dedicated dry riser or an automist system or sprinkler system would 
comply with relevant fire protection regulations.  

 
4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

Conservation Area Faversham 
 
MOD Thurnham MOD Safeguarding Directive Thurnham 
 
Thurnham Exclusion Zone Thurnham, Kent 
 
Thurnham Wind Station tHURNHAM WIND SAFEGUARDING 

Page 221



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

221 
 

5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Development Plan: Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 (saved policies) E1, E19 & H2 
Bearing Fruits Local Plan 2031 (Publication Version, December 2014) Policy DM14: 
General Development Criteria CP8: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic 
Environment: Policy DM33: Development Affecting a Conservation Area 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents: Conservation Areas 

 
6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.1  Over 50 comments of objection to the proposal have been received raising the 

following summarised issues; 

 Want the 1st floor window facing Cross Lane which overlooks the gardens & looks 
directly into the back windows of our property and reduces our degree of privacy 
removed or obscured. 

 This is effectively a three story building at the end of the applicant’s garden that will 
not blend in and be highly visible from all angles. 

 proposed house is too large for the site 

 If there is a real need for the applicant to build a domestic residence in their rear 
garden then a single storey less intrusive building would be far more acceptable 

 It is not a modest house. At 204m2 the proposal is close to twice the size of the 
average home in Faversham and directly comparable in floor space to many of its 

established neighbours. 
 The building will both overshadow and overlook our garden, which until now has 

been a private space  

 Will have an uncomfortable relationship with our land which is in use all year round 
and will lose the morning sun all year 

 Proposed window on the second floor overlooking Cross Lane, will overlook to the 
rear of properties on Stone Street, the rear gardens abut Cross Lane at a 
substantially lower level.  

 The two storey dwelling will 'tower' above the end of the garden and will overshadow 
the entire garden. This will reduce privacy and will adversely impact the end of the 

garden. 
 The proposed building is tall (we estimate 9m from the plans) and will loom over its 

surroundings 

 The open aspect that the gardens in South Road means that this building will 
be seen from our kitchen and from the first and second floors bedrooms which 
means the loss of existing views and would adversely affect the residential amenity 
of our house 

 The established pattern of development in this area consists of houses along South 
Road with lengthy rear gardens. The proposed development is in conflict with the 

established pattern and would be detrimental to the townscape of this area. 
 The general character of the area enclosed by the houses of South Road, Stone 

Street and the Swimming Pool is leafy and open, with many mature trees and much 
wildlife. 

 It will have an adverse effect of the development on the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area 

 Establish a precedent encouraging further developments in gardens, effectively 'in-

filling' the green spaces within the town centre. 

Page 222



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

222 
 

 Faversham has a characterful and historic town centre with many attractive Victorian 
and Georgian buildings alongside gardens and green spaces. We believe these 
spaces and the character of the town need to be protected 

 The encircled garden enclave which forms a crucial and original aspect of this part of 
the conservation area 

 By siting this substantial dwelling in the middle of this garden enclave it will 
fundamentally and very substantially alter the dynamic of this space, in a way which 
neither conserves nor enhances it 

 Swale Local Plan point 5.3.1 that they will "consider policies to resist inappropriate 
development of residential gardens” 

 Proposal does not satisfy planning policy E15 to protect Conservation areas, as it 
does not "preserve or enhance all features that contribute positively to the area's 
special character or appearance".  

 It does not "pay special attention to the use of detail and materials" as the design is 
nothing like the houses in South Road, Stone Street or further along the lane.  

 It does not "retain the layout, form of streets, [or] spaces" because there is no 

residential development along that stretch of lane; it is an area of gardens. 
 There is no mention of development along the lane being considered suitable in the 

current Local Plan or emerging Local Plan  

 It is reasonable for residents to be able to enjoy their properties without the 
uncertainty of sudden changes in their environment and there has been no 
expectation, or local consultation, that the lane would ever be prey to development. 

 Faversham Town Council's Town Action Plan states 'green spaces within Faversham 
are precious and should not be lost’ 

 Also of concern is the proposed 'package treatment plant' 

 The property is not to be connected to the main sewer. There are no details on the 
plan as to where this will be sited or whether there has been consultation with the 

Environment Agency and the Water Authority. 
 A new property in this position (footpath which is little used at night, no CCTV, 

already the subject of graffiti) would lead to the South Road back gardens being 
increasingly vulnerable to break-ins 

 Application states that there are no trees or hedges on the proposed development 
site. However, there are number of established trees and hedges located along the 
west wall which will need to be removed as this wall will be incorporated in the 
proposed new building. 

 Design is to give it a 'workshop/coach house' aesthetic and that it aligns with other 
buildings further down the lane" Which buildings are these? There are none in Cross 
Lane visible at all, between South Road and Bank Street. 

 Understand the aim of the appearance of this proposed dwelling is to mimic a 
'modest' coach house, but we feel this effect is incongruous due to its location and 
the nature of the terraced houses surrounding it. Also, its design and size is not in 
keeping with a Victorian coach house 

 It is clear that significant thought has been given to the design of the proposed 
property in terms of its potential impact on the privacy of existing neighbouring 
properties. However, this exacerbates the problems from a visual perspective, 
particularly the aspect from the properties on South Road where the plans indicate 
that there would be an expanse of weatherboarding and roof. 

 If a building is to be erected on this site, believe it should be one storey. As many of 
the concerns relating to the visual impact of the proposed property stem from the fact 
that it is a two storey building 

 In the neighbouring properties while there are a couple of single storey garden 
structures, such as summer houses, these are entirely in keeping with the large 
gardens in which they sit. 

Page 223



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

223 
 

 The workshop/coach house aesthetic does not work due to the non-authentic and 
excessive use of banks of skylights  

 While Faversham does indeed have some 2 storey workshops or coach houses, they 
are almost exclusively associated with current or former pubs and shops. As such, 
while this aesthetic may fit in with some parts of the conservation area it is not 
architecturally appropriate in this specific setting of substantial Victorian family homes 

 Add to the parking problems of the neighbouring roads and should be considered 

 There is no parking provision at the site 

 A family house of this size, particularly if older family members are being 
accommodated, will almost certainly require more than the one parking space 
provided by the Tanner Street garage 

 The proposed building does not conform to the 2010 Building Regulations, 

 There is no vehicular access what about Fire Engines, Deliveries and bin collection 

 The application states this is an environmentally friendly design however it gives no 
evidence beyond stating it will comply with building regulations, which is a legal 
requirement rather than an ambition, and some vague suggestions 

 How would the construction take place, would Cross Lane be closed? 

 The build itself will also cause disruption in terms of noise and dust 

 The use of heavy machinery along Cross Lane during construction may cause 
subsidence into our garden 

 If permission was granted for this building it would set a precedent as there are other 
neighbouring gardens which also have rear access and possible building space. 

 The design and access statement indicates that there have been informal 
discussions with the planning department about this application - to the extent that 
the plan is described as being designed 'in conjunction with Swale Borough Council's 
planning and conservation department'. I would like to understand, in the spirit of 
transparency, to what extent this plan has been preapproved or socialised to decision 
makers already? 

 The planning application states that there are no trees or shrubs on the site or 
adjoining it, which is incorrect 
 

6.02 The Faversham Society commented that the application should be refused as there is 
no precedent within the gardens of South Road for back land development of 
residential units. Also that the house will be out of character with the appearance of 
Cross Lane and the proposal would result in significant harm to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 
6.03 Faversham Pools commented that they have operated for over 50 years and provided 

pleasure for more than 200,000 visitors during the summer months. They acknowledge 
that on the busy days noise from visitors to the pools can be heard by residents in the 
surrounding properties more than 50m away. This application is only 1.5m from the 
boundary wall. They raised concern that Cross Lane could possibly be closed due to 
the construction. Furthermore the pool has 6 staff parking bays adjacent to Cross Lane 
which would not be available to contractors’ vehicles. They also state the safeguarding 
policy would have to be reviewed as the application would closely overlook the 
bathers.  

 
7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
7.01  Faversham Town Council originally discussed the proposal on 15 December and 

recommended no objection, subject to full protection being given to the existing 
brick walls bounding Cross Lane. They then reconsidered the proposal at their 8

 

February meeting and offered no comment pending receipt of further information 
 

Page 224



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

224 
 

7.02  Kent Highway Services commented that the development proposal does not meet the 
criteria to warrant involvement from the Highway Authority in accordance with the 
current consultation protocol arrangements. 

 
7.03  Kent Fire & Rescue Services comment that access to the site for them, is inadequate. 

Consideration has also been given to on site access as required by Building 
Regulations Approved Document B and British Standard 9991.  
In particular they comment:  
1.  The width of the access to the site is inadequate; a minimum of 3.7m is required 

as defined in the above guidance.  

2.  The access to the dwelling is over 45m from the parking place for a fire 
appliance; the variation detailed in British Standard 9991 can be applied to 
extend this distance to 90m by the installation of domestic sprinkler system in the 
dwelling.  

 
8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
8.01 Application papers, plans and correspondence fro application 15/509814/FULL 
 
9.0 APPRAISAL 

 
9.01 The site is located within the built up area boundary of Faversham and as such the 

principle of an additional dwelling here is acceptable. However what needs to be 
assessed is whether the proposal “preserves or enhances the conservation area” 
and also the impact on the amenity of local residents and the occupiers of the 
proposed new dwelling of its location.  

 
9.02 The application site is located within the Faversham conservation area, and an 

assessment of the character of the area is critical in understanding the impact of the 
proposed dwelling. 

 
9.03 The adopted Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2004) describes the area 

consisting of Cross Lane and the Central Car Park as follows: 
 

‘8.20. Cross Lane, running parallel with Stone Street, is a well-used footpath linking 
the town centre with the residential areas to the west. Rather broad at its western 
end it passes between brick-built garden walls, then close to Bank Street it is fronted 
by a run of C19 houses. Near to Preston Street, however, it squeezes alley-like 
between brick walls and old timber-framed buildings. The main town centre car park, 
established in 1952, is rather uncompromisingly juxtaposed with the outstanding 
historic environments of Preston Street, Market Place and West Street. It also 
provides the means of rear servicing to many town centre properties; in a number of 
instances the rear boundaries and yards abutting the car park are rather unattractive 
in appearance. Leslie Smith Drive, the service road at the back of West Street, has 
foreshortened the original property curtilages. The substantial bulk of the swimming 
pool, built, in the 1980s, marks the western edge of the car park, and the small Arden 
theatre building stands alongside’. 

 
9.04 In the western half of Cross Lane (which runs between South Road to the west and 

the central car park to the east) leaving aside the bulk of the large modern buildings 
containing the Swimming Pool, Arden Theatre and Health Centre, the distinct 
impression one gains is of an attractive area of rear gardens positioned either side of 
the largely C19 brick walls bounding each side of the lane.  Individual pedestrian gate 

Page 225



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

225 
 

entrances punctuate the walls and the only notable vertical intrusions into this leafy 
green area come in the form of trees punctuating the skyline in places.  

 
9.05 There are a number of buildings located within this area characterised by walls, trees 

and shrubs and with the backdrop of the rear elevation of Victorian townhouses on 
South Road and Stone Street, but as these are either single storey in form and/or 
very modest in scale. 

 
9.06 The proposed building is to have a two storey element to an eaves height of 4.4m   

and a roof ridge height of 7.2m. This is very different in character and appearance to 
the existing buildings in the locality which do not intrude into the tranquil leafy scene 
in the same way that I suggest the proposed development would, to the detriment of 
the current attractive and established character and appearance of the area. 

 
9.07 In the context of para 132 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) it 

states that “great weight should be given to the assets conservation” and the 
intrusion of a two storey development contrary to the Conservation Area character 
does not fulfil this aim. 

 
9.08 New development can enhance a conservation area, and conservation areas are 

designated not to prevent any new development taking place, but to help ensure that 
where development does take place, it is sensitive to the special character of the 
area and of a high standard of design.   

 
9.09 The part of the conservation area in question is not however weak/deficient in 

character or in particular need of enhancement through sensitively managed change.  
In this context, whilst I would suggest that the design of the proposed development is 
not poor per se in terms of its architectural form and/or detailing, it is however very 
much out of context for its immediate environment.  

 
9.10  The shock of the new is of course a factor that often comes into play in the 

perception of new development, but I consider that a development of this nature at 
this location is never even likely to ‘blend in’ after a period of time, as it is an area 
simply not suitable for two storey residential development. 

 
9.11 I would also be concerned that despite all applications being determined on their 

individual merits the approval here could lead to pressure for other submissions. Just 
one dwelling/two storey building of this scale would be harmful enough to the 
established character of the area by representing an alien intrusion into it, but further 
piecemeal/incremental development of a similar nature would in my view give rise to 
very significant harm. 

 
9.12 In the context of paragraph 134 of the National Planning Policy Framework, there are 

no specific public benefits associated with the proposed scheme to weigh against the 
Council’s statutory duty (set out in Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act, 1990) that ‘special attention shall be paid in the exercise of 
planning functions to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the conservation area’.  

 
9.13 Certainly the site would provide one unit to help the Council meet its defined housing 

target, but there are plenty of other sites that can also provide this function without 
giving rise to harm to such a designated heritage asset.  

 
9.14 There has been considerable public interest and comment on this application and I 

have considered all the comments in coming to my recommendation.  

Page 226



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

226 
 

 
9.15 I would however address a number of pertinent issues, Firstly the development’s 

siting next to a well-used and much valued public facility of Faversham Pools. The 
building is to be located approx. 1.5m from the boundary wall and as such will be 
very close to the outside pool and grassed area and as it is acknowledged that this 
area does give rise to significant noise disturbance I would be concerned as to the 
impact on the residents of the proposed dwelling of this noise during the summer 
months when the area is heavily used and the outside space of the property would 
be in use. However, incoming residents will be aware of this when deciding to occupy 
the property and the noise is for only a limited part of the year, over defined opening 
hours. 

 
9.16 Furthermore the outlook in this direction from the pool area is characterised by the 

existing trees along the boundary and the rear of the houses of South Road and 
Stone Street being some distance away. The siting of the proposed property at 
approx. 1.5m from the boundary is likely to be imposing and overbearing to a 
substantial degree. Its impact would be exacerbated were it to result in the 
shadowing of the pool site.  

 
9.17 Considering the amenity of the residents of South Road or Stone Street the proposed 

dwelling would be approx. 40m from the rear of the properties and as such whilst I 
appreciate their view would be altered the proposal would not result in overlooking or 
loss of privacy to a degree likely to warrant grounds for refusal.  

 
9.18 The proposal will not have any vehicular access and provides a garage in Tanner 

Street, due to the sites town centre location close to all transport, services and 
facilities I find this would not be an obstacle to development. 

 
9.19 There have been protracted discussions with the applicant and their architect 

regarding the proposal. Whilst I note the comments in the submission the  
interpretation of some of the informal advice does appear to have been promoted to 
a level beyond that which was given by officers. The Council offers pre application 
advice and as in this case, advice was given between 2013 and 2015 that whilst 
accepting the principle of development here officers rejected the design and scale of 
many of the proposals.   

 
9.20 It is also not unusual, nor necessarily an indication of support, following lengthy 

revisions that it is recommended by Officers that a planning application be made. 
This is so it can go through the formal process of determination with all the necessary 
details and supporting documentation provided together. 

 
10.0 CONCLUSION 
 
10.01 This is a proposal for a single house in the rear garden of 19 South Road, as the site 

is located in Faversham conservation area the impact of the proposal needs to be 
carefully considered. The formal determination of the application required the full 
details of the scheme and for it to be considered in the context of the immediate 
vicinity. The two storey element of the proposal is an intrusion contrary to the 
conservation area character of the vicinity and does not fulfil the aim of preserving 
the character of the area and thus the heritage asset. The design is also out of 
context for its immediate environment and is unlikely over time to “fit in” with the area.    

 

Page 227



 
Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 ITEM 3.1 

227 
 

11.0 RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
11.01 By reason of its siting and scale, and in particular its height, the proposed 

development would read as an alien and intrusive form of development in an 
attractive part of the Faversham conservation area characterised by established rear 
gardens located either side of Cross Lane, where the only notable vertical intrusions 
into this leafy green area come in the form of trees punctuating the skyline in places. 
The proposed development would therefore fail to preserve or enhance the character 
or appearance of the Faversham conservation area at the location in question 
contrary to Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 (saved) Polices E1, E19 and H2   
Bearing Fruits 2031: Swale Borough Local Plan (Publication Version Dec 2014) 
Policies DM14, DM33 and CP8 

 
The Council's approach to this application: 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 
Offering pre-application advice. 
Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome. 
As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 
their application. 
 
In this instance the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application:  
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 

Page 228



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 PART 5 

 

228 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 March 2016 PART 5 
 
Report of the Head of Planning 
 
PART 5 
 
Decisions by County Council and Secretary of State, reported for information 
  
 

 Item 5.1 – 24 Admirals Walk, Minster 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED 
 
Observations 
 
DELEGATED REFUSAL:  

 
 Full support for the Council’s decision. 
 

 Item 5.2 – 11 Range Road, Eastchurch 
 

APPEAL ALLOWED 
 
Observations 

 
DELEGATED REFUSAL: 
 
A disappointing decision, but one that provides clear direction that the 
Council’s five-year housing supply shortfall must be afforded great weight 
towards approving residential development in the countryside. 

 

 Item 5.3 – Howt Green Farm, Sheppey Way, Bobbing 
 

APPEAL ALLOWED PLUS COSTS AWARDED AGAINST THE COUNCIL 
 
Observations 

 
AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: 
 
A decision that fully endorses the appellant’s case against the refusal of 
planning permission. 

 

 Item 5.4 – Moth’s Field, Denstroude Lane, Dunkirk 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED 
 
Observations 

 
DELEGATED REFUSAL: 
 
Full support for the Council’s decision. 

Page 229



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 PART 5 

 

229 
 

 

 Item 5.5 – The Ponderosa, 48 Keycol Hill, Bobbing 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED 
 
Observations 

 
DELEGATED REFUSAL: 
 

 Full support for the Council’s decision. 
 

 Item 5.6 – Land at Cedar Lodge, Whybornes Chase, Minster 
SW/14/0516  APPEAL DISMISSED 
14/506851  APPEAL ALLOWED 

 
 
Observations 

 
COMMITTEE REFUSALS AGAINST OFFICERS’ RECOMMENDATION 
 
Clear decisions in which the Inspector supported Member’s view that semi-
detached dwellings would be out of character with the area; but however that 
a single detached dwelling would cause no harm to local amenity. 

 

 Item 5.7 – The Old Bindery, Butcher’s Field, Throwley 
 

APPEAL ALLOWED 
 
Observations 

 
APPEAL AGAINST CONDITION OF DELEGATED DECISION: 
 
This site now has a very complex planning history. Despite the Inspector 
making it quite clear that the Council’s decision to grant a very carefully 
worded permission was entirely consistent with that of three previous 
Inspectors, and a permission which he has essentially supported; he has 
removed the requirement to re-position the largest caravan on the site, which 
was one of the main controls on the permission that a previous Inspector felt 
necessary to enable the previous temporary permission to be granted. In fact, 
he has removed any controls over where caravans can be parked, which is 
very disappointing given the very obvious sensitivity of the site. 

 

 Item 5.8 – 2 Greenacres, Holywell Lane, Upchurch 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED 
 
Observations 

 
ENFORCEMENT APPEAL: 
 

 A good decision, and full support for the Council. 

Page 230



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016 PART 5 

 

230 
 

 

 Item 5.9 – Land at Vicarage Lane, Ospringe 
 

APPEAL DISMISSED 
 
Observations 

 
ENFORCEMENT APPEAL: 

 
Very clear support for the Council’s action, with the Inspector making only 
minor changes to the enforcement notice despite the appellant appealing on 
numerous grounds. 

 
 

 

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.1 

231 
 

 

  

Page 233



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.1 

232 
 

 

Page 234



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.2 

233 
 

 

  

Page 235



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.2 

234 
 

 

  

Page 236



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.2 

235 
 

 

  

Page 237



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.2 

236 
 

 

 

Page 238



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

237 
 

 

  

Page 239



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

238 
 

 

  

Page 240



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

239 
 

  

 

  

Page 241



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

240 
 

 

  

Page 242



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

241 
 

 

  

Page 243



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

242 
 

 

  

Page 244



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.3 

243 
 

 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.4 

244 
 

 

  

Page 247



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.4 

245 
 

 

  

Page 248



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.4 

246 
 

 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.5 

247 
 

 

  

Page 251



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.5 

248 
 

 

  

Page 252



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.5 

249 
 

 

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.6 

250 
 

 
  

Page 255



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.6 

251 
 

 
  

Page 256



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.6 

252 
 

 
  

Page 257



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.6 

253 
 

 

Page 258



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

254 
 

 

  

Page 259



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

255 
 

 

  

Page 260



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

256 
 

 

  

Page 261



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

257 
 

 

  

Page 262



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

258 
 

 

  

Page 263



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

259 
 

 

Page 264



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

260 
 

 
  

Page 265



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

261 
 

 
  

Page 266



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

262 
 

 
  

Page 267



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

263 
 

 
  

Page 268



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

264 
 

 
  

Page 269



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.7 

265 
 

 

Page 270



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.8 

266 
 

 

  

Page 271



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.8 

267 
 

 

Page 272



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

268 
 

 

  

Page 273



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

269 
 

 

  

Page 274



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

270 
 

 

  

Page 275



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

271 
 

 

  

Page 276



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

272 
 

 

  

Page 277



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

273 
 

 

 

Page 278



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

274 
 

  

Page 279



Planning Committee Report – 10 March 2016   ITEM 5.9 

275 
 

 

Page 280



Document is Restricted

Page 281

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 283

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Deferred Items
	Index no part 6
	Deferred Item 1
	Deferred Item 2

	7 Report of the Head of Planning
	2.1
	2.2
	2.3
	2.4
	2.5
	2.6
	2.7
	2.8
	3.1
	Part 5 Index
	5.1
	5.2
	5.3
	5.4
	5.5
	5.6
	5.7
	5.8
	5.9

	9 Report of the Head of Planning
	6.2


